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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

This Annual Report (including the following secticegarding Management’s Discussion and Analysiiméncial Condition and Results
of Operations) contains forward-looking statemeatgrding our business, financial condition, resaftoperations and prospects. Words such
as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” élieves,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar expressi or variations of such words are intended
to identify forward-looking statements, but are tia exclusive means of identifying forward-lookistgatements in this Annual Report.
Additionally, statements concerning future mattarsluding statements regarding our business, ioantial position, the research and
development of our products and other statemegerdéng matters that are not historical are forwlaoking statements.

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&adport reflect the good faith judgment of our mamagnt, such statements can only
be based on facts and factors currently known by ossequently, forward-looking statements arernaity subject to risks and uncertainties
and actual results and outcomes may differ matgffidm the results and outcomes discussed in ticipated by the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribuigach differences in results and outcomes inclitieout limitation those discussed under
the heading “Risk Factors” below, as well as thdiseussed elsewhere in this Annual Report. Reaterarged not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which speak aslgf the date of this Annual Report. We undertakebligation to revise or update any
forwarddooking statements in order to reflect any everticmumstance that may arise after the date ofAhisual Report. Readers are urge:
carefully review and consider the various disclesunade in this Annual Report, which attempt taselinterested parties of the risks and
factors that may affect our business, financialdition, results of operations and prospects.

Overview

We are engaged in the development of a new gearrativaccines, called synthetic vaccines, focusedancers and infectious diseases.
Our SynCorp technology enables the design of “usaiéwaccines capable of providing crge®tection against existing or changing strair
pathogens such as influenza and HIV. Our electetjr delivery technology uses brief, controlledotlical pulses to increase cellular uptake
of the vaccine. Initial human data has shown theshmd can safely and significantly increase gemeession and immune responses. Our
clinical programs include cervical dysplasia (thenatic), avian influenza (preventive), prostateceair{therapeutic), leukemia (therapeutic),
hepatitis C virus (“HCV”) and human immunodeficigndgrus (“HIV”) vaccines. We are advancing prectial research and clinical
development for a universal seasonal/pandemicénfta vaccine, as well as preclinical work for ogveducts including malaria and prostate
cancer vaccines. Our partners and collaboratotsdedJniversity of Pennsylvania, Drexel UniversiNational Microbiology Laboratory of tt
Public Health Agency of Canada, Program for AppiettprTechnology in Health/Malaria Vaccine Initiai¢'PATH/“MVI"), National Institute
of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (“NIAID"), MerckChronTech, University of Southampton, United &atlilitary HIV Research Program
(“USMHRP"), U.S. Army Medical Research Institutelofectious Diseases (“USAMRIID") and HIV Vaccin&sial Network (“HVTN").

Industry Background
Historical Importance of Vaccines

We believe vaccines have saved more lives and ptedenore human suffering than any other humamitnwe. As recently as a century
ago, infectious diseases were the main cause df dealdwide, even in the most developed countrleslay, there is a vast range of vaccines
available to protect against more than two dozéectious diseases, especially for children. Ouietgpdas found that the only way to control
or even eliminate infectious diseases is consistedespread use of vaccines. For most of the Zagears the vaccine industry was dominated
by a few large pharmaceutical companies. In regeats improved vaccine policies, access, pricirdytanohnology have helped turn the vac
market into a growth business.
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Challenges Facing Vaccines

Despite the advances made to quality of life assalt of the development and use of vaccines dnepast century, several significant
challenges continue to exist. The technical linotag of conventional vaccine technology have caiirséd the development of new vaccines
other diseases. Development of vaccines basedrentional technology requires significant infrasture in research and manufacturing,
can be time consuming. Safety risks associated aittventional vaccine approaches may offset ttaimgial benefits, as the conventional
vaccines we have depended upon employ live or weskeiruses or different parts of a virus as vaesirfrurther, conventional vaccines are
still grown in eggs or cells and harvested overksesf time with a very inefficient manufacturingogess.

In addition, it is important to note a changing dgmic in the broader vaccine marketplace. Traditlpneaccines have been
predominantly focused on the pediatric market,ridesl to protect children from diseases that coaidse them serious harm. Today, there is a
growing interest in vaccines against diseasesniagtaffect adolescents and adults, which includh bexually transmitted diseases and
infections that strike opportunistically, such asidg pregnancy, in immuno-compromised individualsd in the geriatric population.
Furthermore, there is encouraging data from anaioggdevelopment of immunotherapies against cancers

Inovio’s Solution

With our synthetic vaccine platform comprising @ynCon® vaccine design process and proprietaryrefemtation delivery technology,
we have developed a preclinical and clinical staigeline of vaccines that we believe has the pakta be safer than traditional vaccines (our
synthetic vaccines are non-live and, non-replicattherefore they cannot cause the disease), ltpreadent or stronger immune-stimulating
power than traditional vaccines (live viruses beangong the best approaches for developing stronguime responses), are showing the
potential to be used against diseases for whickemtional vaccine technology cannot be applied, s added advantages with respect to
development time and cost. Preclinical studiesimals have demonstrated the safety and poteritiehey of our approach.

The Next Generation of Vaccines: Synthetic Vaccines

Our synthetic vaccines are designed to preverseade (prophylactic vaccines) or treat an existisgase (therapeutic vaccines). Our
synthetic vaccine consists of a DNA plasmid encgdirselected antigen(s) that is introduced intts @élhumans or animals with the purpose
of evoking an immune response to the encoded antigBormation encoded in the DNA plasmid diretts tells to produce the intended
antigenic proteins that may then trigger the immsystem to mount one or both of two responsesptbeuction of antibodies, known as a
humoral immune response, and/or the activation-oé&lls, known as a cellular or cell-mediated immuegponse. These responses may then
neutralize or eliminate infectious agents (e.gus&s, bacteria, and other microorganisms) or absaretls (e.g. malignant tumor cells).
Synthetic vaccines have several advantages owdtidrzal vaccines in that they are non-pathogemegning they cannot cause the disease),
may be effective against diseases which cannobbtatled by traditional vaccines, and are reldsiiast, easy and inexpensive to design and
produce. Synthetic vaccines are stable under noematonmental conditions for extended periodsragt Another potentially major advante
of synthetic vaccines is their relatively short elepment cycle. For example, synthetic vaccinesnagaewly identified viral agents may be
developed within weeks or months, as opposed tgehes often required to develop a traditional waecandidate. In the area of cancer,
synthetic vaccines use a portion of the genetieadd cancer antigen to cause a host to prodwteips of the antigen that may induce an
immune response.

Inovio’s SynCor® Vaccines

Our synthetic vaccines are designed to generatsfigp@ntibody and/or T-cell responses. Our Syn@eechnology provides processes
that employ bioinformatics, which combine extengjemetic data and sophisticated algorithms. Ougdgsocess uses the genetic make-up of
a common antigen(s) from multiple
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strains of a virus within a viral sub-type or taramic group (family) of pathogens such as HIV, H&UYman papillomavirus (“HPV”),
influenza and other diseases to synthetically eraatew antigen for the desired pathogen targetlthess not exist in nature. This unmatched
antigen has been shown to nevertheless induce arpgwmmune response in humans against that antjgeviding protection not only
against individual strains of the same sub-typéweae used to develop this synthetic antigen d@iso provide protection against newly
emergent strains not used in designing the vac@imes, the SynCof technology allows us to developversal” vaccines for the target
pathogen. These SynCén synthetic vaccine constmaysprovide a solution to the genetic “shift” didift” that is typical of infectious
diseases. SynCon immunogens are able to elicilbrbaerse immune responses, which in theory apitant to protect against variable
pathogens such as influenza, dengue, HCV and HIV.

More technically speaking, SynCén vaccine antiggesdesigned by aligning numerous primary sequesrtgéshoosing DNA-based
triplets for the most common or important aminadeati each site. These antigens are further optthfizecodon usage, improved mRNA
stability, and enhanced leader sequences for nhedoading. The DNA inserts are therefore optimiaethe genetic level to give them high
expression capability in human cells.

We believe these design capabilities allow us ttebéarget appropriate immune system mechanismipeoduce a higher level of the
coded antigen to enhance the overall ability ofgyrthetic vaccine to induce the desired immunpaese.

Pre-clinical studies have shown that immunizatibmie and non-human primates using Syn€on symtheticine constructs elicited
an immune response against multiple, unmatchethstvathin different sub-types of HIV, HCV, HPV, dgue, prostate cancer and influenza
viruses. Vaccine candidates for all these disease=being advanced through preclinical and clinstadlies. Inovio has also reported
(November 2011) that its SynCén vaccine for HSNiuenza generated HAI titers against six unmatcteains of HSN1.

Electroporation Delivery Technology

Our synthetic vaccine candidates are being deld/er® cells of the body using our highly efficieptoprietary electroporation (EP)
DNA delivery technology, which uses brief, locadlpplied electric fields to create temporary ancersible permeability, or pores, in the cell
membrane. Most drugs and biologics must enteraraell through a cell membrane in order to perfarair intended function. However,
gaining entry into a cell through the outer cellmiane can be a significant challenge. Electris@imduced permeabilization of the cellular
membrane, generally referred to as electroporakias the observable effect that there is a lessates! exchange of molecules between the
exterior and interior—the benefit being that ibalk and enhances the uptake of, for example, dbropaceutical agent previously injected
into local tissue. The extent of membrane permeaibn depends upon various electrical, physidagmical, and biological parameters.

The transient, reversible nature of this electrmaimeabilization of membranes is the underlyingidaf our electroporation systems,
which are designed to harness this phenomenonliwedeg controlled electrical pulses into tissoefacilitate the uptake of useful
biopharmaceuticals. Alternative delivery approadb&sed on the use of viruses and lipids are comgexexpensive, and have in the past
created concerns regarding safety and caused uedveBnimune responses against themselves (believaairtpromise their ability to provide
protection). We believe electroporation provideslatively straightforward, cost effective methad flelivering DNA into cells with high
efficiency and minimal complications (as comparedital vectors) and, importantly, enabling clirlgaelevant levels of gene expression.
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Products and Product Development

Independently and together with our licensees afidlorators, we are currently developing a nundfesynthetic vaccines for the
prevention or treatment of cancer and chronic tides diseases. The table below summarizes progress independent, collaborative and
out-licensed product development programs as oébéer 31, 2011.

Inovio Synthetic Vaccine Development

Pre-Clinical
Studies Development Status
Product Target and In In Development
Product Area Indication(s) Vitro Vivo Phase Phasell Phaselll Phase IV Lead
Cancer hTERT-expressing cance X X P Merck
Chronic and acute myeloid leukemia X X X IP Univ. of Southampton
(CML/AML)
Cervical dysplasia (CIN 2/3) X X P IP Inovio
(VGX-3100)
Prostate cancer X X Inovio
(INO-5150)
Infectious Disease Avian influenza X X IP Inovio
(VGX-3400x)
Universal influenza X X IP Inovio
(INO-3510)
HCV X X X P ChronTect
HCV X X Inovio/UPENN/Drexe
HIV (preventive) X X X HVTN
(PENNVAX ™ -B)(1)
HIV (preventive) X X X HVTN
(PENNVAX ™ -B)
HIV (therapeutic) (PENNVAX™ -B) X X P UPENN
HIV (preventive) X X P US MHRP
(PENNVAX ™ -G)
HIV (preventive) X P NIH/NIAID
(PENNVAX ™ -GP)
Biodefense targe! X X USAMRIID
Unspecified target X P Inovio

X = Completec
IP =In Progres:
(1) = Without electroporatio

Cancer Synthetic Vaccines

Cancer vaccines are medicines that belong to a ofesubstances known as biological response neoslifBiological response modifiers
work by stimulating or restoring the immune system@bility to fight infections and disease. There @avo broad types of cancer vaccines:

» Preventive (orprophylactic) vaccines, which are intended to prevent cancer from devetpm healthy people; ar

» Treatment (or therapeutic) vaccines, which are intended to treat an existing cancesttyngthening the body’s natural defenses
against the cance

Two types of cancer preventive vaccines are aveilabthe United States, and one cancer treatmatine has recently become
available. The United States Food and Drug Admiaiigtn (the “FDA”) has approved two vaccines, Gaildaand CervariX® that protect
against infection by the two types of HPV—types
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16 and 18-that cause approximately 70 percent of all casegfical cancer worldwide. At least 17 other typ&siPV are responsible for tl
remaining 30 percent of cervical cancer cases. Bp¥s 16 and/or 18 also cause some vaginal, vidveal, penile, and oropharyngeal cancers.

In addition, Gardasi? protects against infectiontlvg additional HPV types, 6 and 11, which are oesible for about 90 percent of all
cases of genital warts in males and females buibdcause cervical cancer.

Cervarix® , manufactured by GlaxoSmithKline, is casgd of virus-like particles (VLPs) made with piogefrom HPV types 16 and 18.
Cervarix® is approved for use in females ages Ebtfor the prevention of cervical cancer causetiBY types 16 and 18.

Gardasil® , manufactured by Merck, is approved & in females for the prevention of cervical capaad some vulvar and vaginal
cancers, caused by HPV types 16 and 18 and fanusales and females for the prevention of genveaits caused by HPV types 6 and 11.
vaccine is approved for these uses in females aidsnages 9 to 26.

The FDA has also approved a cancer preventive nadbiat protects against hepatitis B virus (HBMgation. Chronic HBV infection
can lead to liver cancer. The original HBV vaccives approved in 1981, making it the first cancewpntive vaccine to be successfully
developed and marketed. Today, most children irUthieed States are vaccinated against HBV shofter &irth.

In April 2010, the FDA approved the first canceratment vaccine. This vaccine, sipuleucel-T (Prgeé@n, manufactured by United
States based Dendreon), is approved for use in stenewith metastatic prostate cancer. It is desigoestimulate an immune response to
prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), an antigen presemost prostate cancers. In a clinical trigguucel-T increased the survival of men with
a certain type of metastatic prostate cancer bytaboonths. Thanks to the success of Provéngee detielopment of immune cell-based
cancer treatments is expected to gain momentum.

Therapeutic Cervical Cancer Vaccine—VGX-3100

HPV is the causative agent responsible for cendaater. At any given time, approximately 10% ohvem worldwide are infected with
HPV. While roughly 70% of HPV infections are cledugy the body on its own, persistent HPV can |eadlysplasia, or premalignant changes
in cells, of the cervix. Researchers have estimtitedjlobal prevalence of clinically pre-cancerbl®V infections at between 28 and 40
million. These HPV infections may lead to pre-ma#igt cervical dysplasia; persistent dysplasias thewy progress to cancer. Every year,
470,000 cases of cervical cancer are diagnosediwinl®, and about half of the afflicted women, priityain developing countries, die.

Preventive vaccines such as Gardasil and Cer®ari playing an important role in limiting new HP\féctions. However, preventive
vaccines cannot provide protection for those alyaafécted with HPV, which is a large population.dddition, not all girls and women eligil
to be vaccinated are receiving these vaccines.elisero viable therapeutic vaccine or drug to fightv, nor dysplasias and cancers caused by
HPV. Current ablative or surgical procedures toaeencervical dysplasias and cancers are unappedli@go the potential psychological stress
arising from the “watch-andsit period that proceeds earlier dysplasia angttential for disfigurement and negative impactshildbirthing

HPV types 16 and 18 are responsible for about 7Déemvical cancer incidence. Inovio’s VGX-3100 issigned to raise immune
responses against the E6 and E7 genes of HPV pasd 18 that are present in both pre-canceralisamcerous cells transformed by these
HPV types. E6 and E7 are oncogenes that play agraitrole in transforming HPV-infected cells imt@ancerous cells. The goal of the vaccine
is to stimulate the body’s immune system to moufitcell response strong enough to cause the rejeofithe E6/E7 infected or transformed
cells from the body. The potential of such a vaecirould be to treat cervical cancers as well ascpreerous dysplasias (CINs), caused by
these HPV types.
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We completed the Phase | study of our therapeatidg@al cancer vaccine (VGX-3100) in 2010. In Segter 2010, we presented tbpe
data showing achievement of best-in-class immusgareses in this dose escalation study. All doseggadeveloped significant antibody and
T-cell immune responses. More notably, in the thind final dose group, five of six (83%) patienéweloped unprecedented T-cell responses
not achieved by any other non-replicating vaccilagfgrm in humans. Preliminary data from the tiradicated:

» Antiger-specific, dos-related "-cell responses across the three dose groups, avgE@62 SFU per million cells in the high dc
group responder:

» Strong antige-specific antibody responses in all three dose gt

* VGX-3100 delivered using Inov's proprietary CELLECTR/® intramuscular electroporation delivery device wasegally safe
and well tolerated at all dose levels; ¢

* There were no vaccinelated serious adverse events. Reported adveesgéseand injection site reactions were mild to rmatkean
required no treatmer

This dose escalation study tested the safety anmtliimgenicity of VGX-3100 in women previously trehfer moderate or severe
cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN 2/3), alihigrade premalignant lesion that may lead to cahviancer. The trial enrolled patients in three
cohorts of six subjects each with synthetic vacdoges of 0.6 mg (0.3 mg each of two DNA plasmid€),mg, and 6.0 mg. Each subject
received the respective dose at day 0, month Ireordh 3. All subjects in the first and second dgsips have completed the nine-month
follow-up period. Immunological analyses of bloahples collected before and after vaccination ea@i¢hat antigen-specific immune
responses were induced against the target prqiedasiced by Inovio’s vaccine. Using a validatedndiard ELISPOT assay, antigen-specific
cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL, or killer T-cell) respses were observed against all four antigens fH&& proteins for HPV types 16 and 18).
In the third cohort, five of six vaccinated subge(33%) developed significant CTL responses, wittrage responses of 1362 SFU per million
cells after three immunizations. This was a 118étdase compared to the intermediate dose cohadgeef 626 SFU per million cells (four
responders out of six) and a 174% increase comparnde low dose cohort average of 497 SFU peiianiltells (four responders out of six).

Antibody responses to E6 and E7 antigens wereraésasured. Specific antibody responses to tumogemi can function as an importi
surrogate potency marker for determining the imngemicity of a vaccine, i.e. the ability of a vaceio induce an immune response.
Antibodies were generated against all four antigaagested by the enzyme-linked immunosorbenyd&4dSA). In the third cohort, antibody
responses were observed in five of six subject%§83

Overall, in all three dose cohorts combined, 14afit8 vaccinated subjects (78%) developed sigmificCTL responses, with positive
responses ranging from under 100 to over 5000 S#Unillion cells. Fifteen out of 18 vaccinated sdif (83%) developed antibody respor
to at least one antigen with most subjects devetppésponses to two or more antigens.

While the study targeted only safety and immunogjgnas endpoints and did not address clinicataffy, several literature reports
support the hypothesis that induction of tumorgamispecific T-cell responses is important in aahifrg cancer. Furthermore, there are
examples of other cancer vaccine candidates tagytie E6 and/or E7 proteins achieving significdimical efficacy in patients with cervical
or vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia, yet the CTkspenses achieved in such studies were lower tleae thbserved in the current VGX-3100
study.

In July 2011, we reported data demonstrating langitdurability of T cell immune responses of upter two years (at the latest time
measured) in 7 of 8 evaluated patients followirdguath vaccination of VGX-3100.

In March 2011, we initiated a randomized, doubledPhase Il study of VGX-3100 delivered using @HLLECTRA® intramuscular
electroporation device in women with HPV Type 16l8rand diagnosed with, but not yet treated fanical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN)
2/3. The study is designed to enroll 148 subjects.
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Vaccine recipients will receive VGX-3100 at a 6 dage via CELLECTRA& in vivo electroporation devider@nths 0, 1, and 3. Patients in
the control group will not receive the therapyalidition to safety, the study will also assess podconcept efficacy by measuring regression
of cervical lesions in the vaccinated versus cdrstubjects. Vaccine induced immunological respongéisalso be measured in this clinical
study (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT01304524).

Therapeutic Prostate Cancer Vaccine—INO-5150

The development of a new treatment for prostateerawould be a significant medical advance givext itresent treatment options
(surgery, radiation and hormone deprivation), whidenewhat effective, all carry deleterious side&¥ and often do not confer loteym cure
Across the United States, there were 218,000 neascaf prostate cancer and more than 32,000 dea204.0.

We previously collaborated with the UK’s Universaf Southampton and Institute of Cancer Researehsitudy evaluating a DNBasec
vaccine for prostate cancer delivered using ourtedporation delivery technology. The publishedadadm this Phase /11 study of a DNA-
based vaccine encoding for human PSMA generateaf-pfeconcept levels of both antibody and T-celhinmne responses in the 30 patients
vaccinated in this study.

In January 2011, we announced the publicationsaientific paper in the journddluman Vaccinedetailing potent immune responses in a
preclinical study of our SynCdon vaccine for prosteancer targeting two antigens, prostate speaifigen (“PSA”) and prostate specific
membrane antigen (“PSMA”). While current prostadecer therapies target single antigens, in thidysive tested the hypothesis in mice that a
broader collection of antigens, administered witbvio’s electroporation- delivery technology, woinaprove the breadth and effectiveness of
a prostate cancer therapeutic vaccine.

This study, conducted by our scientists and coliatoos, is described in the published paper edtiti€o-delivery of PSA and PSMA
DNA vaccines with electroporation induces potentinme responses.” The SynCobn vaccine evaluatedsiistildy was generated by the
creation of PSA and PSMA synthetic consensus immens based on human and macaque sequences, waldadethe amino acid sequences
of the antigens to differ slightly from the natipeotein. In humans, this difference may aid in¢kasion of self-tolerance while still mounting
an anti-tumor immune response. Mice received twmuimizations of highly optimized vaccine delivergddbectroporation. Immunogenicity
was evaluated one week after the second vaccindttenresultant data showed the induction of sti®8é and PSMA-specific cellular
immune responses and also significant antigen §pseroconversion, illustrating that both humaaatl cellular immune responses can be
generated by this approach.

In this pre-clinical study of the first SynCén vateagainst a cancer target, this dual-antigen inotherapy generated strong antibody
and T-cell immune responses. Taken together wétptkvious preclinical and clinical data, the cotqgublished results support the
advancement of this product into a Phase | clirstadly. We are now advancing this program towarasEH.

Southampton Collaboration: Leukemia

Leukemia is a malignant disease (cancer) of the Imoarrow and blood characterized by the uncontt@cumulation of blood cells.
Leukemia accounts for at least 300,000 new cas#222,000 deaths worldwide each year. This higb iftdeaths-to-cases (74%) reflects the
poor prognosis of leukemia in many parts of thel&yoxhere the somewhat complex treatment regimesar available. Approximately 45,0
new cases of leukemia were diagnosed in 2008 iv8ewith 20,000 deaths. This represents 3% afaiters in the United States, and 30.4%
of all blood cancers. It is estimated that appratety $3 billion is spent in the United States epehr to treat leukemia.
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There are five types of leukemia based on rateevékbpment and types of blood cells affected. Tihese are being evaluated in the
present study: 1) Acute myeloid leukemia (AML),ancer of the myeloid line of blood cells, is chagsized by rapid growth of abnormal wt
blood cells that accumulate in the bone marrowiatedfere with the production of normal blood cedVL is the most common acute
leukemia affecting adults and its incidence incesasith age. Only about one-third of those betwages 18-60 who are diagnosed with AML
can be cured. With conventional chemotherapy 70%epatients in the group under study will relag#thin 2 years and current therapy is
devastating in older adults.

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is a type of cantsait causes the body to produce large numbersrofinre and mature white blood
cells (myelocytes). Approximately 85% of patientstWCML are in the chronic phase at the time ofydiesis. Ultimately, in the absence of
curative treatment, the disease progresses tocateaated phase where median survival is aroungé&afs. Chronic myeloid leukemia can
occur at any age, but it more commonly affects heiddjed and older people.

In January 2011, we announced the regulatory appadia Phase Il clinical trial (WIN Trial) to trekeukemia utilizing our new ELGEN
1000 automated vaccine delivery device. This opdell multi-center clinical trial being run by tbaiversity of Southampton is evaluating a
DNA vaccine to treat chronic myeloid leukemia awedta myeloid leukemia. Financial support for thaltis being provided by the UK resea
charity Leukaemia and Lymphoma Research (LLR) anthb Efficacy and Mechanisms Evaluation (EME) pemgme (which is funded by tt
UK Medical Research Council and managed by the Widdal Institute for Health Research). The DNAaiae was developed at the
University of Southampton with funding from LLR attte charity Cancer Research UK.

Wilms’ Tumor gene 1 (WT1) is highly associated wtitlese types of cancer, which led the Universitofithampton to design its
leukemia therapeutic vaccine to target this antiggaclinical data from mice showed strong inductd antigen-specific CD8+ T cells and the
ability to kill human tumor cells expressing WThére have been several prior clinical studies imdms using parts of the WT1 gene, notably
as peptide vaccine candidates, demonstrating tiduption of modest levels of CD8+ T-cell resporaed measurable clinical responses,
although both effects were transient. This is tre tudy to combine DNA vaccination with WT1 ayghs using electroporation delivery with
the goal of stimulating high and durable level$nofnune responses, which are considered criticahfiproving clinical outcomes.

The single dose level, Phase Il study, called “Vifdnunity via DNA fusion gene vaccination in haenmagical malignancies by
intramuscular injection followed by intramusculéaroporation,” led by Professor Ottensmeier &f thiversity of Southhampton and
Dr. Katy Rezvani of Imperial College London and Haersmith Hospital, London, is designed to recrui patient groups. One group is
planned to recruit up to 37 CML patients and theeoup to 37 AML patients. All participants willitrally receive six doses of two DNA
vaccines (called p.DOM-WT1-37 and p.DOM-WT1-126)wkred at four week intervals. Vaccine respondeay continue with booster
vaccinations every three months out to 24 montimsadditional 100-110 AML/CML patients will be enlexdl across the two arms as non-
vaccinated controls for comparison. The primarypericts will be molecular response to a disease erarélled BCR-ABL in CML patients
and time to disease progression in AML patient® 3tudy will also monitor WT1 transcript levels,nmane responses to the WT1 antigen, 1
to progression and overall survival, and two-yeavisval in the AML group. The trial will take plac hospitals in Southampton, London and
Exeter over the next two years. Regulatory apprtivatart this clinical study was provided by th€ Medicines and Healthcare Products
Regulatory Authority (MHRA) and Gene Technology Agbry Committee (GTAC).

This is the first clinical trial using our new ELGIELO00 automated device, which is based on itsrnetasy electroporation delivery
platform. The device’s needle electrodes automateine delivery at the push of a button and cotbsabsequent controlled, millisecond
electrical pulses that increase cell membrane paitity and dramatically improve cellular uptaketbé vaccine. Our electroporation systems
have been shown to increase levels of gene expre@zioduction of the antigen coded by the vaccige)o 1000-fold and increase immune
responses to the antigen up to 100-fold.
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Merck Collaboration: Cancer Vaccines

In May 2004, we announced a collaboration and feenith Merck for the development of certain DNAwimes. Merck began patient
enroliment for a second Phase | DNA vaccine castgty in October 2008. This vaccine encodes forRTEan antigen related to non-small
cell lung, breast and prostate cancers. The vaésidelivered using our electroporation deliverghteology. We received milestone payments
for our contribution to the collaboration with M&ravhich has so far demonstrated the high levelevfe delivery and expression that is thol
to be necessary for the induction of a therapenotioune response. Merck has funded all clinical tiyeent costs of the candidates under our
collaboration and license agreement to date. Fudéeelopment of products under the collaboratioth lcense agreement may lead to
additional milestone payments and royalties to us.

Infectious Disease Synthetic Vaccines
Therapeutic HCV Vaccine

Hepatitis is a disease characterized by inflammatfcthe liver. HCV is a major cause of acute higigaHCV is spread primarily by
direct contact with human blood, the major causeddwide being the use of unscreened blood trarmwigssand re-use of needles and syringes
that have not been adequately sterilized. As marig0&o — 90% of newly infected patients may progtestevelop chronic infection. Of those
with chronic liver disease, 5% — 20% may develomhoisis. About 5% of infected people may die frdra tonsequences of long term infection
(due to liver cancer or cirrhosis). Globally, atireated 170 million people are chronically infecteith HCV, which represents a reservoir
sufficiently large for HCV to persist, and 3 to 4llian people are newly infected each year. Inlti& while new incidences of HCV have
dropped dramatically, an estimated 4.1 million $4)6Americans have been infected with HCV, of wha million are chronically infected.
People with chronic HCV infection face an increassk of developing hepatocellular cancer, a diffi¢o-treat cancer with a poor prognosis.

In January 2006, we signed an agreement with Swbdsad ChronTech (formerly called Tripep) to coalep a therapeutic vaccine for
HCV using electroporation. The vaccine is base@€bronTech'’s proprietary HCV antigen construct arlivéred to infected individuals using
our MedPulsef DNA Delivery System.

In November 2009, we announced the completion@Pthase | clinical study with ChronTech of the @hifac-C HCV DNA vaccine
delivered using our electroporation technology. $hely established the safety and tolerabilityhis therapy, with vaccine-induced immune
responses and transient effects on the serum lef/el€V in these chronically infected patients pding proof-of-concept of DNA vaccines
delivered using electroporation.

In March 2011, we announced the initiation of dofelon open label, single dose Phase Il clinicatlgtin collaboration with ChronTech
of the ChronVadz HCV DNA vaccine delivered using our electroparattechnology in treatment naive HCV infected imndiinals. In this stud
we will be looking at the effect of treating patiemith the HCV vaccine followed by standard ofecaersus a control group of HCV infected
adults who only receive the standard of care. Tikeapy will be given two times, with four weekshietween, followed by standard of care
(ribavirin and IFN-a) treatment after the final eae dose in treatment-naive chronic HCV infectedalype-1 subjects. This trial will assess
the level of immune responses, levels of HCV Mivald, and further assess the response to the deteehnology. The study will enroll a total
of 32 subjects (20 vaccine and 12 controls). Treeves and controls will be further separated lgyrth.28 genotype status which has been
recently shown to yield different response ratestémdard of care therapy for HCV.

Additionally, in April 2010, we announced, alongtlvour collaborators from Drexel University, Cheynéniversity, and the University
of Pennsylvania, that we received a combined $2ll®mgrant to further study and advance our prejary synthetic vaccine to treat HCV
using our electroporation delivery system.
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The grant is currently funding pre-clinical studiesng an expanded set of SynGon immunogens tthtestafety and effect on the
immune system of our novel vaccines designed &i prersons who are chronically infected with HC\ &iave not responded to currently
available therapies.

Preventive and Therapeutic HIV Vaccines

Since its discovery in 1981, AIDS has killed mdman 25 million people. In 2005, the total numbeH®¥-infected people worldwide
reached an estimated 38.6 million, with 4.1 millieewly infected individuals. In 2005, the diseaksgnced approximately 3.1 million lives.
UNAIDS estimates that 60,000 individuals were neimfgcted with HIV across the United States and MesEurope in 2005; bringing the
number of HIV-infected people to approximately 1rdtlion. Over half of these individuals live ingHJnited States.

In 2005, the HIV market accounted for 1.8% of glgifzarmaceutical sales and 17% of total anti-infecsales. Although this is
relatively small compared to other therapeutic sirége HIV market has experienced strong growtpeiterated $7.4 billion of sales in 2005
and experienced a compound annual growth rate.824%om 2001-2005, making it one of the fastestgng infectious disease markets. In
2011, the Global HIV market reported over $13 billin sales up from around $7.4 billion in 2005e@all, while the growth rates are slowing
down with better control of mother-to-child transsion and newer prexposure prophylaxes, the market is still forechtehave a Compoul
Annual Growth Rate of 3.6% through 2017 and glaiadés for 2021 are estimated at $16.5 billion.

Effective vaccines have been actively pursued ¥&r @0 years, without success. HIV represents 6tiegeomost confounding targets in
medicine. The virushigh mutagenicity (ability to mutate) has made etifee vaccine development very challenging. Itseo@nvelope, swath:
in sugar molecules, is difficult to attack, and Hilrikes the very cells that the immune systemdhes to thwart such an infection. Although
several drugs (antiretrovirals) are available éatithe patients once they are infected, vaccireeaecessary to stop the spread of disease and
perhaps reduce the need for antiretroviral treatmen

After many years of rapid development and introttucof new anti-retroviral drugs for treatment dfMHnfection, the introduction of
new drugs to the market for treatment of HIV infestappears to be waning. Available drugs, desmtesral limitations, have set a high
standard that must be met in terms of efficacy. elmv, there is still a significant need for betY therapies and patents are beginning to
expire on early HIV drugs. For example, zidovudmalready available as a generic drug and othdy BV drugs will soon face such generic
competition. To maintain HIV-related revenue, adl we meet the needs of HIV-infected patients, ptareutical companies must develop new
drugs with improved profiles, especially in ternfgaxicity and increased barriers to developmentitdl resistance. As a result, the medical
and commercial needs are fueling continued inténetste development of new nucleosides (NRTIS),-N&TIs, and protease inhibitors (PI)
for treatment of HIV infection.

Noting that many long-term survivors have high dswof killer CD8+ T cells, the HIV vaccine field $iturned to stimulating the immune
system to generate those cells. Recent HIV vaaanedidates adopted the use of an adenovirus ananoa human cold virus that had been
altered to prevent viral replication. These vacsihave proven to not be effective. We believe feiht approach is needed to develop an
effective vaccine for HIV. More recently the RV-1##l which employed a ALVAC (canary pox) vaccipeme followed by a protein vaccine
boost demonstrated 30% efficacy in preventing astjoin of infection amongst the vaccinated popolattompared to the control group.
Although the efficacy was relatively modest, thadfing has for the first time showed that a vacoiay be able to combat spread of HIV and
has spurred the development of newer vaccine catetid

Our HIV vaccines consist of candidates for HIV pretron as well as therapy or treatment. Furtherpmmre vaccines are differentiated
according to the targeted region of the world wfith greatest prevalence of certain HIV subtype®NNWAX ™-B is designed to target HIV
clade B (most commonly found in the United Stalsth America, Australia and the European Union YERENNVAX ™ -G is designed to
target HIV clades A, C and D, which are more comipéound in Asia, Africa, Russia and South America.
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Our PENNVAX™-B vaccine (without electroporation tkelry) Phase | trial (HVTN-070) was completed irD20This 120 patient study
was sponsored by the National Institute of Alleagnd Infectious Diseases’ (the “NIAID”) Division éiDS (DAIDS) and was conducted by
the HVTN to evaluate the vaccine’s safety and imaganicity in healthy volunteers. Following thisdyuin October 2009, along with the
HVTN, we initiated a follow-on Phase | study (HVTO80) of PENNVAX™ -B (with and without a cytokine) ldeered with electroporation
using the CELLECTRA delivery device in healthy, nfieicted individuals. Inovio previously reportedal&om non-human primates,
demonstrating up to a 100-fold enhancement in inemesponses resulting from the vaccine when delileia in vivo electroporation
compared to syringe injection without electropamtiThis Phase | clinical study of PENNVAX -B (HVT080) vaccinated 48 healthy, HIV-
negative volunteers to assess safety and levétsroéine responses generated by Inovio’s PENNVAX aBcine delivered with its
CELLECTRA® electroporation device. PENNVAX -B is grf£on® vaccine that targets HIV gag, pol, and emtgins. This randomized,
double-blind, multi-center study is sponsored b/ BHAID, an agency of the National Institutes ofdith (the “NIH"), and conducted by the
NIAID -funded HVTN, at several clinical sites.

Of the 48 total volunteers, eight subjects receagdacebo, 10 subjects received a 1 mg dose of\REAX ™-B vaccine, and 30 subjec
received a 1 mg dose of PENNVAX™-B along with IL-DRIA. All volunteers received vaccine or placebondistered with electroporation
at months 0, 1, and 3. T-cell immune responses detected using a validated flow cytometry-baséaellular cytokine staining (ICS) assay
at the HVTN core immunology laboratory at the Fradchinson Cancer Research Center in Seattle, WA.

We reported final data from this study in Septenfti#¥1. These data indicate that antigen-specifiell responses were generated by the
vaccine in a majority of subjects. Overall, eit@4+ or CD8+ or both T-cell responses were obseagainst at least one of the vaccine
antigens in 83.3% (30 of 36) of evaluated subjefter three vaccinations using electroporation. f@sponse rate increased to 88.9% (24 o
of evaluated subjects after three vaccinations elglctroporation plus the IL-12 cytokine gene adjuv The investigators in this study
concluded that PENNVAX™-B + IL-12 plasmid delivereid electroporation led to frequencies and magiaisuof cellular immune responses
equal to or greater than those reported from ctirrector-based HIV vaccines such as adenovirugadittonal DNA vaccination without
electroporation. Further trials delivering an HI\NB vaccine using electroporation with or without1? as a vaccine strategy are merited.

Specifically, after three vaccinations with the IMBRAX™-B vaccine given with IL-12 and electroporatio
» Antiger-specific CD4+ "-cell responses were generated by the vaccine 8/80f evaluated vaccine recipients (21 of :

» Significantly strong antigen-specific, CD8+ T-cedsponses were also generated by the vaccine9&d&df evaluated vaccine
recipients (14 of 27,

* In an assessment of immune response durabilityoasik months post dose 3, 53.6% (15 of 28) ofsthigiects maintained positi
CD4+ T-cell responses and 42.9% (12 of 28) of the subjeetstained positive CD8+-cell responses out to six montl

» Compared to the previously conducted HVTN 070 Phasedy, which assessed PENNVA>-B with cytokine adjuvant I-12 at
double the dose, with four vaccinations, but withelectroporation delivery, response rates in HVOB0 with electroporation were
significantly higher for both CD4+ responses (40)&#td CD8+ T cell responses (3.6¢

» Samples from eight placebo recipients and pre-nacsamples from vaccine recipients were also testddvere negative for both
CD4+ T-cell responses and CD8--cell response:

 PENNVAX™-B delivered using the CELLECTR® intramuscular electroporation delivery device wattwithout IL-12 was saf
and generally well tolerated. There were no vacoaiated serious adverse events. Reported adveesgseand injection site
reactions were mild to moderate and required retrirent.
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A second clinical study is testing PENNVAX -B intteerapeutic setting. This Phase | trial (H0@1) is being conducted in collaborat
with the University of Pennsylvania and targets Hildsitive individuals. The electroporation-delivélENNVAX ™ B arm of this trial starte
in 2011. If the Phase | studies are successfubimanhstrating enhanced immunological responsestbltY antigens, then we intend to partner
with the HVTN or another governmental organizatioriurther develop this HIV candidate vaccine tlgbdPhase Il and Phase Il clinical
studies. It is anticipated that given the criticaed for preventive and therapeutic vaccines f&f, ldhy commercialization will likely be
through a big pharmaceutical company partner feiNbrth American and EU markets and a world heag#incy for the developing world
markets.

In September 2010, the United States Military HI¥sRarch Program (MHRP) initiated a Phase | trigdd62) using one of our
prophylactic HIV vaccines in a prime-boost strateblyis program was developed to protect againgrda/subtypes of HIV-1 prevalent in
North America, Europe, Africa, and South AmericheBtudy is being conducted by the United StatefRMIthrough its clinical researn
network in the US, East Africa and Thailand. THigical trial was designed to test a unique prino@4t preventive HIV vaccination strategy
aimed at global coverage. The prime is a plasmidisgtic vaccine, PENNVAX" G, and the boost is a virus vector vaccine, Modifiaccinia
Ankara-Chiang Mai Double Recombinant (MVA-CMDR).gather, the vaccines are designed to deliver asbuixture of antigens for HIV-
1 subtypes A, B, C, D and E. The study will tesNREVAX ™-G delivered with electroporation in conjuim MVA-CMDR boost. The NIAIC
is sponsoring the study, which we expect will eh®@l total participants and is designed to assafetysand immune responses. The study is
being conducted in two parts. Part A enrolled Iestts in the US (open label study) and is now detep This study confirmed the safety
profile of the vaccine and opened the door toatetithe larger placebo controlled internationadigtiPart B will enroll 80 subjects in 3 African
countries (Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda) and is expeotegen in 2012.

Due to its prevalence and global health importatiese is a large amount of funding available tigtouarious governmental and non-
governmental organizations. Most notably, the Nithaded us a contract to develop a preventive HiMIsstic vaccine candidate in
conjunction with electroporation technology forradermal delivery of synthetic vaccines. The casttveas awarded under the NIAID’s HIV
Vaccine Design and Development Teams program andstogether HIV vaccine experts from the Univgrsif Pennsylvania School of
Medicine and our company. The contract providesouf5.3 million of funding over seven years, imthg a five-year base period and follow-
on option years. The program is focusing on thewvaccandidate, PENNVAX -GP, which was developeth@laboratory of DNA vaccines
pioneer Professor David B. Weiner, at the UnivgrsitPennsylvania School of Medicine and licensedg. This program expands our
portfolio of candidate HIV vaccines. The fundingladevelopment program covers preclinical optim@atimmunogenicity and challenge
studies in animal models, IND-enabling toxicologydies, cGMP (current good manufacturing practiceahufacturing of all components of
the synthetic vaccine and CELLECTRA device, andctreduct of a Phase | human clinical trial. cGMPofacture of the PENNVAX' GP
constructs to support clinical trials will be cowtied at the manufacturing facility of our affiliadGX International, Inc. (“VGX Int'l").

HIV remains a challenging and tremendously impdréaaa of medical research, and we value the N$Hpport to further evaluate the
immunogenicity and efficacy of our electroporatielivery system and novel preventive HIV vaccinedidate.

Avian Influenza (H5N1) Vaccine—VGX-3400x

Influenza is one of the most communicable diseas®sjt typically affects children and the eldampst severely. Complications from
influenza cause more than 200,000 hospitalizatamuslead to approximately 36,000 deaths each petheiUnited States alone, according to
the Centers for Disease Control. The world is alinsabjected to two influenza sessions (one penisphere), between three and five million
cases of severe illness, and up to 500,000 deathandemic occurs every ten to twenty years, whifdcts a large proportion of the world’s
population and can kill tens of millions of peopkethe “Spanish Flu” did in just two years (50-H8illion deaths during 1918-1919).
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New influenza viruses are constantly produced byatian or reassortment, and can develop resistans@ndard antiviral drugs. The
H5N1 flu virus has been spreading from Asia degpiéebelief that it was under control immediateftieaoutbreaks there in 2004. In 2005,
there were reports of H5N1 in wild birds in Europe2006, there were reports of a H5N1 strain ildwirds and poultry in Africa and the Ne
East. According to the World Health Organizatidre H5N1 bird flu has infected 576 people, with 8@&ths (approximately 60% death rate).
While H5N1 has never been passed person-to-pergbhas not spread widely, one concern is the patdot the lethal H5N1 to “reassort”
with another of the influenza sub-types that haserbprone to spread more rapidly in humans, pgssibhting a more dangerous influenza
strain. Through 2006, over 140 million birds ha@méilled and over $10 billion spent to try to cantH5N1 avian influenza.

Our VGX-3400X targets H5N1. The vaccine consistthodée distinct DNA plasmids coded for a consermmagglutinin (HA) antigen
derived from different H5N1 virus strains; a cors&mneuraminidase (NA) antigen derived from diffiéidl sequences; and a consensus
nucleoprotein (NP) fused to a small portion of th2 protein (m2E) based on a broader cross-secfimfloenza viruses in addition to H5N1
and HINLI.

In pre-clinical studies, vaccination with VG3400 generated broadly protective levels of hemaggition inhibition titers in 100% of tt
immunized animals in five separate animal modelseenmierrets, rabbits, pigs, and rhesus monkeysciaton with VGX-3400X also
protected animals from an unmatched, lethal H5Mdsvehallenge in mouse, ferret, and monkey modks-3400X also induced significant
levels of antigen-specific CD8+ killer T cell resses.

In our first proof of principle study of universfhll vaccine program, VGX-3400X was delivered wititramuscular electroporation using
our CELLECTRA® electroporation device. The primabjeztives of this clinical trial were to assesesatnd tolerability. The secondary
objective was the measurement of antigen-specifiellfand antibody responses, including binding laeehagglutination inhibition (HAI)
responses, i.e. a measure of protection, againipieistrains of H5N1 influenza.

The study assessed a total of 60 healthy volunt8éri the US and 30 in Korea (in a separate llghdinical trial sponsored by Inovio
affiliate VGX International). Three dose cohortsléf subjects were each given two injections ofrig? 0.67 mg, or 2.0 mg of each plasmid at
months 0 and 1.

In a report in July, 2011, of interim data, VGX-820was found to be generally safe and well toletateall dose levels. There were no
vaccine-related serious adverse events. Reportegtsglevents and injection site reactions were toildoderate and required no treatment.

We tested for antibody responses against the targigfens and observed high levels of binding auliis in 26 of 27 evaluated subjects
(96%). Antibodies were generated against all tlrgegens, as tested by the enzyme-linked immunesbidissay (ELISA). Positive antibody
responses persisted to seven months, the latesptimt tested.

In testing for HAI responses against the VietnanfHBN1/1203/04) strain, 3 of 27 subjects (11%) shibWél titers greater than 1:40,
which is considered to be an indicator of protectgainst influenza in humans. Two of the thregesub with HAI titers exceeding 1:40
against the Vietnam strain also demonstrated grédae 1:40 titers against the Indonesia (A/H5NA@B5) strain, demonstrating cross-reactive
responses in these volunteers.

Significantly, antigen-specific cytotoxic T-lymphgte (CTL) responses were also observed againgirak antigens (HA, NA and NP).
After two vaccinations, 13 of 18 vaccinated sulgge®2%) from the first two cohorts developed str@igd. responses to at least one of the
vaccine components. After cohort 3 samples weréyaed, 20 of 29 vaccinated subjects (69%) in albBorts developed strong CTL respor
to at least one of the vaccine components. ThesiéyioT cell responses were measured up to seahs after the first vaccination.
Generation of influenza antigen-specific T cellp@sses is believed to be important for generatimigarsal, long-lasting immunity against
influenza as well as to generate a stronger immesgonse against flu in elderly people. We preVoreported the generation of strong, long-
lasting and best-in-class T-cell responses in Phsalies of both VGX-3100 for cervical cancerfolgsia and PENNVAX™-B for HIV via
IM electroporation delivery of Inovio SynCén DNAGa@nes.
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In another component of the study, participanteisex a booster vaccination using just the H5 Hécirre component of VGX-3400X
delivered using intradermal (rather than intramiesgelectroporation. The intradermal (ID) partioé study was a first-ever flu study using 1D
electroporation delivery in humans. ID electropiomaelivers our Syncof vaccines into skin, whiohtains large amounts of immune cells
such as dendritic cells and macrophages consiceostlimportant for generating protective antibod@sr new ID electroporation device uses
a patented miniaturized needle array which creglgzgroporation conditions uniquely optimized famsdelivery. The goal of this booster
vaccination was to determine if ID delivery of tH& HA construct can increase HAI titers beyond ¢hashieved by the initial intramuscular
vaccinations. Twenty participants received the tdodier vaccination.

Immune response data measured one month aftdyadbg were presented at a WHO meeting in Novembgt.2Ten of 20 subjects
(50%) exhibited a four-fold or greater rise in gesdrit mean titers (GMT) in the HAI assay (rangingnfi 1:20 to 1:80 HAI titers) against the
Clade 1 A/Vietnam/1203/04 strain. Significantlyfoarr-fold or greater rise in GMT titers againstdiother Clade 2 (Clade 2.1, 2.2; 2.3.2; 2.3.4)
and Clade 0 H5N1 viruses was also noted in 10-2b#eovaccinated subjects, further demonstratingsireactive immune responses in these
volunteers. One subject displayed greater than HAtiters against all six different HSN1 virustssted. ID vaccination was found to be
generally safe and well tolerated.

HAI measurements from the blood of a vaccinatedestilare used to assess the generation of progeatittbody responses. A four-fold
rise in HAI titers (compared to pre-vaccinationt@sidered to be an important indicator of immaatvation. Generating an HAI titer of 1:20
is generally regarded as a positive vaccine reggamith a titer of 1:40 or higher in the blood @fceinated subjects generally associated with
protection against influenza in humans.

Seventeen of the 22 subjects boosted with the naillyrimvasive ID vaccination have been given a sec® booster vaccination

Although a number of companies have well-develogpedn influenza programs and lead vaccine candidage entered into national
stockpiles (US and EU), we believe there existeedrfor broadly protective and easily scalablenietigies to prepare for the as yet unknown
target presented by the next form of avian infléer@ur SynCo® technology provides protection frarawn avian influenza viruses (in
animal studies) and has also shown the abilityrédeet against newly emergent, unmatched strains.
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Universal Influenza (H5N1/H1N1) Vaccine—INO-3510

Conventional vaccines are strain-specific and Hiaviged ability to protect against genetic shiftsthe influenza strains they target. They
are therefore modified annually in anticipatiortioé next flu season’s new strain(s). If a signffitba different, unanticipated new strain
emerges, such as the 2009 swine-origin pandenaimsthen the current vaccines provide little opnotective capability. In contrast, we
believe that our design approach to charactertm®ad consensus of antigens across variant swéisch influenza sutype creates the abili
to protect against new strains that have commoetgeroots, even though they are not perfectly imedc By formulating a single vaccine with
some or all of the key sub-types, protection mapdideved against seasonal as well as pandemicssgiach as swine flu or pandemic-
potential strains such as avian influenza notedr@bd/e are focused on developing DNA-based inflaerercines able to provide broad
protection against known as well as newly emergimgnown seasonal and pandemic influenza strains.

Instead of targeting a specific strain or strams,have developed
universal vaccine strategy to deal with the evexrdfing flu threats. Using our
SynConP process, our scientists designed synthetic vactémgsting an optim.
consensus of HA, NA, and NP proteins derived froaitiple strains of each of
the Type A sub-types HIN1, H2N2, H3N2 (these tln#aenza sub-types
having been responsible for the majority of sealsand pandemic influenza
outbreaks in humans during the last century), dsageH5N1. In theory,
consensus HA vaccine constructs from each sub-tiglered in a single shot
with our electroporation device, could potentigllptect vaccinated subjects
from 90-95% of all human seasonal and pandemiaenfta concerns.
Additionally, we have also developed an optimalsmrsus of HA sequences
derived from influenza Type B strains. TypeB iglake components of current
seasonal influenza vaccinations. Thus, using oaCeyn® constructs, we have
now developed vaccine elements that can targetpmrtblemic (HS5N1, HIN1)
as well as seasonal influenza strains (H3N2, H1hflyenza B).

Moreover, using our approach the vaccines mightagt to be
administered annually after the first few primirggsions. Rather, the same
combination could be used to boost the immune systeery few years

By using SynCor® consensus sequences, we have gedgbotent and cross-protective synthetic vaccigesnst multiple influenza
strains. Accordingly, we are evaluating the develept of two additional synthetic vaccines for igfiza: INO-3510, which is intended to
protect against HIN1 and H5N1, and a “universdlugnza vaccine, to protect against these two gpbg as well as other sub-types. The
universal flu vaccine, which can include a comborabf plasmids encoding H1, H2, H3, H5, NA, and, Mcurrently being evaluated in
animal models. These vaccines are delivered vi€He ECTRA® electroporation system in animals hawvduiced robust humoral immune
responses, which are required for protection fratm@genic influenza infection. The vaccine can dmiaistered with either intradermal or
intramuscular injection, where the former raisegeater antibody response.

In January 2011, we announced the presentatioeceht preclinical data using our next generatiomioimally invasive intradermal
(skin) electroporation delivery devices. While aurrent IM delivery technologies are well tolergtee are also advancing device developr
to achieve various desirable attributes. One |IDatepenetrates to no more than 3 mm, comparedreniiscular devices that go deeper.
Furthermore,
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a second ID device is a minimally invasive surfatetroporation (SEP) device that sits on the serf# the skin and uses a virtually
undetectable scratch to facilitate delivery of ¥aecine. With the advancement of these devicesaiouis to make electroporation delivery
amenable to mass prophylactic vaccination by deargalose levels, increasing tolerability of theaination, and increasing the breadth of
viable vaccine targets.

The highlighted data related to influenza, HIV, aré, and smallpox antigens, demonstrating that Ridkvery with this newer
generation of ID including its SEP devices yielelgdls of immunogenicity in terms of both antiboay & -cell responses and/or efficacy
against a virus challenge that is comparable tammtiscular electroporation devices currently indl@c. In particular, immune responses
achieved with influenza antigens targeting H1, &3] H5 immunogens yielded hemagglutination titéigreater than 1:40 (a level considered
protective in humans) in 100% of vaccinated animaflsr two immunizations, with magnitudes compagablor better than those reported fi
animal studies of the IM-delivered flu vaccine (V&400X) currently in the clinic.

Synthetic Vaccines for Biodefense and Biosecurity

A number of infectious agents that are relativelsertoday are poised for an upsurge in incidenceitber “natural” or terrorism-related
means. For example, natural threats are posedebpflnenza strain HSN1. At the same time, an eegriad influenza virus for intentional
release would pose a significant human threat.

Since 2001, the United States government has spetliocated over a billion dollars in funding tddress the threat of biological
weapons. United States funding for bioweaponsedlactivities focuses primarily on research for aoquisition of medicines for defense.
Biodefense funding also goes toward stockpilinggrtive equipment, increased surveillance and teteof biological agents, and improving
state and hospital preparedness. The increasesityfie of funding recently is mainly due to theject BioShield Act adopted in 2004.

There are opportunities to secure development igndind for proof-of principle synthetic vaccinedias for biowarfare pathogens. Over
the past five years, we have been successful atisgdunding from the US government for such pectge

The company continues to actively pursue grantcamtract funding from the NIH, Department of Defemsd other government fundi
agencies as an important source of non-dilutivelifugnto support development of specific technoledieat are broadly applicable across
multiple product development programs in the agdasncer, infectious diseases and biodefense.dBas@arious initiatives and with the
support of NIH funding we are an active collaboratith the Department of Defense (U.S. Army) andtoaue research and development of
DNA-based vaccines delivered via our proprietagcebporation system. Specifically, our projects facused on identifying synthetic vaccine
candidates with the potential to provide rapid,ustimmunity to protect against bwarfare and bioterror attacks as well as developrokour
electroporation based equipment.

Animal Health/Veterinary

VGX Animal Health, Inc. (VGX AH), a majority-owneslibsidiary, has licensed LifeTiée a plasmid-basevth hormone releasing
hormone (GHRH) technology for swine. LifeTiéle iseonf only four DNA-based treatments approved fa imsanimals and is the only DNA-
based agent delivered using electroporation thebkan granted marketing approval (Australia). Véensorking on partnering and/or
monetizing this program.

VGX AH is also developing a GHRH-based treatmentincer and anemia in dogs and cats.

We are developing a novel synthetic vaccine fot-foad-mouth disease (FMD) administered by our pedgry vaccine delivery
technology. The FMD virus is one of the most ini@es$ diseases affecting farm animals includingeastine, sheep and goats, and is a
serious threat to global food safety. Once an @rea
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exposed to FMD, livestock & dairy exports are celeeed herds are culled. For example, in a major Fidbreak in the UK in 2001, more
than 4 million animals were slaughtered, resultmgore than $10 billion (USD) in economic losdesa current FMD epidemic in South
Korea, more than 3.3 million animals, mostly swinaye been culled in an attempt to keep the diseasespreading. Today’'s FMD vaccines
based on killed/inactivated viruses can actuallyseaFMD infection, so are only used regionally rafte outbreak rather than for broad
preemptive vaccination. our synthetic DNA vacciaemot cause the disease, providing a safe apptogudtentially protect against FMD and
reduce its serious impact on global food supply @dmerce.

Because FMD can spread rapidly and beyond reglomatdaries there is a need to develop vaccines#masimultaneously target
different regional serotypes (subtypes) of FMD sirggle vaccine. Our SynCén vaccine constructsetaaur of the seven main FMD virus
subtypes.

Due to the fear of inadvertent spread to farm alimrasearch with the live virus to test vaccinficaty is heavily restricted to only a few
government laboratories in the US. The investigatiberefore developed a patented new proprietaryralezation assay (using a mock virus
unrelated to FMD to assess the ability of the wvaeénduced antibodies to neutralize virus infedtidn a follow-on investigation of the
immune responses with the novel neutralizationyeagainst the Asia strain, the vaccinated animelebbped neutralizing antibody (NAb)
titers averaging 90 after a single vaccination imedeasing in magnitude to 191 after two vaccinaid-or comparison, commercially available
attenuated/killed FMD virus vaccines are able mtgurt swine with an NAb titer of 32-40. These resale the first report of a DNA vaccine
producing high titers of neutralizing antibodiesigt FMD.

In a second large-animal study, sheep were vaearthtee times at 0, 5, and 10 weeks with a cortibim&accine targeting either four
subtypes (O, A, C, Asia), three subtypes (O, AaAsir a single subtype (Asia). The study investigaobserved in the vaccinated animals
levels of seroconversion (production of antibodipscific to a particular antigen) and antibodyrsitgéhe actual level of antibody production; in
this case, ranging from 1000 — 100,000) to aliM&ecine subtypes after only one or two vaccinatitmgortantly, the multi-subtype DNA
vaccines targeting three or four subtypes simutiaaly were able to induce equally strong levelardfbody titers compared to the single-
subtype vaccines. Strong T-cell responses (cumelgt> 1,500 SFU/million PBMC), which would poteaity play a role in treating the
disease, were also noted against the four diffenglptype antigens.

In September 2011 we entered into a Cooperativedels and Development Agreement (CRADA) with thététhStates Department of
Homeland Security (DHS) Science and Technologydamate Plum Island Animal Disease Center. Thitabolration will evaluate the
efficacy of our SynCor vaccines for FMD in importamimal models including cattle, sheep, and pigs.

Additional Applications of Our Electroporation Deli very Technology

In addition to using our technology for human damngl vaccine delivery, it can be used for researcfalidate new drug targets, to
generate monoclonal antibodies, deliver siRNA athgiomolecules. The use of our technology for neteencreases general awareness for the
technology and may facilitate its transition intmical development for these other applicatiomsadldition, we believe there may be a benefit
to exploring future potential applications for aachnology in the area of gene therapy to treattiedisorders.

We continue to pursue limited opportunities in #neas of stem cells, ex-vivo applications and RNvkiere collaborators would provide
the majority of required development resources.

Our Electroporation Delivery Technology
Choice of Tissue for DNA Delivery

Skeletal muscle has been a core focus for deliwgEBNA-based vaccines via electroporation becatugsenainly composed of large
elongated cells with multiple nuclei. Muscle celle non-dividing, hence long-term expression caaliiained without integration of the gene
of interest into the genome. Muscle cells have been
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shown to have a capacity for secretion of proteitsthe blood stream. Secreted therapeutic preteiay therefore act systemically and
produce therapeutic effects in distant tissuet@thiody. In this respect, the muscle functions fastry for the production of the
biopharmaceutical needed by the body. We envigiahdelivery of DNA by electroporation to muscléi€evill circumvent the costly and
complicated production procedures of viral genéveey vectors, protein-based drugs, conventionatirees and monoclonal antibodies. This
approach may provide long-term stable expressiatb&rapeutic protein or monoclonal antibody sitistained level.

For vaccination, the DNA causes muscle cells talpece antigenic proteins that the immune systemidglhtify as foreign and against
which it will mount an immune response. As with gentional vaccines, the immune system will theneligy memory of this antigen (and
related disease) for future reference. Intramusaéévery by electroporation of DNA encoded antigdas been shown to induce both hun
(antibody) and cellular (T-cell) immune responses.

While we have generated preclinical and prelimir@iyical evidence that intramuscular electropanatbased DNA delivery will be
effective for a number of vaccines, electroporattbthe skin may also be a relevant route of adstiaiion. Skin or intradermal administration
is important and is becoming an attractive sitefanunization given its high density of antigeng@eting cells (APCs). Unlike muscle, skin is
the first line of defense against most pathogedsisitherefore very rich in immune cells and molesuSkin specifically contains certain cells
that are known to help in generating a robust iment@sponse. With intradermal administration of etgaoration, we may be able to
demonstrate a comparable immune response to mielolery. Drug delivery into skin, or dermal tissigthe most attractive method given
that the skin is the largest, most accessible naost easily monitored organ of the human body,iischighly immunocompetent (able to
recognize antigens and mount an immune resportbeno).

We have also investigatéu vivo delivery of genes directly into tumor cells. Tunoetls can be readily transfected with genes encoded
with selected cytokines or potentially lethal piogefor the treatment of a variety of cancers. gbal of effective tumor delivery is the ultimate
elimination of the transfected tumor, and we haxgeeenced very few concerns regarding the safetlyeoprocedure in our trials to date.

Our Electroporation Systems

Existing generations of electroporation systemssistiof an electrical pulse generator box the sfzlarge laptop attached by a cord
separate needle-electrode applicator. We recentigiled our new CELLECTRA -SP series of hand-hetddless electroporation devices.
The new CELLECTRA? - SP devices bring together groundbreaking desigreagétheering advancements to combine all componettts
self-contained, easy-to-use portable device tredia cordless hand tool.

CELLECTRA® System

There are several configurations in the CELLECTRAvide family. The first covers intramuscular (IMjlivery of DNA, the second
covers the intradermal/subcutaneous delivery (I)MA. Both devices have been validated, manufaztumder cGMP and are ready for use
in human clinical trials. We have filed a devicestea file (MAF) with the FDA covering the use oEtRELLECTRA® -IM EP device in
human clinical trials. The device is intended taused in combination with a DNA plasmid-based vaeci

The new CELLECTRA® - SP products combine the functionality of our curiggmeration of skin and intramuscular electroporat
devices in clinical testing with enhanced form,igesand portability. All components from the pufgenerator and applicator are integrated
into a cordless, rechargeable device. The rechblg®attery can enable vaccination of several heshdubjects, making the device highly
amenable to mass vaccination. The devices arerd=sip accommodate different electrode arrays @t the requirements of the particular
vaccine and tissue for delivery (skin or muscle).
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Elgen™ System

The Elgen™ DNA Delivery System is designed primafily muscle delivery. It consists of a computericolted, motorized two needle
delivery device that injects DNA and delivers elepbration pulses through one pair of needles. @&tiex prototype version of this
experimental system is currently under evaluatioadir clinical trial for a prostate cancer vaccatéhe University of Southampton in the U.K.

MedPulser® DNA Delivery System

The MedPulse? DNA Delivery System (DDS) was devetbm optimize the delivery of DNA into muscle sellThe modified system is
similar to the MedPulseérElectroporation System. The primary differencesiathe parameters of the electric pulses deliverethe generat:
and the needle-electrode configuration of the appir. The pulse is designed specifically for DN&liekery with a lower strength electrical
field of longer duration than for tumor electroptima. The applicator has a four needle-electrodayaconsisting of one set of opposite pairs.
They are available in a range of configurationmget the requirements of a variety of applications.

Next Generation Devices

In February 2011, we announced new advanced detfiaéare using needle-free, contactless electetipor technology for vaccine
delivery, which provides the powerful enabling daifiies of electroporation without contacting tslen. Our pre-clinical research was
highlighted in a paper published in the scienfifigrnalHuman VaccinesWhile current Inovio electroporation devices haeen shown to be
safe and well-tolerated in multiple human studieeyio has been advancing research to achieve ts optimal device characteristics to
facilitate mass vaccinations. The paper appeantuiman Vaccines“Piezoelectric permeabilization of mammalian daktissue for in vivo
DNA delivery leads to enhanced protein expressiwhiacreased immunogenicity,” authored by our 4@$€3) describes an innovative
electroporation method, optimized for delivery istan. This new method is based on piezoelectrigityich is the generation of an electric
field or electric potential by certain materials@sponse to applied mechanical stress.

All of our electroporation delivery systems notdxbee can increase levels of gene expression (oeugtion of the immune-stimulating
protein the vaccine was coded to produce) of “nakidA vaccines by 100-fold or more compared to dety of naked DNA vaccines via
conventional injection alone. Delivery of our Symovaccines into muscle or skin tissue with our tetgmoration systems have generated
robust immune responses in disease models inclunftuggnza (H5N1 and H1N1), smallpox, and HIV. T§ieong immune responses resulted
in protection of immunized animals, most notablyrdés and primates, from death and illness follgnanchallenge with the respective
influenza pathogens.

More significantly, we have translated these anistadly findings into positive clinical results. Qalinical studies with electroporation
delivery of therapeutic vaccines in cancer patidatgee been among the first to demonstrate a géme@ft potent antigen-specific immune
responses in humans.

Collaborations and Licensing Agreements

We have entered into various arrangements witharatp, academic, and government collaboratorg)dimes, licensees and others. These
arrangements are summarized below and elsewhénesiannual report. In addition, we conduct ongaliggussions with potential
collaborators, licensors and licensees.

On March 24, 2010, we entered into a Collaborasiod License Agreement (the “Agreement”) with VG Xelmational (“VGX Int'l").
Under the Agreement, we granted VGX Int'l an exitladicense to our SynCon universal influenza vaedihe “Product”) delivered with
electroporation to be developed in certain coustirneAsia.
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As consideration for the license granted to VGX Imte will receive a research and developmentiatiin fee, as well as research
support, annual license maintenance fees, andtieyain net Product sales. In addition, continggruin achievement of clinical and regulatory
milestones, we will receive development payments dlve term of the Agreement. The Agreement alswiges us with exclusive rights to
supply devices for clinical and commercial purpa@esluding single use components) to VGX Int'l iase in the Product.

The term of the Agreement commenced upon execationwill extend on a country by country basis uthi last to expire of all Royalty
Periods for the territory (as such term is defiimethe Agreement) for any Product in that countmyiess the Agreement is terminated earlier in
accordance with its provisions as a result of brebg mutual agreement, or by VGX Int'l right tan@nate without cause upon prior written
notice.

In October 2011, we entered into a product devetygmollaboration agreement with VGX Int’l to covééop our SynCor therapeutic
vaccines for hepatitis B and C infections. Undertérms of the agreement, VGX Int'l will receive mixeting rights for these vaccines in Asia,
excluding Japan, and in return will fully fund INERabling and initial Phase | and I clinical stigdi&Ve will receive payments based on the
achievement of clinical milestones and royaltiesdobon sales in the licensed territories and willin all commercial rights in all other
territories.

In January 2010, we announced that we expandeexigting license agreement with the University ehRsylvania, adding exclusive
worldwide licenses for technology and intellectpedperty for novel synthetic vaccines against pamdénfluenza, Chikungunya, and FMD.
The amendment also encompasses new chemokine ekiheymolecular adjuvant technologies. The techgpivas developed in the
University of Pennsylvania laboratory of ProfesBawvid B. Weiner, a pioneer in the field of DNA-bdseccines and chairman of our
scientific advisory board. Under the terms of thigioal license agreement completed in 2007, waiabt exclusive worldwide rights to
develop multiple DNA plasmids and constructs with potential to treat and/or prevent HIV, HCV, HRM influenza and included molecular
adjuvants. These prior and most recent agreemadtaraendments provide for royalty payments, baseitore sales, to the University of
Pennsylvania.

In July 2011, we further expanded our license ages# with the University of Pennsylvania, addinglagive worldwide licenses for
technology and intellectual property for novel $\atic vaccines against prostate cancer, herpesedruncluding CMV (cytomegalovirus),
malaria, hepatitis B, RSV (respiratory syncytialsg), and MRSA (methicillin-resistant staphylocos@ureus). The amendment also
encompasses a new optimized IL-12 cytokine gengvadi.

In March 2009, we announced an agreement with &/HPMalaria Vaccine Initiative (MVI) to evaluate i preclinical feasibility study
our SynCor® vaccine development platform. More dfmadly, this collaboration was to design and t®gtthetic vaccine candidates using
target antigens frorRlasmodiunspecies and deliver them intradermally using th&lEECTRA @ electroporation device. The collaboration
brings together our vaccine development and madaqieerts with those from the University of Pennaylia School of Medicine. The first
program was completed in February 2010. In Septe2®¥0, MVI agreed to provide follow-on fundingdontinue evaluation and
development of our malaria synthetic vaccine caatgidn non-human primates.

In the prior MVI-funded feasibility study, our maia vaccine candidate induced broad-based immuaitgur pre-erythrocytic malaria
antigens. In the current non-human primate study SynCor® vaccine candidate, which targets spotezaind the liver stage of the parasite,
is delivered using our proprietary electroporatigfivery technology. Humoral (antibody) and celiufa-cell) responses will be assessed in
follow-on program, conducted by the same collabonadf vaccine experts from the University of Pgrimania School of Medicine and us.

Malaria continues to present a major healthcaréesige in the developing world and has been thadad much attention by global
public health agencies. Development of an effectaecine againd®lasmodium falciparurhas been a challenge. The parasite undergoes
several stages of development during its life cycld
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presents different potential target antigens al stage as it passes through its human and modupste. Our vaccine candidate targets the pre
erythrocytic stage of the parasite and focusesidudtion of both humoral and cellular responsesnaganultiple target antigens. This appro.

is intended to help prevent infection of liver sedind to further clear those cells that, despgeatitibody response, become infected. By
targeting the parasite during the first days dftéaction, this type of vaccine may prevent theedradf malaria symptoms and further inhibit
spread of the disease.

In May 2004, we announced a licensing arrangeméhtMerck for the development of Merck’s DNA caneerd infectious disease
vaccines. The terms of the agreement include mitesand royalty payments for successful complatfathe clinical development of the
vaccines by Merck. Under the terms of the agreenéatck reimbursed us for the co-development ofcgpetary electroporation system for
the delivery of Merck’s synthetic vaccines. Thiwelepment and commercialization agreement was tmsbon of an initial evaluation
agreement established in 2003. Merck receiveditfiet to use our proprietary technology for two dfie@antigens with an option to extend the
agreement to include a limited number of additidaeet antigens. In addition, Merck obtained a-erclusive license to the intellectual
property related to the initial two specific antige Merck is responsible for all development casid clinical programs.

In May 2005, we announced that Merck exercisedmioo for a non-exclusive license for an additioaatigen to be used with our
MedPulse DNA Delivery System. This option exeraises provided for under the 2004 license and rekezullaboration agreement, and
brought the total number of antigens licensed byddéo three. We received an option fee for theitamlthl target antigen. Under the terms of
our license agreement with Merck, we are eligiblerhilestone and royalty payments if certain depgient goals and commercialization of
device are achieved by Merck.

Market

We anticipate that over the next several yearsnabeu of key demographic and technological factbmugl accelerate growth in the
market for vaccines and medical therapies to preaed treat infectious diseases and cancer, pkatigun our product categories. These
factors include the following:

* Rise in emerging infectious diseases and the thokpandemicsThe attention received by the pandemic potentiaividin influenzi
has mobilized cross-border agencies including gowents, world health organizations and privateualic corporations to
develop effective vaccination and therapeuticdeiias. Our candidate vaccines for avian influe@takungunya and dengue are
among those intended to serve these ne

* Increased consumer awareneln areas such as cervical cancer, increased comawaeeness related to HPV infection,
primary cause of cervical cancer, has led to redes¥iorts for developing effective therapies. Thierent vaccines for cervical
cancer prevention (Gardasil and Cervarix ), whéep effective measures for prevention in the uoseg population, are
ineffective in people infected with HP'

* Large unmet needn areas such as HIV and HCV (prevention and thgrtiyere is a large unmet need with no vaccineoogton
the market. With the exit of several players inttbeent years from the HIV vaccine development,afeair vaccines prove
successful we believe we are positioned to obtaiigrificant market positior

We believe there is a significant unmet clinicatti¢o develop more efficacious vaccines that steutellular immunity (i.e. can induce
T-cell responses) and can be applied to diseasbsasucancer, hepatitis C or HIV infection. Forséhapplications, our scientists believe that
synthetic vaccines may offer an improvement oveweational vaccination. Our scientists believe #attroporation of DNA is critical to
maximizing the efficiency of DNA vaccination and etieg unmet clinical needs for therapeutic vaccimg¢sch some industry analysts
consider to be a multi-billion dollar market oppority.
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Competition

We are aware of several development-stage andlisbtad enterprises, including major pharmaceutica biotechnology firms, which
are actively engaged in infectious disease andetaraccine research and development. These in€@uageell N.V (now part of J&J), Sanofi-
Aventis, Novartis, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc, MerdRfizer, and Medimmune, Inc., a wholly owned sdiasly of AstraZeneca, Inc. We may
also experience competition from companies thaefequired or may acquire technologies from comgzaniniversities and other research
institutions. As these companies develop theirrietthgies, they may develop proprietary technologibeh may materially and adversely
affect our business.

In addition, a number of companies are developnoglpcts to address the same diseases that wergediig. For example, Sanofi-
Aventis, Novartis, Inc., Medimmune, GlaxoSmithKIjr@SL (in collaboration with Merck), and others bBgwroducts or development programs
for influenza. Merck and GlaxoSmithKline have protuon the market for cervical cancer for prophigaXransgene/Roche have a therapeutic
cervical cancer product in Phase Il trials. Muclthef development for our HIV and malaria vaccirgelsding done by government and non-
government organizations such as the NIH and Bill&inda Gates Foundation.

We compete with companies that are developing DEWvdry technologies, such as viral delivery sydelipid-based systems, or
electroporation technology with an aim to carry ioutivo gene delivery for the treatment of varialiseases. Currently there are five key D
delivery technologies: viral, lipids, naked DNA €ige gun” and electroporation. All of these techg@s have shown promise, but they each
also have their unique obstacles to overcome. Weueeour electroporation system is strongly posiéid to succeed as the dominant delivery
method for DNA-based vaccines.

Viral DNA Delivery

This technology utilizes a virus as a carrier tbvée genetic material into target cells. The metli®very efficient for delivering vaccine
antigens and has the advantage of mimicking real wifection so that the recipient will mount ahd immune response against the vaccine.
The greatest limitation of the technology stemsnfigroblems with unwanted immune responses agdiastital vector, limiting its use to
patients who have not been previously exposedeawitial vector and making repeated administratidiicdlt. In addition, complexity and
safety concerns increase the cost of vaccines amglicate regulatory approval.

Ballistic DNA Delivery (Gene Gun)

This technology utilizes micron sized DN#vated gold particles that are shot into the skingicompressed gas. The method has ma
considerably over the last 15 years and has bemmrsto be an efficient method to deliver a numHterazcine antigens. Since the DNA is dry
coated, excellent stability of the vaccine can ti@eved. The method is limited to use in skin anty @ few micrograms of genetic material
be delivered each time. This may limit the utilitithe method for targets such as cancer whereehigbses of vaccine antigens and stronger T-
cell responses are needed.

Lipid DNA Delivery

A number of lipid formulations have been develofieat increase the effect of DNA vaccines. Thesekvbgreither increasing uptake of
the DNA into cells or by acting as an adjuvantrtalg the immune system. While there has been psmin this field, lipid delivery tends to be
less efficient than viral vectors and is hampengddncerns regarding toxicity and increased comiflex

“Naked” DNA Delivery

The simplest DNA delivery mode is the injection‘néked” plasmid DNA into target tissue, usually lgtal muscle. This method is safe
and economical but inefficient in terms of cellnséection, the process of transferring DNA intcedl across the outer cell membrane.
Unfortunately, it is the least effective way of
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delivering DNA since only an extremely small fracti(approximately one out of twenty million) of tB&A molecules are taken up by the
cells. While the method may have provided soméyfibr the field of gene therapy, a number of wal studies over the last decade have
shown that the method is inadequate for deliveDhbA vaccines into large animals and humans.

“Naked” DNA Delivery With Electroporation

When naked DNA injection is followed by electroptima of the target tissue, transfection is sigrifidy greater with resultant gene
expression generally enhanced a 1000-fold. Thiease makes many DNA vaccine candidates potentesdhible without unduly
compromising safety or cost.

In December 2004, the first patient was treatedgueir electroporation system to deliver a plasbitA-based therapeutic vaccine and
we have initiated, together with partners, addaildPhase | and Phase Il clinical trials using decteoporation technology to deliver preventive
and therapeutic synthetic vaccines. To date oensists have not observed any serious adversestattcan be attributed to the use of
electroporation in these clinical studies.

We believe that the greatest obstacle to makinthsyic vaccines a reality has been the lack of, sfiecient and economical delivery of
DNA plasmid constructs into target cells and tHattoporation may become the method of choicdfdA delivery into cells in many
applications.

There are other companies with electroporatiorl@dtial property and devices. We believe we hageificant competitive advantages
over other companies focused on electroporatiomidtiple reasons:

* We have an extensive history and experience inldpirgy the methods and devices that optimize tleeai®lectroporation in
conjunction with DNA-based agents. This experiemae been validated with multiple sets of interiradaom multiple clinical
studies assessing DNA-based immunotherapies amihescagainst cancers and infectious disease. Aegeith our partners and
collaborators, we have been the leader in estaigjgroot-of-principle of electroporatic-delivered synthetic vaccine

* We have a broad product line of electroporatiotrimsents designed to enable DNA delivery in tumorsscle, and skir

* We have been very proactive in filing for pateaswell as acquiring and licensing additional pisteto expand our global patent
estate

If any of our competitors develop products withiety or safety profiles significantly better thaur products, we may not be able to
commercialize our products, and sales of any ofcoummercialized products could be harmed. Somaiotompetitors and potential
competitors have substantially greater product ldgweent capabilities and financial, scientific, keting and human resources than we do.
Competitors may develop products earlier, obtail\Pprovals for products more rapidly, or developducts that are more effective than
those under development by us. We will seek to eamair technological capabilities to remain contpetj however, research and
development by others may render our technologigsarlucts obsolete or noncompetitive, or resuttéatments or cures superior to ours.

Our competitive position will be affected by theetse indications addressed by our product caedidatd those of our competitors, the
timing of market introduction for these productsidhe stage of development of other technologiesltiress these disease indications. For us
and our competitors, proprietary technologies abiéty to complete clinical trials on a timely limsind with the desired results, and the ability
to obtain timely regulatory approvals to marketsth@roduct candidates are likely to be signifieamhpetitive factors. Other important
competitive factors will include the efficacy, sifeease of use, reliability, availability and mriof products and the ability to fund operations
during the period between technological concepdioth commercial sales.
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The FDA and other regulatory agencies may expangcurequirements for public disclosure of DNA-badproduct development data,
which may harm our competitive position with foneignd United States companies developing DNA-bpseducts for similar indications.

Government Regulation
DNA Vaccine Product Regulation

Any pharmaceutical products we develop will requégulatory clearances prior to clinical trials auttlitional regulatory approvals prior
to commercialization. New gene-based products &acine or therapeutic applications are subjecktersive regulation by the FDA and
comparable agencies in other countries. The pree@datory requirements with which we will havectimply are uncertain at this time due to
the novelty of the gene-based products and indiestior uses that are currently under developn@untpotential products will be regulated
either as biological products or as drugs. In tingedl States, drugs are subject to regulation utideFederal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or
the FDC Act. Biological products, in addition toifg subject to provisions of the FDC Act, are regedl in the United States under the Public
Health Service Act. Both statutes and related igpris govern, among other things, testing, manufag, safety, efficacy, labeling, storage,
record keeping, advertising, and other promotigmnattices.

Obtaining FDA approval or comparable approval freimilar agencies in other countries is a costly tim&-consuming process.
Generally, FDA approval requires that preclinidaldses be conducted in the laboratory and in animadel systems to gain preliminary
information on efficacy and to identify any maj@afaty concerns. In the United States, the restilisese studies are submitted as a part of an
IND application which the FDA must review and allafore human clinical trials can start. The INplagation includes a detailed
description of the proposed clinical investigations

A company must submit an IND application or equéveilapplication in other countries for each propgs®duct and must conduct
clinical studies to demonstrate the safety ana&¢fy of the product necessary to obtain FDA approvaomparable approval from similar
agencies in other countries. For example, in thitedrStates, the FDA receives reports on the pssgoéeach phase of clinical testing and |
require the modification, suspension, or terminmatéclinical trials if an unwarranted risk is peeted to patients.

To obtain FDA approval prior to marketing a pharmatecal product in the United States typically riegsi several phases of clinical trials
to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the prbdandidate. Clinical trials are the means by Whggperimental treatments are tested in
humans, and are conducted following preclinicaings Clinical trials may be conducted within theitéd States or in foreign countries. If
clinical trials are conducted in foreign countrithe products under development as well as this i@ subject to regulations of the FDA
and/or its counterparts in the other countries.iUgpaccessful completion of clinical trials, approieamarket the treatment for a particular
patient population may be requested from the FD&h@United States and/or its counterparts in atbentries.

Clinical trials for therapeutic products are noriyalone in three phases. Phase | clinical triagstgpically conducted with a small num
of patients or healthy subjects to evaluate satiermine a safe dosage range, identify sidetsffaad, if possible, gain early evidence of
effectiveness. Phase Il clinical trials are conddatith a larger group of patients to evaluateaifeness of an investigational product for a
defined patient population, and to determine comstwrt-term side effects and risks associated thighidrug. Phase Ill clinical trials involve
large scale, multi-center, comparative trials @t conducted to evaluate the overall benefitnésitionship of the investigational product and
to provide an adequate basis for product labelimgome special cases where the efficacy testirgpwbduct may present a special challen
testing in humans, such as in the case of a vatcipeotect healthy humans from a life-threaterdigpase that is not a naturally occurring
threat, effectiveness testing may be required imals.
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After completion of clinical trials of a new prody&DA marketing approval must be obtained or eglgint approval in comparable
agencies in other countries. For the FDA, if theduict is regulated as a biologic, a Biologics LeApplication, or BLA, is required and if t
product is classified as a new drug, a New Druglidpfion, or NDA, is required. The NDA or BLA mustclude results of product
development activities, preclinical studies, ardicél trials in addition to detailed chemistry, mgiacturing and control information.

Applications submitted to the FDA are subject tauapredictable and potentially prolonged approvatpss. Despite good-faith
communication and collaboration between the apptiead the FDA during the development processi-ib& may ultimately decide, upon
final review of the data, that the application doessatisfy its criteria for approval or requigedditional product development or further
preclinical or clinical studies. Even if FDA regtday clearances are obtained, a marketed prodsctiect to continual review, and later
discovery of previously unknown problems or failtwmecomply with the applicable regulatory requirertsemay result in restrictions on the
marketing of a product or withdrawal of the prodfrotn the market as well as possible civil or crialisanctions.

Before marketing clearance for a product can barselg the facility in which the product is manufaetd must be inspected by the FDA
and must comply with cGMP regulations. In additiafier marketing clearance is secured, the manufagtfacility must be inspected
periodically for cGMP compliance by FDA inspectors.

In addition to the FDA requirements, the NIH hasbbshed guidelines for research involving humanejic materials, including
recombinant DNA molecules. The FDA cooperates énghforcement of these guidelines, which applylteeaombinant DNA research that is
conducted at facilities supported by the NIH, imithg proposals to conduct clinical research invavjene therapies. The NIH review of
clinical trial proposals and safety informatioraipublic process and often involves review and ayrdrby the Recombinant DNA Advisory
Committee, of the NIH.

Sponsors of clinical trials are required to registed report results for all controlled clinicaléstigations, other than Phase |
investigations, of a product subject to FDA regolat Trial registration may require public discloswf confidential commercial development
data resulting in the loss of competitive secnetich could be commercially detrimental.

Medical Device Manufacturing Regulation

In addition, we are subject to regulation as a wadievice manufacturer. We must comply with aetstrof manufacturing, product
development and quality regulations in order t@blke to distribute our electroporation devices caruially around the world. In Europe, we
must comply with the Medical Device Directives. Wave a Quality System certified by its internatiodatified Body to be in compliance
with the international Quality System Standard, 13@85, and meeting the Annex Il Quality System meguoents of the MDD. We completed
Annex Il Conformity Assessment procedures to alfomthe CE Mark of our electroporation devices.

In the United States, we are required to maintadilifies, equipment, processes and proceduresathah compliance with quality
systems regulations. Our systems have been coteirtecbe in compliance with these regulations @ndongoing operations are conducted
within these systems. Commercially distributed desiwithin the United States must be developedriiodmal design controls and be
submitted to the FDA for clearance or approval.délvelopment activity is performed according tarfat procedures to ensure compliance
with all design control regulations.

We employ modern manufacturing methods and contoabptimize performance and control costs. Intecagabilities and core
competencies are strategically determined to op&rour manufacturing efficiency. We utilize contramanufacturers for key operations, such
as clean room assembly and sterilization, whicmateeconomically conducted in-house. We outsosigeificant sub-assemblies, such as
populated printed circuit boards, for which capiejuirements or manufacturing volumes do notfisertical integration.
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Other Regulations

We also are subject to various federal, state aca laws, regulations, and recommendations rejdatirsafe working conditions,
laboratory and manufacturing practices, the expenial use of animals, and the use and disposazsrtous or potentially hazardous
substances, including radioactive compounds aretiitus disease agents, used in connection withesgiarch. The extent of government
regulation that might result from any future legtgn or administrative action cannot be accurapedicted.

Commercialization and Manufacturing

Because of the broad potential applications oftecinologies, we intend to develop and commere@alioducts both on our own and
through our collaborators and licensees. We interdkvelop and commercialize products in well-dedispecialty markets, such as infectious
diseases and cancer. Where appropriate, we interedyton strategic marketing and distributionaaites.

We believe our plasmids can be produced in commlegciantities through uniform methods of fermewtatand processing that are
applicable to all plasmids. We believe we will Hxeato obtain sufficient supplies of plasmids firfareseeable clinical investigations.

Relationship with VGX Intl

We acquired an equity interest in VGX Int'l in 200%s of December 31, 2011 we owned 16.1% of thetaotling capital stock of VGX
Int'l and VGX Int’l owned 294,360 shares of our coron stock. None of our current officers, directanrskey employees beneficially owns,
directly or indirectly, any securities of VGX Int'ln September 2010, Young Park, a member of V@XdrBoard of Directors, terminated his
employment with the Company as general counselPdrk currently serves as President and Chief EixecOfficer of VGX Int'l. In June
2011, Bryan Kim, a former member of VGX Int'I's Bwhof Directors and former President and Chief Exiee Officer of VGX Int'l,
terminated his employment with the Company as Wigesident of Asian Operations.

In 2008 we sold our manufacturing operations (idirig patent rights to certain manufacturing techgyg) to VGXI, Inc, a whollyewned
United States subsidiary of VGX Int'l. In connectiwith this transfer we entered into a Supply Agreat pursuant to which VGXI, Inc., a
cGMP contract manufacturer, produces and suppgie®NA plasmids for all of our research and clihicials. The price of the plasmids we
purchase from VGXI, Inc. is determined by us andXd/@t'l at the time of order placement or, with pegt to product supplied in connection
with a grant contract, based on the contractegimglided by the applicable agency. We agreed ai ¥&X Int’l and its subsidiary as our me
favored supplier for DNA plasmids and VGX Int'l aitd subsidiary agreed to treat us as their mastréd customer. Before we can
manufacture DNA plasmids on our own behalf or eegaghird party other than VGX Int’l or its subsidy to manufacture DNA plasmids for
us, we must first offer such manufacturing work/@X Int’l or its subsidiary.

We have also entered into license and collaboratgaements pursuant to which we have granted f&Kexclusive rights to certain «
our product candidates in certain jurisdictions: &mample, VGX Int’l has exclusive rights in couasrin Asia including Korea to our VGX-
3400 for treatment of the avian flu and our hegaBtand Hepatitis C programs. In exchange forah@ghts, VGX Intl shares the developme
costs for some of our product candidates.

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201f;cegnized revenue from VGX Int’l of $411,000 arg&8$,000, respectively, which
consisted of licensing fees, device lease and déesr Operating expenses related to VGX Int'lthar years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010 were $5.3 million and $3.4 million, respediyeelating to biologics manufacturing. At Decemi3&, 2011 and 2010 we had an accounts
receivable balance of $20,000 and $72,000, resggtifrom VGX Int'l and its subsidiaries.
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Intellectual Property

Patents and other proprietary rights are essdnt@lr business. We file patent applications tdgmbour technologies, inventions and
improvements to our inventions that we considerdrtgmt to the development of our business. Wefditgoatent registration extensively in the
United States and in key foreign markets. Althooghpatent filings include claims covering varidaatures of our products and product
candidates, including composition, methods of maciufre and use, our patents do not provide usaeitiplete protection, or guarantee,
against the development of competing productsdtiteon, some of our know-how and technology arepadentable. We thus also rely upon
trade secrets, knoWwew, continuing technological innovations and lisiey opportunities to develop and maintain our cetitipe position. We
also require employees, consultants, advisors alaborators to enter into confidentiality agreemsebut such agreements may provide
limited protection for our trade secrets, know-hmwother proprietary information.

Our intellectual property portfolio covers our prigpary technologies, including electroporationikaly and vaccine related technolog
As of March 8, 2012, our patent portfolio includeeer 89 issued United States patents and 259 igsueidn counterpart patents.

Key vaccine related technology patents and puldigfzgent applications include the following:
» European patent no. 1809336B1, entit“Growth Hormone Releasing Hormone (GHRH) EnhancexMation Respon”
» US Pat No. 7,846,720, entitle"Optimized High Yield Synthetic Plasm”

» International publication WO 08/014521, entitletinproved Vaccines and Methods for Using the Saméjth includes HCV,
HPV, influenza, HIV, and cancer (hnTERT) SynC® DNA.

» International publication WO2009/099716, entitl“Novel Vaccines Against Multiple Subtypes Of Denyliis.”
* International publication WO2009/073330, entitl“Novel Vaccines Against Multiple Subtypes Of InflzanVirus”
* International publication WO2010/0050939, entitl'IMPROVED HCV VACCINES AND METHODS FOR USING THE SAE’

* International publication WO2010/044919, entitl8IMALLPOX DNA VACCINE AND THE ANTIGENS THEREIN THAT
ELICIT AN IMMUNE RESPONSF

» European patent EU1976871, entitled, “VACCINES ANIMUNOTHERAPEUTICS USING CODON OPTIMIZED IL-15 AND
METHODS FOR USING THE SAM”

e US Pat No. 7173116, entitle*NUCLEIC ACID FORMULATIONS FOR GENE DELIVERY AND MEHODS OF USI

Key electroporation related patents covering rasfdeeld strengths include the following:
» US Pat No. 7,245,963, entitle”Electrode assembly for const-current electroporation and "
» US Pat No. 7,664,545, entitle’Electrode assembly for const-current electroporation and "
» US Pat No. 5,273,525 issued December 28, 1993reexpD13’
e US Pat No. 6,110,161 issued August 29, 2
» US Pat No. 6,261,281 issued July 17, 2
» US Pat No. 6,958,060 issued October 25, 2
» US Pat No. 6,939,862 issued September 6, :
* European patent No. 999867 issued September 8,
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If we fail to protect our intellectual property hig adequately our competitors might gain accessitdechnology and our business wa
thus be harmed. In addition, defending our intéllacproperty rights might entail significant exgenAny of our intellectual property rights
may be challenged by others or invalidated throagyministrative processes or litigation throughabarts. In addition, our patents, or any
other patents that may be issued to us in thedutaay not provide us with any competitive advaesa@r may be challenged by third parties.
Furthermore, legal standards relating to the viglidinforceability and scope of protection of iteetual property rights are uncertain. Effective
patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret gtiotemay not be available to us in each countrgngtwe operate. The laws of some foreign
countries may not be as protective of intellechraberty rights as those in the United States,domdestic and international mechanisms for
enforcement of intellectual property rights in taa®untries may be inadequate. Accordingly, despiteefforts, we may be unable to prevent
third parties from infringing upon or misappropitiat our intellectual property or otherwise gainexgress to our technology. We may be
required to expend significant resources to moratal protect our intellectual property rights. Waynmnitiate claims or litigation against third
parties for infringement of our proprietary riglsto establish the validity of our proprietaryhig. Any such litigation, whether or not it is
ultimately resolved in our favor, would result igrsificant expense to us and divert the efforteaf technical and management personnel.

There may be rights we are not aware of, includipglications that have been filed but not publistied, when issued, could be asserted
against us. These third-parties could bring claaginst us, and that would cause us to incur sotist@xpenses and, if successful against us,
could cause us to pay substantial damages. Fuitlagpatent infringement suit were brought agairsstwe could be forced to stop or delay
research, development, manufacturing or saleseoptbduct or biologic drug candidate that is thiaiestt of the suit. As a result of patent
infringement claims, or in order to avoid potentikEims, we may choose or be required to seekeasie from the third-party. These licenses
may not be available on acceptable terms, or aEaéin if we are able to obtain a license, thenkeewould likely obligate us to pay license f
or royalties or both, and the rights granted tonight be non-exclusive, which could result in oampetitors gaining access to the same
intellectual property. Ultimately, we could be peeted from commercializing a product, or be fortiedease some aspect of our business
operations, if, as a result of actual or threatgregdnt infringement claims, we are unable to einterlicenses on acceptable terms. All of the
issues described above could also impact our anitabrs, which would also impact the success ottiboration and therefore us.

Important legal issues remain to be resolved dise@xtent and scope of available patent protedtiphiologic products, including
vaccines, and processes in the United States &ed iotportant markets outside the United Statesh a8 Europe and Japan. Foreign markets
may not provide the same level of patent protectiprovided under the United States patent systésmecognize that litigation or
administrative proceedings may be necessary tordete the validity and scope of certain of our atiters’ proprietary rights. Any such
litigation or proceeding may result in a signifit@aommitment of resources in the future and coaldd us to interrupt our operations, redesign
our products or processes, or negotiate a licegreement, all of which would adversely affect cewanue. Furthermore, changes in, or
different interpretations of, patent laws in theitdd States and other countries may result in pd&ers that allow others to use our discoveries
or develop and commercialize our products.

We cannot guarantee that the patents we obtalmeaurtpatented technology we hold will afford usigigant commercial protection.
Significant Customers and Research and Development
During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2@ldevived 80% and 66% of our revenue from the NIAE3pectively.

Since our inception, virtually all of our activiidnave consisted of research and developmentefileted to developing our
electroporation technologies and synthetic vacciResearch and development expense
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consists of expenses incurred in performing reseanc development activities including salaries laawefits, facilities and other overhead
expenses, clinical trials, contract services aheémobutside expenses. Our research and develomxpanse was $20.0 million in 2011 and
$13.3 million in 2010.

Corporate History and Headquarters

We were originally incorporated on June 29, 198®iex the laws of California as Biotechnologies &Esmental Research, Inc. The
entity changed its corporate name to BTX, Inc. @t@&nber 10, 1991, and Genetronics, Inc. on Feb&jak994. On April 14, 1994, the board
of directors approved a share exchange agreem#émGensolidated United Safety Technologies Inc.September 2, 1997, we listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange as Genetronics Biomediahl Wwhder the laws of British Columbia, Canada, Whitolly owned Genetronics, Inc. |
June 15, 2001, we completed a change in jurisdiafancorporation from British Columbia, Canadathe state of Delaware and became
Genetronics Biomedical Corporation, a Delaware ation. On January 17, 2003, Genetronics volugtdg-listed from the Toronto Stock
Exchange. On March 31, 2005, our corporate nameggdthfrom Genetronics Biomedical Corporation tovinBiomedical Corporation. On
June 1, 2009, we completed the acquisition of V@&rfaceuticals, Inc. (“WVGX”), a privately-held coary, pursuant to the terms of an
Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Meageddecember 5, 2008, as further amended on MErcB009 by and among Inovio,
Inovio’s wholly-owned subsidiary Inovio AcquisitiphLC and VGX (the “Merger”). Upon the closing dfe Merger, Inovio Acquisition, LLC
assumed all of VG§ business, properties and assets and assumétigistions, changed its name to VGX Pharmaceutitdl€, and remain
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, utilizagingle, integrated management team with IndmMay 14, 2010, the entity changed
its corporate name to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, \We.conduct our business through our United Statesilyvowned subsidiaries, Genetronics,
Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, LLC.

Our principal executive offices are located at 13&ntry Parkway West, Blue Bell, Pennsylvania 19422 the telephone number is
(267) 440-4200.

Available Information

Our Internet website addressaigvw.inovio.com We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quartesports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, Forms 3, 4, and 5 filed ondiedf directors and executive officers, and anyadments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchangg @vailable free of charge on our
website as soon as reasonably practicable aft@leetronically file such material with, or furnigho, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC. You can also read and aogymaterials we file with the SEC at the SEC’sIRUReference Room at 100 F Street,
NE, Washington, DC 20549. You can obtain additiongdrmation about the operation of the Public Refiee Room by calling the SEC &
800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains aerhdt site (www.sec.gov) that contains reportsxypand information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electroficavith the SEC, including us.

Information regarding our corporate governancduifiog the charters of our audit committee, our im@tion and corporate governance
committee and our compensation committee, our @b@isiness Conduct and Ethics, our Corporate Gmrere Policy and information for
contacting our board of directors is available anloternet site (www.inovio.com). We will providgay of the foregoing information without
charge upon request to Peter Kies, 11494 SorrealleyRoad Suite A, San Diego, CA, 92121.

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics include€ode of Ethics applicable to our Chief Execut®ficer and Chief Financial
Officer, who also serves as our principal accougntifficer. Any amendments to or waivers of the CofiEthics will be promptly posted on ¢
Internet site (www.inovio.com) or in a report onrffo8-K, as required by applicable law.
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Employees

As of February 21, 2012, we employed 47 people futldéime basis and 6 people under consulting praject employment agreements.
Of the combined total, 34 were in product reseandtich includes research and development, quadisyignce, clinical, engineering, and
manufacturing, and 19 were in general and admatistr, which includes corporate development, infation technology, legal, investor
relations, finance, and corporate administratioon&of our employees are subject to collective &iaigg agreements.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following factoegarding information included in this Annual Reppdhe risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only ones we face.tidddil risks and uncertainties not presently kndeiis or that we currently deem
immaterial also may impair our business operatidhany of the following risks actually occur, dousiness, financial condition and operating
results could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have incurred losses since inception, expedhtur significant net losses in the foreseeable diné and may never become profitable.

We have experienced significant operating lossefate; as of December 31, 2011 our accumulateditefis approximately
$210.1 million. We have generated limited revenpeisarily consisting of license and grant reverarg] interest income. We expect to
continue to incur substantial additional operatogses for at least the next several years as wanad our clinical trials and research and
development activities. We may never successfullmmercialize our vaccine product candidates ortedporation-based synthetic vaccine
delivery technology and thus may never have anyifsggnt future revenues or achieve and sustaifitptility.

We have limited sources of revenue and our sucdssiependent on our ability to develop our vaccined other product candidates and
electroporation equipment.

We do not sell any products and may not have amgrgiroducts commercially available for severalrgge at all. Our ability to generate
future revenues depends heavily on our success in:

» developing and securing United States and/or fareggulatory approvals for our product candidateduding securing regulatory
approval for conducting clinical trials with prodwandidates

» developing our electroporati-based DNA delivery technology; a
« commercializing any products for which we receippraval from the FDA and foreign regulatory autkies.

Our electroporation equipment and product cand&ail require extensive additional clinical studyd evaluation, regulatory approval
in multiple jurisdictions, substantial investmentasignificant marketing efforts before we genegatg revenues from product sales. We are
not permitted to market or promote our electropore¢équipment and product candidates before weuwecegulatory approval from the FDA
or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. If deenot receive regulatory approval for and sudodigscommercialize any products, we will
not generate any revenues from sales of electripnraquipment and products, and we may not betaldentinue our operations.

None of our human vaccine product candidates hagbeapproved for sale, and we may not develop conuially successful vaccin
products.

Our human vaccine programs are in the early stafyessearch and development, and currently incliadeine product candidates in
discovery, pre-clinical studies and Phase | ardliical studies. There are limited data regardhmegyefficiency of synthetic vaccines compared
with conventional vaccines, and we must conducthstsntial amount of additional research and dgretnt before any regulatory authority
will approve any of our vaccine product candidaldse success of our efforts to develop and commalzeiour vaccine product candidates
could fail for a number of reasons. For examplecagld experience delays in product developmentdinital trials. Our vaccine product
candidates could be found to be ineffective or f;ysar otherwise fail to receive necessary regujattearances. The products, if safe and
effective, could be difficult to manufacture onaage scale or uneconomical to market, or our congpgicould develop superior vaccine
products more quickly and efficiently or more effeely market their competing products.
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In addition, adverse events, or the perceptiordetese events, relating to vaccines and vaccineatgltechnologies may negatively
impact our ability to develop commercially successhiccine products. For example, pharmaceuticalpamies have been subject to claims
that the use of some pediatric vaccines has capessdnal injuries, including brain damage, cemeal/ous system damage and autism. These
and other claims may influence public perceptiothefuse of vaccine products and could result éaigr governmental regulation, stricter
labeling requirements and potential regulatory yiela the testing or approval of our potential proid.

We will need substantial additional capital to déee our synthetic vaccine and electroporation deliy technology and other product
candidates and for our future operations.

Conducting the costly and time consuming reseamahclinical and clinical testing necessary to obtagulatory approvals and bring our
vaccine delivery technology and product candidtdeaarket will require a commitment of substantiedds in excess of our current capital.
Our future capital requirements will depend on méagfors, including, among others:

» the progress of our current and new product devedop programs

» the progress, scope and results of ou-clinical and clinical testinc

» the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals

» the cost of manufacturing our products and prodantlidates

» the cost of prosecuting, enforcing and defendirgresg patent infringement claims and other intéllabproperty rights
» competing technological and market developments;

» our ability and costs to establish and maintaifatarative and other arrangements with third patibeassist in potentially bringir
our products to marke

Additional financing may not be available on acede terms, or at all. Domestic and internatiorgiital markets have been
experiencing heightened volatility and turmoil, rimakit more difficult to raise capital through tiesuance of equity securities. Furthermore, as
a result of the recent volatility in the capital nkets, the cost and availability of credit has baed may continue to be adversely affected by
illiquid credit markets and wider credit spreadsen€ern about the stability of the markets geneiallgt the strength of counterparties
specifically has led many lenders and institutidnaestors to reduce, and in some cases ceaseumey funding to borrowers. To the extent
we are able to raise additional capital throughstile of equity securities or we issue securitieinnection with another transaction, the
ownership position of existing stockholders coutdsbibstantially diluted. If additional funds arésea through the issuance of preferred stock
or debt securities, these securities are likelyaee rights, preferences and privileges senioutccommon stock and may involve significant
fees, interest expense, restrictive covenantstandranting of security interests in our assetsctbhting interest rates could also increase the
costs of any debt financing we may obtain. Raisiayital through a licensing or other transactiorolving our intellectual property could
require us to relinquish valuable intellectual pedp rights and thereby sacrifice long-term valoeghort-term liquidity.

Our failure to successfully address ongoing liqyidequirements would have a substantially negathygact on our business. If we are
unable to obtain additional capital on acceptadtms when needed, we may need to take actionadhratsely affect our business, our stock
price and our ability to achieve cash flow in théufe, including possibly surrendering our rigltsome technologies or product opportunities,
delaying our clinical trials or curtailing or ceagioperations.
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We depend upon key personnel who may terminatertbaiployment with us at any time and we may needtiite additional qualified
personnel in order to obtain financing, pursue calborations or develop or market our product candids.

The success of our business strategy will depemadsignificant degree upon the continued serviéé®wp management, technical and
scientific personnel and our ability to attract aethin additional qualified personnel and managgeciuding personnel with expertise in
clinical trials, government regulation, manufaatgri marketing and other areas. Competition forifj@dlpersonnel is intense among
companies, academic institutions and other orgéniza If we are unable to attract and retain kegspnnel and advisors, it may negatively
affect our ability to successfully develop, testimenercialize and market our products and produndicates.

We face intense and increasing competition and marfiyour competitors have significantly greater raswes and experience.

Many other companies are pursuing other formseattnent or prevention for diseases that we taFgetexample, many of our
competitors are working on developing and testisNH, HLN1 and universal influenza vaccines, aneésd\H1N1 vaccines developed by our
competitors have been approved for human use. @upetitors and potential competitors include lggbarmaceutical and medical device
companies and more established biotechnology coiepaihese companies have significantly greatanfiial and other resources and greater
expertise than us in research and developmentrisggovernment contracts and grants to suppoeares and development efforts,
manufacturing, pre-clinical and clinical testindptaining regulatory approvals and marketing. Th&é/make it easier for them to respond more
quickly than us to new or changing opportunitieshhologies or market needs. Many of these conopetiiperate large, well-funded research
and development programs and have significant mtsdapproved or in development. Small companies at&y prove to be significant
competitors, particularly through collaborativeaamgements with large pharmaceutical companiesrougfin acquisition or development of
intellectual property rights. Our potential compats also include academic institutions, governmlesgencies and other public and private
research organizations that conduct research,mekt protection and establish collaborative jeaments for product and clinical
development and marketing. Research and developmyesthers may seek to render our technologiesamyzts obsolete or noncompetitive.

If we lose or are unable to secure collaboratorspartners, or if our collaborators or partners dooh apply adequate resources to th
relationships with us, our product development apdtential for profitability will suffer.

We have entered into, or may enter into, distrimytco-promotion, partnership, sponsored researdlother arrangements for
development, manufacturing, sales, marketing ahdratommercialization activities relating to ouogucts. For example, in the past we have
entered into a license and collaboration agreemvéhtMerck. The amount and timing of resources egapby our collaborators are largely
outside of our control.

Wyeth terminated one of our existing collaboratigneements. If any of our other current or futwolaborators breaches or terminates
our agreements, or fails to conduct our collabeesatictivities in a timely manner, our commercidii@a of products could be diminished or
blocked completely. It is possible that collaboratwill change their strategic focus, pursue aléue technologies or develop alternative
products, either on their own or in collaboratiomhvothers. Further, we may be forced to fund paogs that were previously funded by our
collaborators, and we may not have, or be abletess, the necessary funding. The effectivenesargbartners, if any, in marketing our
products will also affect our revenues and earnings

We desire to enter into new collaborative agreemdtdwever, we may not be able to successfully tiggoany additional collaborative
arrangements and, if established, these relatipashay not be scientifically or commercially sustak Our success in the future depends in
part on our ability to enter into agreements witheo highlyregarded organizations. This can be difficult duenternal and external constrai
placed on these organizations. Some organizati@yshave insufficient administrative and related
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infrastructure to enable collaborations with maoynpanies at once, which can extend the time itstédkelevelop, negotiate and implement a
collaboration. Once news of discussions regardogsible collaborations are known in the medical mamity, regardless of whether the news
is accurate, failure to announce a collaborative@ment or the entity’s announcement of a collaimravith another entity may result in
adverse speculation about us, resulting in haroutaeputation and our business.

Disputes could also arise between us and our egisti future collaborators, as to a variety of ewattincluding financial and intellectual
property matters or other obligations under oueagrents. These disputes could be both expensivénagtonsuming and may result in
delays in the development and commercializatioouwfproducts or could damage our relationship wittollaborator.

A small number of licensing partners and governmegsantracts account for a substantial portion of ouevenue.

We currently derive, and in the past we have ddrigesignificant portion of our revenue from a liedi number of licensing partners and
government grants and contracts. For example, gidinia year ended December 31, 2011, the NIAID had®ATH Malaria Vaccine Initiative
(MVI) accounted for approximately 80% and 8%, of oansolidated revenue, respectively. If we faisign additional future contracts with
major licensing partners and the government, raract is delayed or deferred, or if an existingtecact expires or is cancelled and we fail to
replace the contract with new business, our reveraidd be adversely affected.

We have agreements with government agencies, whighsubject to termination and uncertain future fuing.

We have entered into agreements with governmemicéege such as the NIAID and the US Army, and wenid to continue entering into
these agreements in the future. Our business tgihadependent on the continued performance bgéhgovernment agencies of their
responsibilities under these agreements, includidegjuate continued funding of the agencies and phegrams. We have no control over the
resources and funding that government agenciesdengte to these agreements, which may be subjertrtoal renewal and which generally
may be terminated by the government agencies afirzey

Government agencies may fail to perform their resfalities under these agreements, which may cthesa to be terminated by the
government agencies. In addition, we may fail tdgren our responsibilities under these agreeméwiggy of our government agreements are
subject to audits, which may occur several yeaes #fie period to which the audit relates. If aditidentifies significant unallowable costs,
could incur a material charge to our earnings ducgion in our cash position. As a result, we mayhsuccessful entering, or ineligible to
enter, into future government agreements.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate sidi@antly.

We expect our operating results to be subject totguy fluctuations. Our net loss and other opegatesults will be affected by
numerous factors, including:

» variations in the level of expenses related toadectroporation equipment, product candidates mréudevelopment progran
* expenses related to corporate transactions, inguaties not fully complete:

» addition or termination of clinical trials or fumj support

» any intellectual property infringement lawsuit itisgh we may become involve

» any legal claims that may be asserted against asyof our officers

» regulatory developments affecting our electroporaquipment and product candidates or those of@upetitors
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» our execution of any collaborative, licensing aniar arrangements, and the timing of payments \ag make or receive und
these arrangements; a

« if any of our products receives regulatory approtred levels of underlying demand for our produ

If our quarterly operating results fall below thepectations of investors or securities analysts pitice of our common stock could
decline substantially. Furthermore, any quartddgtfiations in our operating results may, in twanise the price of our stock to fluctuate
substantially. We believe that quarterly comparssohour financial results are not necessarily rivegfnl and should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future performance.

If we are unable to obtain FDA approval of our prodts, we will not be able to commercialize thentlie United States.

We need FDA approval prior to marketing our elgatm@tion equipment and products in the United Stdteve fail to obtain FDA
approval to market our electroporation equipment product candidates, we will be unable to sellmaducts in the United States, which will
significantly impair our ability to generate anyweaues.

This regulatory review and approval process, wincludes evaluation of pre-clinical studies andickl trials of our products as well as
the evaluation of our manufacturing processes amdhird-party contract manufacturers’ facilitiésJengthy, expensive and uncertain. To
receive approval, we must, among other things, detnate with substantial evidence from wadhtrolled clinical trials that our electroporat
equipment and product candidates are both safeffective for each indication for which approvakizught. Satisfaction of the approval
requirements typically takes several years anditie needed to satisfy them may vary substantibged on the type, complexity and novelty
of the product. We do not know if or when we migiteive regulatory approvals for our electroporatgquipment and any of our product
candidates currently under development. Moreover,a@provals that we obtain may not cover all @f ¢hinical indications for which we are
seeking approval, or could contain significant tations in the form of narrow indications, warningsecautions or contra-indications with
respect to conditions of use. In such event, oilitato generate revenues from such products waeldreatly reduced and our business would
be harmed.

The FDA has substantial discretion in the apprgvatess and may either refuse to consider ouragifun for substantive review or m
form the opinion after review of our data that application is insufficient to allow approval ofroelectroporation equipment and product
candidates. If the FDA does not consider or appoaweapplication, it may require that we condudaitidnal clinical, pre-clinical or
manufacturing validation studies and submit thaa dieefore it will reconsider our application. Dedirg on the extent of these or any other
studies, approval of any applications that we stibmaly be delayed by several years, or may requite expend more resources than we have
available. It is also possible that additional gtgdif performed and completed, may not be suégkssconsidered sufficient by the FDA for
approval or even to make our applications appradbbny of these outcomes occur, we may be fotocedbandon one or more of our
applications for approval, which might significgntiarm our business and prospects.

It is possible that none of our products or anydpct we may seek to develop in the future will evetain the appropriate regulatory
approvals necessary for us or our collaboratoc®tomence product sales. Any delay in obtainingroinability to obtain, applicable
regulatory approvals would prevent us from comnadizing our products, generating revenues and aittgeand sustaining profitability.

Clinical trials involve a lengthy and expensive gress with an uncertain outcome, and results of éarkstudies and trials may not be
predictive of future trial results

Clinical testing is expensive and can take manysygacomplete, and its outcome is uncertain. Faib@n occur at any time during the
clinical trial process. The results of pre-clinistlidies and early clinical trials of our produetay not be predictive of the results of later-stage
clinical trials. Results from one study may not be
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reflected or supported by the results of similad&ts. Results of an animal study may not be indieaf results achievable in human studies.
Human-use equipment and product candidates indtdges of clinical trials may fail to show the ided safety and efficacy traits despite
having progressed through pre-clinical studiesiaitidl clinical testing. The time required to olstapproval by the FDA and similar foreign
authorities is unpredictable but typically takesoimgiears following the commencement of clinicalsj depending upon numerous factors. In
addition, approval policies, regulations, or theetyand amount of clinical data necessary to ggincayal may change. We have not obtained
regulatory approval for any human-use products.

Our products could fail to complete the clinicéltiprocess for many reasons, including the folloyvi

* we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaofitine FDA or comparable foreign regulatory autties that our electroporation
equipment and a product candidate are safe anctigffidor any indication

» the results of clinical trials may not meet thedkeof statistical significance required by the FDAcomparable foreign regulatory
authorities for approva

» the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authositieay disagree with the design or implementatioounfclinical trials;
* we may not be successful in enrolling a sufficiemtnber of participants in clinical trial

* we may be unable to demonstrate that our electatiporequipment and a product candidate’s clirecal other benefits outweigh
its safety risks

* we may be unable to demonstrate that our electatiporequipment and a product candidate preserdashemtage over existir
therapies, or over placebo in any indications forclv the FDA requires a place-controlled trial;

» the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authositieay disagree with our interpretation of data fifme-clinical studies or clinici
trials;

» the data collected from clinical trials of our puntl candidates may not be sufficient to supporsstitamission of a new drug
application or other submission or to obtain regurlaapproval in the United States or elsewh

» the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authositieay fail to approve the manufacturing processéaailities of us or thir-
party manufacturers with which we or our collaboratcontract for clinical and commercial suppligsd

» the approval policies or regulations of the FDAcomparable foreign regulatory authorities may gigantly change in a mann
rendering our clinical data insufficient for appab\

Delays in the commencement or completion of clirlitasting could result in increased costs to us afelay or limit our ability to generat
revenues.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinieating could significantly affect our productvééopment costs. We do not know
whether planned clinical trials will begin on timebe completed on schedule, if at all. In additimmgoing clinical trials may not be completed
on schedule, or at all. The commencement and cdimplef clinical trials can be delayed for a numbéreasons, including delays related to:

» obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical;
» adverse results from third party clinical trialsatving gene based therapies and the regulatopores theretc

* reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prtigpe€ROs and trial sites, the terms of which carsbbject to extensive
negotiation and may vary significantly among diéfer CROs and trial site
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» future bans or stricter standards imposed on gasetherapy clinical trial
» manufacturing sufficient quantities of our electmogtion equipment and product candidates for usdinical trials;
« obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, appabto conduct a clinical trial at a prospectivies

» slower than expected recruitment and enrollmeipiatiEnts to participate in clinical trials for ariy of reasons, including
competition from other clinical trial programs f@imilar indications

» conducting clinical trials with sites internatiolyatiue to regulatory approvals and meeting intéomai standards

» retaining patients who have initiated a clinic@ltbut may be prone to withdraw due to side effédaim the therapy, lack
efficacy or personal issues, or who are lost tthierrfollow-up; and

» collecting, reviewing and analyzing our clinicahtrdata.

Clinical trials may also be delayed as a resuirobiguous or negative interim results. In addite)inical trial may be suspended or
terminated by us, the FDA, the IRB overseeing theaal trial at issue, any of our clinical triatas with respect to that site, or other regulatory
authorities due to a number of factors, including:

» failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordangith regulatory requirements or our clinical prodts;

» inspection of the clinical trial operations or tréites by the FDA or other regulatory authoritiesulting in the imposition of a
clinical hold,;

» unforeseen safety issues; ¢
» lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicillt

If we experience delays in completion of, or if teeminate, any of our clinical trials, the commatgrospects for our electroporation
equipment and our product candidates may be haamedur ability to generate product revenues vélbelayed. In addition, many of the
factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the cenm@ment or completion of clinical trials may aldiimately lead to the denial of regulatory
approval of a product candidate. Further, delaythéncommencement or completion of clinical trimlay adversely affect the trading price of
our common stock.

We and our collaborators rely on third parties torduct our clinical trials. If these third partieslo not successfully carry out their
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, wd aur collaborators may not be able to obtain régtory approval for or commercialize
our product candidates.

We and our collaborators have entered into agreeswéth CROs to provide monitors for and to mandgga for our on-going clinical
programs. We and the CROs conducting clinicaldriat our electroporation equipment and productigiates are required to comply with
current good clinical practices, or GCPs, regutatiand guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of products in clinical development. The
FDA enforces GCPs through periodic inspectionsiaf $ponsors, principal investigators and trigdsi If we or the CROs conducting clinical
trials of our product candidates fail to complytwétpplicable GCPs, the clinical data generatetiérctinical trials may be deemed unreliable
and the FDA may require additional clinical triilsfore approving any marketing applications.

If any relationships with CROs terminate, we or ocollaborators may not be able to enter into areaments with alternative CROSs. In
addition, these third-party CROs are not our emgday and we cannot control whether or not they tdemafficient time and resources to our
on-going clinical programs or perform trials eféiotly. These CROs may also have relationships etlier commercial entities, including our
competitors, for whom they may also be conductiimgaal studies or other drug development actigitiwhich could harm our competitive
position. If CROs do not successfully carry outitisentractual duties or obligations
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or meet expected deadlines, if they need to beceql or if the quality or accuracy of the clinidata they obtain is compromised due to the
failure to adhere to our clinical protocols, regatg requirements, or for other reasons, our ddihidals may be extended, delayed or
terminated, and we may not be able to obtain régulapproval for or successfully commercialize product candidates. As a result, our
financial results and the commercial prospect®torproduct candidates would be harmed, our castkléncrease and our ability to generate
revenues could be delayed. Cost overruns by outispvith our CROs may significantly increase openses.

Even if our products receive regulatory approvatety may still face future development and regulatafifficulties.

Even if United States regulatory approval is ols#dinthe FDA may still impose significant restrictsoon a product’s indicated uses or
marketing or impose ongoing requirements for paddiptcostly post-approval studies. This governnaéoversight may be particularly strict
with respect to gene based therapies. Our prodititalso be subject to ongoing FDA requirementseaing the labeling, packaging, storage,
advertising, promotion, recordkeeping and submissicsafety and other post-market information. ddition, manufacturers of drug products
and their facilities are subject to continual rewignd periodic inspections by the FDA and otheulaigry authorities for compliance with
current good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, lagns. If we or a regulatory agency discover pyasly unknown problems with a
product, such as adverse events of unanticipatestiseor frequency, or problems with the facilihere the product is manufactured, a
regulatory agency may impose restrictions on thadpct, the manufacturer or us, including requinvithdrawal of the product from the
market or suspension of manufacturing. If we, aedpct candidates or the manufacturing facilit@sdur product candidates fail to comply
with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulasmgency may:

* issue Warning Letters or untitled lette

» impose civil or criminal penaltie

e suspend regulatory approv

» suspend any ongoing clinical tria

» refuse to approve pending applications or supplésnenapplications filed by u

e impose restrictions on operations, including costiyv manufacturing requirements;
» seize or detain products or require us to initeapgoduct recall

Even if our products receive regulatory approvalihe United States, we may never receive approvaloonmercialize our products outsic
of the United States.

In order to market any electroporation equipmert groduct candidates outside of the United Statesnust establish and comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements oérotiountries regarding safety and efficacy. Appt@vacedures vary among countries and
can involve additional product testing and addiicexdministrative review periods. The time require@btain approval in other countries
might differ from that required to obtain FDA appab. The regulatory approval process in other coesiimay include all of the risks detailed
above regarding FDA approval in the United Statewell as other risks. Regulatory approval in omentry does not ensure regulatory
approval in another, but a failure or delay in atitey regulatory approval in one country may haveegative effect on the regulatory proces
others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval imeptcountries or any delay or setback in obtaisingh approval could have the same adverse
effects detailed above regarding FDA approval énlthmited States. Such effects include the riskisdbaproduct candidates may not be
approved for all indications requested, which cdimfdt the uses of our product candidates and leaveadverse effect on their commercial
potential or require costly, post-marketing follap-studies.
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We face potential product liability exposure and successful claims are brought against us, we niagur substantial liability.

The use of our electroporation equipment and syictiraccine candidates in clinical trials and takesof any products for which we
obtain marketing approval expose us to the riggrotluct liability claims. Product liability clainmight be brought against us by consumers,
health care providers, pharmaceutical companieshars selling or otherwise coming into contactwagtr products. For example,
pharmaceutical companies have been subject to €ldiat the use of some pediatric vaccines has dquessonal injuries, including brain
damage, central nervous system damage and autishth@se companies have incurred material costefamd these claims. If we cannot
successfully defend ourselves against productliiglociaims, we could incur substantial liabilitids addition, regardless of merit or eventual
outcome, product liability claims may result in:

» decreased demand for our product candid:

» impairment of our business reputati

» withdrawal of clinical trial participant:

e costs of related litigatior

» distraction of manageme's attention from our primary busine
» substantial monetary awards to patients or otlemelnts;

* loss of revenues; ar

» inability to commercialize our product

We have obtained product liability insurance cogerfor our clinical trials, but our insurance cage may not be sufficient to reimburse
us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Mereavsurance coverage is becoming increasinglgresipe, and, in the future, we may not
be able to maintain insurance coverage at a rebiopast or in sufficient amounts to protect usiegfdosses due to liability. On occasion,
large judgments have been awarded in class a@wsuliits based on products that had unanticipatedesfects. A successful product liability
claim or series of claims brought against us ceoaldse our stock price to decline and, if judgmertsed our insurance coverage, could
adversely affect our business.

We currently have no marketing and sales organipstiand have no experience in marketing productswié are unable to establish
marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreents with third parties to market and sell ourqalucts, we may not be able to generate
product revenues

We currently do not have a sales organizationtfemharketing, sales and distribution of our elgmtration equipment and product
candidates. In order to commercialize any prodwetesmust build our marketing, sales, distributio@nagerial and other non-technical
capabilities or make arrangements with third partieperform these services. We contemplate eshaid our own sales force or seeking third-
party partners to sell our products. The establesttrand development of our own sales force to nankg products we may develop will be
expensive and time consuming and could delay aogymt launch, and we may not be able to succegsfallelop this capability. We will also
have to compete with other pharmaceutical and diwtelogy companies to recruit, hire, train andiretaarketing and sales personnel. To the
extent we rely on third parties to commercialize approved products, if any, we will receive lowevenues than if we commercialized these
products ourselves. In addition, we may have latl@o control over the sales efforts of third jearinvolved in our commercialization efforts.
In the event we are unable to develop our own ntigwdse@nd sales force or collaborate with a thirdipanarketing and sales organization, we
would not be able to commercialize our product idates which would negatively impact our abilitygenerate product revenues.

If any of our products for which we receive regutaty approval does not achieve broad market accep&rhe revenues that we gener:
from their sales will be limited

The commercial success of our electroporation eqgeip and product candidates for which we obtairketarg approval from the FDA
or other regulatory authorities will depend upoa #tceptance of these
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products by both the medical community and patemulation. Coverage and reimbursement of our prodandidates by third-party payors,
including government payors, generally is also ssagy for optimal commercial success. The degreeasket acceptance of any of our
approved products will depend on a number of factocluding:

» our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safetd efficacy

» the relative convenience and ease of administra

» the prevalence and severity of any actual or peeckadverse side effec

» limitations or warnings contained in a proc's FDA-approved labeling, including, for example, potdr“black boy” warnings

« availability of alternative treatment

» pricing and cost effectivenes

» the effectiveness of our or any future collaborg’ sales and marketing strategi

« our ability to obtain sufficient thi-party coverage or reimbursement; :

» the willingness of patients to pay out of pockethia absence of thi-party coverage

If our electroporation equipment and product caattid are approved but do not achieve an adequaieofeacceptance by physicians,

health care payors and patients, we may not gensudficient revenue from these products, and we me& become or remain profitable. In

addition, our efforts to educate the medical comityuamd third-party payors on the benefits of otoduct candidates may require significant
resources and may never be successful.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursent policies which, if not favorable to our produicandidates, could hinder or prevent
our products’ commercial success.

Our ability to commercialize our electroporatiorugmment and product candidates successfully witledhel in part on the extent to which
governmental authorities, private health insures ather third-party payors establish appropriateecage and reimbursement levels for our
product candidates and related treatments. Aseghtibid for coverage and reimbursement, third-paatyors generally require that drug
products have been approved for marketing by th&. Hbird-party payors also are increasingly chalieg the effectiveness of and prices
charged for medical products and services. We roap@ able to obtain third-party coverage or reimbment for our products in whole or in
part.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or prevenir product? commercial success.

In both the United States and certain foreign dicigons there have been, and we anticipate thédfeantinue to be, a number of
legislative and regulatory changes to the healthsgstem that could impact our ability to sell afyur products profitably. In the United
States, the Federal government recently passethbasd reform legislation, the Patient Protectiod Affordable Care Act, or the ACA. The
provisions of the ACA are effective on various dat@er the next several years. While many of thailderegarding the implementation of the
ACA are yet to be determined, we believe there mélicontinuing trends towards expanding coveragede individuals, containing health
care costs and improving quality. At the same tithe rebates, discounts, taxes and other costsiassbwith the ACA are expected to be a
significant cost to the pharmaceutical industry.

The continuing efforts of the government, insuracempanies, managed care organizations and otliergaf healthcare services to
make and implement healthcare reforms may advesstdyt:

» our ability to set a price we believe is fair farrgroducts
* our ability to generate revenues and achieve ontaiai profitability;
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» the availability of capital; an
» our ability to obtain timely approval of our prodsic

If we fail to comply with applicable healthcare ragations, we could face substantial penalties angr @usiness, operations and financii
condition could be adversely affected.

Certain federal and state healthcare laws andadgné pertaining to fraud and abuse and patieigists may be applicable to our
business. We could be subject to healthcare fradcabuse and patient privacy regulation by bothHederal government and the states in
which we conduct our business, without limitatidhe laws that may affect our ability to operatdiide:

» the federal healthcare program /-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other ¢fsinpeople from soliciting, receiving
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, tauce either the referral of an individual, forigam or service or the purchasing
ordering of a good or service, for which paymenyrha made under federal healthcare programs suttie ddedicare and Medice
programs

» federal false claims laws which prohibit, amongestthings, individuals or entities from knowinglyegenting, or causing to |
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Mddiaar other thir-party payors that are false or fraudule

* The ACA expands the government’s investigative amircement authority and increases the penattiesgud and abuse,
including amendments to both the False Claims Adtthe Ant-Kickback Statute to make it easier to bring suilemthose statute

» the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acctabitity Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibits egating a scheme to defraud
any healthcare benefit program or making falsestants relating to healthcare matters and whiahiaiposes certain requireme
relating to the privacy, security and transmissibimdividually identifiable health informatiot

» the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, whichragnather things, strictly regulates drug productketing, prohibits
manufacturers from marketing drug products forlabel use and regulates the distribution of drugas; anc

» state law equivalents of each of the above fedawa, such as anti-kickback and false claims laWwilwmay apply to items or
services reimbursed by any third-party payor, idiclg commercial insurers, and state laws govertiiegprivacy and security of
health information in certain circumstances, mahwlaich differ from each other in significant waged often are not preempted
HIPAA, thus complicating compliance effor

Additionally, the compliance environment is chamgiwith more states, such as California and Masssgtls, mandating implementation
of compliance programs, compliance with industhjies codes, and spending limits, and other statey as Vermont, Maine, and Minnesota
requiring reporting to state governments of giftampensation, and other remuneration to physicidnder the ACA, starting in 2012,
pharmaceutical companies will be required to re@myltransfers of value made to doctors and tegdiiispitals and to disclose such data to
HHS, with initial disclosure to HHS due in 2013.€Be laws all provide for penalties for non-comg@nThe shifting regulatory environment,
along with the requirement to comply with multijleisdictions with different compliance and/or refiag requirements, increases the
possibility that a company may run afoul of onermre laws.

If our operations are found to be in violation afyaf the laws described above or any other govemat regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to penalties, including civil anienémal penalties, damages, fines and the curtaitroenestructuring of our operations. Any
penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restringwof our operations could adversely affect duitity to operate our business and our
financial results. Any action
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against us for violation of these laws, even ifasuecessfully defend against it, could cause usdorisignificant legal expenses and divert our
management’s attention from the operation of owiress. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compéiamth applicable federal and state
privacy, security and fraud laws may prove costly.

If we and the contract manufacturers upon whom wely fail to produce our systems and product candikin the volumes that we requi
on a timely basis, or fail to comply with stringerggulations, we may face delays in the developrmeerd commercialization of our
electroporation equipment and product candidates.

We manufacture some components of our electroporatistems and utilize the services of contractufsaturers to manufacture the
remaining components of these systems and our pradpplies for clinical trials. The manufactureoof systems and product supplies
requires significant expertise and capital invesitneicluding the development of advanced manufawjuechniques and process controls.
Manufacturers often encounter difficulties in protion, particularly in scaling up for commerciabguction. These problems include
difficulties with production costs and yields, gtyaktontrol, including stability of the equipmemdiproduct candidates and quality assurance
testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as astompliance with strictly enforced federal, statd foreign regulations. If we or our
manufacturers were to encounter any of these difféss or our manufacturers otherwise fail to coynpith their obligations to us, our ability
provide our electroporation equipment to our padrasd products to patients in our clinical trisigo commercially launch a product would
jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in the sypgi clinical trial supplies could delay the comipde of our clinical trials, increase the co
associated with maintaining our clinical trial pragn and, depending upon the period of delay, requsrto commence new trials at significant
additional expense or terminate the trials complete

In addition, all manufacturers of our products meghply with cGMP requirements enforced by the Rbough its facilities inspection
program. These requirements include, among otligshquality control, quality assurance and theegation and maintenance of records and
documentation. Manufacturers of our products mayrsble to comply with these cGMP requirements\aitidl other FDA, state and foreign
regulatory requirements. We have little controlromer manufacturers’ compliance with these regatatiand standards. A failure to comply
with these requirements may result in fines and penalties, suspension of production, suspensiaelay in product approval, product
seizure or recall, or withdrawal of product appioifathe safety of any product is compromised tlueur or our manufacturers’ failure to
adhere to applicable laws or for other reasongnag not be able to obtain regulatory approval fosurcessfully commercialize our products,
and we may be held liable for any injuries susthiag a result. Any of these factors could causelaydf clinical trials, regulatory
submissions, approvals or commercialization ofaducts, entail higher costs or result in our gainable to effectively commercialize our
products. Furthermore, if our manufacturers faidétiver the required commercial quantities omaety basis, pursuant to provided
specifications and at commercially reasonable pria& may be unable to meet demand for our produntsvould lose potential revenues.

Our failure to successfully acquire, develop and rkat additional product candidates or approved pumds would impair our ability to grow

We may acquire, ificense, develop and/or market additional prodaot$ product candidates. The success of these actepends part
upon our ability to identify, select and acquiremising product candidates and products.

The process of proposing, negotiating and impleimgra license or acquisition of a product candidatapproved product is lengthy and
complex. Other companies, including some with safi#lly greater financial, marketing and sale®uveses, may compete with us for the
license or acquisition of product candidates amr@ged products. We have limited resources to ifleahd execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third-party products, businesses aotinologies and integrate them into our curremagifucture. Moreover, we may
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devote resources to potential acquisitions dic@nsing opportunities that are never completedy® may fail to realize the anticipated bene
of such efforts. We may not be able to acquirerigjies to additional product candidates on ternas tie find acceptable, or at all.
In addition, future acquisitions may entail numes@perational and financial risks, including:

* exposure to unknown liabilitie

» disruption of our business and diversion of our aggmer’s time and attention to develop acquired producteahnologies

» incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuanafesecurities to pay for acquisitiol

» higher than expected acquisition and integraticsts;

* increased amortization expens

» difficulty and cost in combining the operations gretsonnel of any acquired businesses with ouratipeis and personne

» impairment of relationships with key suppliers astomers of any acquired businesses due to chamngemnagement and
ownership; ant

* inability to retain key employees of any acquiregibesses

Further, any product candidate that we acquire ragyire additional development efforts prior to enercial sale, including extensive
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and apyllie foreign regulatory authorities. All produchdadates are prone to risks of failure typical
of product development, including the possibilitat a product candidate will not be shown to béicgehtly safe and effective for approval by
regulatory authorities.

Our business involves the use of hazardous materahd we and our third-party manufacturers must cpty with environmental laws and
regulations, which can be expensive and restricthwe do business.

Our and our third-party manufacturers’ activitiegadlve the controlled storage, use and disposhbafrdous materials, including the
components of our product candidates and othertiaza compounds. We and our manufacturers aredubjéderal, state and local laws
regulations governing the use, manufacture, stotagadling and disposal of these hazardous matetiathe event of an accident, state or
federal authorities may curtail the use of thestenals and interrupt our business operations.dfane subject to any liability as a result of our
or our third-party manufacturers’ activities invislg hazardous materials, our business and finanoradition may be adversely affected.

We may be subject to stockholder litigation, whislould harm our business and financial condition.

We may have actions brought against us by stockhelelating to the Merger, past transactions, géain our stock price or other
matters. Any such actions could give rise to suligthdamages, and thereby have a material adedfieset on our consolidated financial
position, liquidity, or results of operations. Eviéan action is not resolved against us, the uag®ly and expense associated with stockholder
actions could harm our business, financial condiiad reputation. Litigation can be costly, timexsaming and disruptive to business
operations. The defense of lawsuits could alsdtr@sdiversion of our management’s time and attenaway from business operations, which
could harm our business.

Our results of operations and liquidity needs coudé materially affected by market fluctuations ageéneral economic conditions.

Our results of operations could be materially @afddy economic conditions generally, both in thetét States and elsewhere around
the world. Recently, concerns over inflation, egyergsts, geopolitical issues, the availability @odt of credit, the United States mortgage
market and a declining residential real estate etark
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the United States have contributed to increaseatiliol and diminished expectations for the econanyg the markets going forward. These
factors, combined with volatile oil prices, dectigibusiness and consumer confidence and increassdployment, have precipitated an
economic recession. Domestic and internationaltabipiarkets have also been experiencing heighteoldility and turmoil. These events and
the continuing market upheavals may have an adedfset on us. In the event of a continuing madainturn, our results of operations could
be adversely affected. Our future cost of equitdedst capital and access to the capital marketisl tiiadversely affected, and our stock price
could decline. There may be disruption in or détathe performance of our third-party contractand auppliers. If our contractors, suppliers
and partners are unable to satisfy their contrdcarmmitments, our business could suffer. In additwe maintain significant amounts of cash
and cash equivalents at one or more financialtin&ins that are in excess of federally insuredtinGiven the current instability of financial
institutions, we may experience losses on thesedgisp

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

It is difficult and costly to generate and proteatir intellectual property and our proprietary tecluogies, and we may not be able to ens
their protection.

Our commercial success will depend in part on olrtgiand maintaining patent, trademark, trade $eanel other intellectual property
protection relating to our electroporation equiptreamd product candidates, as well as successfafgndiing these intellectual property rights
against third-party challenges.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldyy companies can be highly uncertain and invetwaplex legal and factual
guestions for which important legal principles remanresolved. The laws and regulations regardiegoireadth of claims allowed in
biotechnology patents has evolved over recent ya@dscontinues to undergo review and revision, othe United States. The biotechnology
patent situation outside the United States carvba eore uncertain depending on the country. Creimgeither the patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws in the United Stated other countries may diminish the value ofintellectual property. Accordingly, we
cannot predict the breadth of claims that may mweald or enforced in our licensed patents, ourrgater in third-party patents, nor can we
predict the likelihood of our patents survivingatent validity challenge.

The degree of future protection for our intelle¢tor@perty rights is uncertain, because legal dewcisnaking can be unpredictable,
thereby often times resulting in limited protectierhich may not adequately protect our rights anpeus to gain or keep our competitive
advantage, or resulting in an invalid or unenfobtegatent. For example:

we, or the parties from whom we have acquiredcanised patent rights, may not have been the dififetthe underlying patent
applications or the first to make the inventiongered by such pateni

the named inventors or -inventors of patents or patent applications thahewe licensed or acquired may be incorrect, whiely
give rise to inventorship and ownership challen:

others may develop similar or alternative techniglsgor duplicate any of our products or techn@sdhat may not be covered by
our patents, including desi-arounds

pending patent applications may not result in idgpegents

the issued patents covering our products and téohies may not provide us with any competitive atages or have any
commercial value

the issued patents may be challenged and invatidateendered unenforceab

the issued patents may be subject to reexaminatioich could result in a narrowing of the scopelaims or cancellation of clain
found unpatentable

we may not develop or acquire additional proprietachnologies that are patentat
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» our trademarks may be invalid or subject to a thady's prior use; o

» our ability to enforce our patent rights will depeon our ability to detect infringement, and litiga to enforce patent rights m
not be pursued due to significant financial coditegrsion of resources, and unpredictability ohadrable result or ruling

We depend, in part, on our licensors and collalbosab protect a portion of our intellectual prageights. In such cases, our licensors
and collaborators may be primarily or wholly resgibte for the maintenance of patents and prosetuatipatent applications relating to
important areas of our business. If any of thesggsafail to adequately protect these productswgisued patents, our business and prospects
would be harmed significantly.

We also may rely on trade secrets to protect ahmtelogy, especially where we do not believe papeotection is appropriate or
obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficufiriatect. Although we use reasonable efforts tagutoour trade secrets, our employees,
consultants, contractors, outside scientific caltalbors and other advisors may unintentionally difwily disclose our trade secrets to
competitors. Enforcing a claim that a third-panyity illegally obtained and is using any of ousde secrets is expensive and time consuming,
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, tooutside the United States are sometimes lefiagvib protect trade secrets. Moreover, our
competitors may independently develop equivalentiadge, methods and know-how.

If we or our licensors fail to obtain or maintaiatent protection or trade secret protection formoduct candidates or our technologies,
third parties could use our proprietary informatianich could impair our ability to compete in thiarket and adversely affect our ability to
generate revenues and attain profitability.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual propertyights of third parties, it will be costly and timconsuming, and an unfavorable outcome
that litigation would have a material adverse eftean our business.

Other companies may have or may acquire intellépiogerty rights that could be enforced againstfubiey do so, we may be required
to alter our technologies, pay licensing fees aseeactivities. If our products or technologiesiinfe the intellectual property rights of others,
they could bring legal action against us or ougrisors or collaborators claiming damages and sge&ianjoin any activities that they believe
infringe their intellectual property rights.

Because patent applications can take many yedsue, and there is a period when the applicagamins undisclosed to the public,
there may be currently pending applications unkntwas or reissue applications that may later tésussued patents upon which our
products or technologies may infringe. There caldt be existing patents of which we are unawaaedhr products or technologies may
infringe. In addition, if third parties file pateapplications or obtain patents claiming productgeohnologies also claimed by us in pending
applications or issued patents, we may have tacpzate in interference or derivation proceedingthie United States Patent and Trademark
Office to determine priority or derivation of theviention. If third parties file oppositions in faga countries, we may also have to participat
opposition proceedings in foreign tribunals to deff¢he patentability of our filed foreign patenplpations.

If a third party claims that we infringe its intetitual property rights, it could cause our businesaiffer in a number of ways, including:

* we may become involved in time-consuming and experigigation, even if the claim is without merihe third party’s patent is
invalid or we have not infringe«

* we may become liable for substantial damages fsrip&ingement if a court decides that our tecbgas infringe upon a thir
party's patent
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* we may be enjoined by a court to stop making, regliir licensing our products or technologies withelicense from a pate
holder, which may not be available on commerciatigeptable terms, if at all, or which may requisdaipay substantial royalties
or grant cros-licenses to our patents; a

* we may have to redesign our products so that tbayod infringe upon others’ patent rights, whichynmat be possible or could
require substantial investment or tir

If any of these events occur, our business coufeisand the market price of our common stock meglide.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock is expected to beatitd and an investment in our common stock couleatine substantially in value.

In light of our small size and limited resourcesweell as the uncertainties and risks that carcaéfar business and industry, our stock
price is expected to be highly volatile and carstbigject to substantial drops, with or even in theeace of news affecting our business. Period
to period comparisons are not indicative of futpeeformance. The following factors, in additiorthe other risk factors described in this
annual report, and the potentially low volume afigs in our common stock, may have a significapaichon the market price of our common
stock, some of which are beyond our control:

» developments concerning any research and develdpoiigical trials, manufacturing, and marketindoefs or collaborations

« fluctuating public or scientific interest in thetpatial for influenza pandemic or other applicatidar our vaccine or other product
candidates

* our announcement of significant acquisitions, sgyat collaborations, joint ventures or capital coinments;
» fluctuations in our operating resu

« announcements of technological innovatic

* new products or services that we or our competiéfies;

» the initiation, conduct and/or outcome of intelledtproperty and/or litigation mattel

» changes iffinancial or other estimates by securities analgsisther reviewers or evaluators of our busin
» conditions or trends in b-pharmaceutical or other healthcare indust

* regulatory developments in the United States ahdratountries

* negative perception of gene based ther.

» changes in the economic performance and/or magdeations of other biotechnology and medical decamapanies
» additions or departures of key personi

» sales or other transactions involving our commonlst

» sales or other transactions by executive officedir@ctors involving our common stoc

» changes in accounting principle

» global unrest, terrorist activities, and econonrid ather external factors; a

» catastrophic weather and/or global disease pande

47



Table of Contents

The stock market in general has recently experigénelatively large price and volume fluctuations plarticular, the market prices of
securities of smaller biotechnology and medicalickeeompanies have experienced dramatic fluctustiloat often have been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating results of tresapanies. Continued market fluctuations couldltéswextreme volatility in the price of the
common stock, which could cause a decline in theevaf the common stock. In addition, price volatimay increase if the trading volume of
our common stock remains limited or declines.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdabelaware law could delay or prevent a change oftol which could limit the
market price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmatontains provisions that could delay or prexeahange of control of our company
or changes in our board of directors that our stolders might consider favorable. Some of thesgigians include:

» the authority of our board of directors to issuarsk of undesignated preferred stock and to deaterthe rights, preferences and
privileges of these shares, without stockholderayed;

» all stockholder actions must be effected at a dalled meeting of stockholders and not by writtensent; an
e the elimination of cumulative votin

In addition, we are governed by the provisions eft®n 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Lakiclvmay prohibit certain
business combinations with stockholders owning D8%nore of our outstanding voting stock. These @th@r provisions in our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation, amendedrasthted bylaws and Delaware law could make it nddfeeult for stockholders or potential
acquirers to obtain control of our board of direstor initiate actions that are opposed by the-therent board of directors, including to delay
or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contegbliving our company. Any delay or prevention aftenge of control transaction or changes
in our board of directors could cause the markieepof our common stock to decline.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commorlsnd we do not anticipate paying dividends in tfloeeseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on our common stodkte, and we currently intend to retain our fetearnings, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. In additioa terms of any future debt or credit facilitayrpreclude or limit our ability to pay any
dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, §,aof our common stock will be your sole sourcepofential gain for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
We have no unresolved written comments from the Sta€ regarding our filings under the Exchange. Act

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own no real property and have no plans to aeariy real property in the future. Our corporatadugiarters is located at 1787 Sentry
Park West in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania. This lease signed on December 19, 2009 and runs through 3@r2016. The lease was amended in
February 2012 to extend the lease term for an iaddityear and increase the leased space by appeitely 2,319 square feet. The lease will
now run through June 30, 2017 for a total of appnately 8,761 square feet. The annual rent undenéw lease terms was $122,000 and
$126,000 for the first year and second year, ramdg, and will be $175,000 for the third year 881000 for the fourth year, $184,000 for the
fifth year, $188,000 for the sixth year and $198,084 the seventh year. At the end of the leaga,tere have the option of renewing this lease
for an additional three-year lease term at an dmatm equal to the fair market rental value of pheperty, as defined in the lease agreement.
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The corporate office in San Diego is located at9#18orrento Valley Road in San Diego, CalifornineTease was amended in Decen
2010 to increase the leased space to approximb3dP0 square feet. The lease runs through Audgyst®L3 and the annual rent based on the
new lease terms was $221,000 in the first yeamahde $255,000 in the second year and $184,00@hi® partial third year. At the end of the
lease term, we have the option of renewing thisddar an additional five-year lease term at aruahrate equal to the fair market rental value
of the property, as defined in the lease agreement.

During 2010 we consolidated operations previousgifgrmed in The Woodlands, Texas to our Blue Bedl &an Diego locations. As a

result, in November 2010 we transferred our facliase in The Woodlands, Texas to a wholly-owndisgliary of our affiliated entity, VGX
Int’l.

We believe our current facilities will be adequettaneet our operating needs for the foreseeahleduShould we need additional space,
we believe we will be able to secure additionakgpat commercially reasonable rates.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Not applicable.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Informatior

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NY $fteA under the symbol “INO.” The following table séorth the quarterly high and
low per share closing prices of our common stockHe two most recent fiscal years.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010
Period: High Low High Low

First Quarter $1.52 $1.0¢ $1.4¢ $1.0C
Second Quarte $1.17 $0.57 $1.4¢F $1.01
Third Quartel $0.82 $0.57 $1.2¢ $0.7¢
Fourth Quarte $0.6¢ $0.37 $1.31 $1.1C

As of February 17, 2012, we had approximately 222mon stockholders of record. This figure doesimctide beneficial owners who
hold shares in nominee name. The closing pricelpare of our common stock on February 17, 20128043, as reported on the NYSE
Amex.

Dividends

The payment of any dividends on our common stoekitisin the discretion of our board of directorse\Wave not paid cash dividends on
our common stock and the board of directors dogégxgect to declare cash dividends on the commark $h the foreseeable future.
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Performance Grap!

The graph below matches Inovio Pharmaceuticals'slcamulative 5-year total shareholder return ommon stock with the cumulative
total returns of the NYSE Amex Composite index #ralS & P SuperCap Biotechnology index. The gragsumes that the value of the
investment in our common stock and in each of tidexes (including reinvestment of dividends) waB0dd&n December 31, 2006 and tracks it
through December 31, 2011.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"*
Among Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the NYSE Amex Composite Index, and S&EP SuparCap
Bictechnology |ndex

5140 -
§120 PRI Gl - 0
100
580 -
560 -

540 4

12/06 12fay iz2ioa 1208 1210 a2

—+=— Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. = 4 = NYSE Amex Composite ---&3---5&P SuperCap Biotechnology

*R100 invested on 1273106 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal vear ending December 31

Copyrighte 2012 S&P, a division of The MeGraw-Hill Companies Tne. Al rights reserved,

12/06 12/07 12/08 12/09 12/10 12/11
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc 100.0¢ 27.9¢ 15.81 34.6¢ 349t 13.0]
NYSE Amex Composit 100.0C 122.4¢ 73.97 100.1¢ 127.37 128.9¢
S&P SuperCap Biotechnolog 100.0C 91.3¢ 102.4C 99.8¢ 99.3: 119.1:

The stock price performance included in this grégphot necessarily indicative of future stock pregformance.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected cordaikd financial data for the periods indicatedivéer from consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with United SStgeerally accepted accounting principles.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Operations Data
License fee and milestone rever $ 567,85¢ $ 527,22: $ 4,929,30! $ 791,40: $ 2,793,47
Revenue under collaborative research ant
development arrangemet — — 125,99¢ 1,077,96 1,854,30:
Grants and miscellaneous revei 9,227,40: 5,617,48. 4,064,80! 228,26 159,94
Total revenue 9,795,25 6,144,70! 9,120,11. 2,097,63. 4,807,72!
Loss from operation (21,638,54) (19,220,16) (13,957,75) (13,658,46) (15,898,42)
Interest and other income, r 34,28¢ 147,40¢ 30,32¢ 550,35 1,288,46
Change in fair value of common stc
warrants 8,690,65! 2,403,92. (1,286,88) 142,48 3,405,511
Loss on investment in affiliated enti (2,390,49) (969,919 (9,244,61) — —
Net loss (15,304,09) (17,638,74) (24,458,92) (12,965,62) (11,204,44)
Net loss attributable to n-controlling
interest 51,15( 24,95( 47,43¢ — —
Imputed and declared dividends on preferred
stock — — — — (23,335

Net loss attributable to Inov

Pharmaceuticals, In $ (15,252,94)

$ (17,613,79)

$ (24,411,48)

$ (12,965,62)

$ (11,227,77)

Per common sha—basic anddiluted:

Net loss $ (0.12) $ (0.17) $ (0.39) $ (0.30 $ (0.27)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc  $ (0.12) $ (0.17) $ (0.33) $ (0.30 $ (0.27)
Balance Sheet Dat

Cash and cash equivalel $ 17,350,11 $ 19,998,48 $ 30,296,21 $ 14,115,28 $ 10,250,92
Shor-term investment 12,863,42 1,846,27. 10,397,53 — 16,999,60
Long-term investment — — — 9,169,47. —
Total asset 61,106,56 56,067,39 80,628,91 38,987,02 39,775,02
Current liabilities 11,043,02 6,436,70i 19,350,03 14,709,58 3,354,49
Accumulated defici (210,091,17) (194,838,22) (177,224,43) (152,812,94) (139,847,32)
Total stockholder equity 47,861,66 47,100,91 61,184,94 19,106,14 31,034,75
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This report contains forward-looking statementse3d statements relate to future events or our éufinancial performance. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statemémtterminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue,” t he negative of such terms or other comparable teotogy. These statements are only
predictions. Actual events or results may diffeterially.

Although we believe that the expectations reflectdatie forward-looking statements are reasonaie cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievementsrédweer, neither we, nor any other person, assurapassibility for the accuracy and
completeness of the forward-looking statementsai&@nder no obligation to update any of the forddwooking statements after the filing of
this Annual Report to conform such statements tioehcesults or to changes in our expectations.

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in coaiwm with our consolidated financi
statements and the related notes and other findirdiarmation appearing elsewhere in this AnnuapBe. Readers are also urged to carefully
review and consider the various disclosures madesbyhich attempt to advise interested partieheffactors which affect our business,
including without limitation the disclosures madedtem 1A of Part | of this Annual Report under @eption “Risk Factors.”

Risk factors that could cause actual results tedifrom those contained in the forward-lookingtetaents include but are not limited to:
our history of losses; our lack of products thav@aeceived regulatory approval; uncertainties irére in clinical trials and product
development programs, including but not limitedht®e fact that pre-clinical and clinical results magt be indicative of results achievable in
other trials or for other indications, that resufi®m one study may not necessarily be reflectesipported by the results of other similar
studies, that results from an animal study maybaoindicative of results achievable in human stsidileat clinical testing is expensive and can
take many years to complete, that the outcometkmical trial is uncertain and failure can occat any time during the clinical trial
process, and that our electroporation technologgl &NA vaccines may fail to show the desired safetyefficacy traits in clinical trials; th
availability of funding; the ability to manufactuwaccine candidates; the availability or potentaailability of alternative therapies or
treatments for the conditions targeted by us or@altaborators, including alternatives that may fpere efficacious or cost-effective than any
therapy or treatment that we and our collaborathope to develop; whether our proprietary rights ardorceable or defensible or infringe or
allegedly infringe on rights of others or can witdasd claims of invalidity; and the impact of goverent healthcare proposals.

Overview

We are engaged in the discovery, development, alidedy of a new generation of vaccines, calledlsgtic vaccines, focused on canc
and infectious diseases. Our SynCGon technologylesdte design of “universal” vaccines capablerokjaing cross-protection against new,
unmatched strains of pathogens such as influenzael@ctroporation DNA delivery technology usesfrcontrolled electrical pulses to
increase cellular DNA vaccine uptake. Initial huntita has shown this method can safely and signifig increase gene expression and
immune responses. Our clinical programs include KBiwical cancer (therapeutic), avian influenzagentive), prostate cancer (therapeutic),
leukemia (therapeutic), HCV and HIV vaccines. We agdvancing preclinical research for a universassaal/pandemic influenza vaccine as
well as other products. Our partners and collalbosahclude University of Pennsylvania, Drexel Usisity, National Microbiology Laboratory
of the Public Health Agency of Canada, ProgramAfapropriate Technology in Health/Malaria Vaccindiltive (“PATH” or “MVI"),

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseas“NIAID”), Merck, ChronTech, University of Southang, United States Military HIV
Research Program (“USMHRP”), U.S. Army Medical Resh Institute of Infectious Diseases (“USAMRIIDHJV Vaccines Trial Network
(“HVTN”) and Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”
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All of our potential human products are in reseant development phases. We have not generategagyues from the sale of any
such products, and we do not expect to generatsustyrevenues for at least the next several yd&sarn revenue from license fees and
milestone revenue, collaborative research and dpwgnt agreements, grants and government cont@uaitproduct candidates will require
significant additional research and developmerdredf including extensive preclinical and clinitasting. All product candidates that we
advance to clinical testing will require regulategyproval prior to commercial use, and will requignificant costs for commercialization. We
may not be successful in our research and develajpefirts, and we may never generate sufficieatpct revenue to be profitable.

On June 1, 2009, we completed the Merger resuitimyir acquisition of VGX. We believe the Mergewvadces our ability to play a
leadership role in the discovery, development, deltvery of synthetic vaccines.

On May 14, 2010, we amended our Certificate of tpoaation to change our name from “Inovio BiomedtliCarporation” to “Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.”

Recent Developments

On December 6, 2011, we completed an underwrittdrtiqoffering relating to the sale and issuanc&,609,712 units to certain
institutional investors, consisting of 7,699,712r&s of common stock and warrants to purchase gnegate of up to 5,774,784 additional
shares of common stock. These units include thigapaxercise of the underwriter’'s overallotmentiop of 962,465 additional units at the
public offering price. The units consist of onerghaf common stock and 0.75 of a warrant to purelweee share of common stock, at a
purchase price of $0.5195 per unit. The warrante laaterm of five years and an exercise price dd%@er share. We may call the warrants if
the closing bid price of our common stock has tedeast $1.30 over 20 trading days and certaieratbnditions are met. We received net
proceeds from the transaction of approximately $3ilfon, after deducting the underwriter’s discésiand other offering expenses payable.

On October 7, 2011, we entered into a Collabordligeelopment and License Agreement (the “Agreemenith VGX Int’l. Under the
Agreement, we will co-develop with VGX Int'l our 8¢on® therapeutic vaccines for hepatitis B and €dtibns (the “Products”). Under the
terms of the agreement, VGX Int’l will receive matiag rights for the Products in Asia, excludingala and in return will fully fund IND-
enabling and initial Phase | and Il clinical stugdieith respect to the Products. We will receiverfrdGX Int’'l payments based on the
achievement of clinical milestones and royaltiesdobon sales of the Products in the licenseddegs, retaining all commercial rights to the
Products in all other territories.

On September 27, 2011, we entered into a CooperBidsearch and Development Agreement (CRADA) vaighUtnited States
Department of Homeland Security (DHS) Science amchifiology Directorate Plum Island Animal Diseasat€e This collaboration will
evaluate the efficacy of our SynCén vaccines fot & mouth disease (FMD) in important animal modatduding cattle, sheep, and pigs.

On January 27, 2011, we entered into investor @selagreements with investors relating to the igsuand sale of (a) 21,130,400 sh
of common stock, and (b) warrants to purchasea ¢6t10,565,200 shares of common stock with amaise price of $1.40 per share, for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $24.BomilThe shares of common stock and warrants welekin units, consisting of one shari
common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.50 oagegf common stock, at a purchase price of $letfupit. The warrants have a five-year
term from the date of issuance and are first egable commencing on the 180th day after the dasoénce. We may call the warrants if the
closing bid price of the common stock has beepaxt|$2.80 over 20 trading days and certain othrditions are met. We received net
proceeds from the transaction of approximately @23illion, after deducting the placement agentts &éad other offering expenses.

On March 24, 2010, we entered into our Agreemetit WGX Int'l. Under the VGX Int'l Agreement, we gnéed VGX Int'l an exclusive
license to the Product, i.e., our SynGon univeirdalenza vaccine delivered with electroporatiorb&developed in certain countries in Asia.
As consideration for the license granted to
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VGX Int’l, we have received payment of $3.0 millias a research and development initiation feevaldeceive research support, annual
license maintenance fees and royalties on net tadiles. In addition, contingent upon achieveroéwtinical and regulatory milestones, we
will receive development payments over the terrthefVGX Int'l Agreement. The VGX Int'l Agreementsal provides us with exclusive rights
to supply devices for clinical and commercial pueg® (including single use components) to VGX liattluse in the Product. The term of the
VGX Int’'| Agreement commenced upon execution and will ek@ma country by country basis until the lastipiee of all Royalty Periods fi
the territory (as such term is defined in the V@XIIAgreement) for any Product in that country)ess the VGX Inf' Agreement is terminate
earlier in accordance with its provisions as altesfibreach, by mutual agreement, or by VGX Ist'tight to terminate without cause upon
prior written notice.

In January 2010, we announced that we expandeexigting license agreement with the University ehRsylvania, adding exclusive
worldwide licenses for technology and intellectpadperty for novel DNA vaccines against pandemfluenza, Chikungunya, and foot-and-
mouth disease. The amendment also encompassehiaawkine and cytokine molecular adjuvant techne@sgi he technology was develo)
in the University of Pennsylvania laboratory of féssor David B. Weiner, a pioneer in the field di/®vaccines, and chairman of our
scientific advisory board. Under the terms of thigioal license agreement completed in 2007, waiokd exclusive worldwide rights to
develop multiple DNA plasmids and constructs with potential to treat and/or prevent HIV, HCV, HBRM influenza and included molecular
adjuvants. These prior and most recent agreemadtarmendments provide for royalty payments, basdtitore sales, to the University of
Pennsylvania.

As of December 31, 2011, we had an accumulateditdefi$210.1 million. We expect to continue toumsubstantial operating losses in
the future due to our commitment to our researchdevelopment programs, the funding of preclingtatlies, clinical trials and regulatory
activities and the costs of general and adminisgatctivities.

Critical Accounting Policies

The SEC defines critical accounting policies aséhtinat are, in management’s view, important tqomérayal of our financial condition
and results of operations and require managemieniggnent. Our discussion and analysis of our fifelreondition and results of operations is
based on our audited consolidated financial statésnevhich have been prepared in accordance wih GAAP. There have been no changes
to our critical accounting policies during the yeaded December 31, 2011 other than the adoptioeceht accounting pronouncements
discussed below. The preparation of these finasté#éments requires us to make estimates and prigrthat affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Wedasestimates on experience and on various assomsptiat we believe are reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form thgidfor making judgments about the carrying vahfesssets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results mdgifom those estimates. Our critical accountingies include:

Revenue Recognition.
Grant revenue

We receive non-refundable grants under availableigonent programs. Government grants towards cuesgrenditures are recorded as
revenue when there is reasonable assurance thzaweecomplied with all conditions necessary to irexéhe grants, collectability is reasona
assured, and as the expenditures are incurred.
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License fee and milestone revenue

We have adopted a strategy of co-developing ondicgy our gene delivery technology for specificegor specific medical indications.
Accordingly, we have entered into collaborativeeggsh and development agreements and have redaiveidg for pre-clinical research and
clinical trials. Prior to the adoption of the Fimdal Accounting Standards Board'’s (“FASB”") AccourgiStandards Update (“ASU”") No. 2009-
13, Revenue Recognition (Topic 60B)ultiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangementse recorded payments under these agreementd) atéc
non+efundable, as revenue as the related researcindikpes were incurred pursuant to the terms ohtireements and provided collectab
was reasonably assured.

For new collaborative agreements or material madlifons of existing collaborative agreements edtér® after December 31, 2010, we
follow the provisions of ASU No. 2009-13. In orderaccount for the multiple-element arrangementsjdentify the deliverables included
within the agreement and evaluate which delivemaldpresent separable units of accounting. Analyttie arrangement to identify
deliverables requires the use of judgment, and datiberable may be an obligation to deliver sezsja right or license to use an asset, or
another performance obligation. A delivered iternassidered a separate unit of accounting whedelieered item has value to the
collaborator on a standalone basis based on tredmration of the relevant facts and circumstafi@esach arrangement.

Arrangement consideration is allocated at the itioepf the agreement to all identified units o€aagnting based on their relative selling
price. The relative selling price for each delivdesis determined using vendor specific objectivielence (“VSOE"), of selling price or third-
party evidence of selling price if VSOE does nasexf neither VSOE nor third-party evidence oflisg price exists, we use our best estimate
of the selling price for the deliverable. The amioefallocable arrangement consideration is limtiedmounts that are fixed or determinable.
The consideration received is allocated amongéparate units of accounting, and the applicablerreg recognition criteria are applied to
each of the separate units. Changes in the altotafithe sales price between delivered and uneleld/elements can impact revenue
recognition but do not change the total revenuegeized under any agreement.

Upfront license fee payments are recognized uptivetig of the license if facts and circumstancesgate that the license has standalone
value from the undelivered items, the relativeisglprice allocation of the license is equal teerceeds the upfront license fee, persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, our price tatfiaborator is fixed or determinable, and cobddlity is reasonably assured. Upfront license
fee payments are deferred if facts and circumstaditate that the license does not have standakne. The determination of the length of
the period over which to defer revenue is subggidgment and estimation and can have an impattijmamount of revenue recognized in a
given period.

Prior to the adoption of ASU No. 2010-17, Reveneed)nition (Topic 605Milestone Method of Revenue Recognititilestone
Method"), we recognized non-refundable milestongnpents upon the achievement of specified milestopes which we had earned the
milestone payment, provided the milestone paymexst substantive in nature and the achievement ohtlestone was not reasonably assured
at the inception of the agreement. We deferred paysnfor milestone events that were reasonablyredsind recognized them ratably over the
minimum remaining period of our performance obligas. Payments for milestones that were not reddpresured were treated as the
culmination of a separate earnings process and reeognized as revenue when the milestones wefevach

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted on a prosgebtsis the Milestone Method of ASU No. 2010-Uiider the Milestone Method,
we will recognize consideration that is contingepbn the achievement of a milestone in its entiastyevenue in the period in which the
milestone is achieved only if the milestone is $aisve in its entirety. A milestone is considesetbstantive when it meets all of the following
criteria:

1. The consideration is commensurate with either thigy’'s performance to achieve the milestone or the er@mant of the value ¢
the delivered item(s) as a result of a specificonte resulting from the ent’'s performance to achieve the milestc
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2. The consideration relates solely to past perforreaanc
3. The consideration is reasonable relative to athefdeliverables and payment terms within the gearent

A milestone is defined as an event (i) that caly ol achieved based in whole or in part on eitherentity’s performance or on the
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromeh#ty’s performance, (ii) for which there is stdottive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement is entered into that the event wikhéf@eved and (iii) that would result in additiopalyments being due to the Company.

Research and Development ExpenSasce our inception, virtually all of our activisidave consisted of research and developments
related to developing our electroporation techniel®@gnd DNA vaccines. Research and developmennegpeonsist of expenses incurred in
performing research and development activitiewiticlg salaries and benefits, facilities and otharbead expenses, clinical trials, contract
services and other outside expenses. Researcteaatbpment expenses are charged to operationgwaité incurred.

Valuation and Impairment Evaluations of Goodwilidamtangible Assets&soodwill represents the excess of acquisition owst the fair
value of the net assets of acquired businessest Becember 31, 2011, our intangible assets reguftom the acquisition of VGX and Inovio
AS, and additional intangibles including previousgpitalized patent costs and license costs, net@imulated amortization, totaled $9.3
million. Intangible assets are amortized over tiesiimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 18 ye®s.are concurrently conducting peknical,
Phase I, and Phase Il trials using acquired intdegj and we have entered into certain signifiiaahsing agreements for use of these acq
intangibles.

Historically we have recorded patents at cost andrized these costs using the straight-line methea the expected useful lives of the
patents or 17 years, whichever is less. Patens cosisist of the consideration paid for patentsratated legal costs. Effective June 1, 2009, in
connection with our acquisition of VGX, all new pat costs are being expensed as incurred. Patstist@arrently capitalized will continue to
be amortized over the expected life of the pafBimé effect of this change was immaterial to prieripds. We record license costs based on the
fair value of consideration paid and amortize ushegstraight-line method over the shorter of thgeeted useful life of the underlying patents
or the term of the related license agreement.

The determination of the value of such intangildseds requires management to make estimates anmdgms that affect our
consolidated financial statements. We assess palténpairments to intangible assets when themridence that events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumtnodsset may not be recovered. Our judgments liegaite existence of impairment
indicators and future cash flows related to inthleggassets are based on operational performarmér afcquired businesses, market conditions
and other factors. If impairment is indicated, wduce the carrying value of the intangible asséitosalue. While our current and historical
operating and cash flow losses are potential indisaof impairment, we believe the future cash 8dw be received from our intangible assets
will exceed the intangible assets’ carrying valmd accordingly, we have not recognized any impattosses through December 31, 2011.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite Bvare not amortized but instead are measured fmirment annually, or when events
indicate that impairment exists. Our accountingqyolvith respect to reviewing goodwill for impairmieis a two step process. The first step of
the impairment test compares the fair value ofreporting unit with its carrying value includindadated goodwill. If the carrying value of our
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then theoselcstep of the impairment test is performed tosueathe impairment loss, if any. We test
goodwill for impairment at the entity level, whighconsidered our reporting unit. Our estimateadf ¥alue is determined using both the
Discounted Cash Flow method of the Income Appraauhthe Guideline Public Company method of the MbApproach. The Discounted
Cash Flow method estimates future cash flows obaosiness for a certain discrete period and thecodints them to their present value. The
Guideline Public Company method computes valuecatdrs (“multiples”) from the operating data of #edected publicly traded guideline
companies. After these multiples were evaluated,
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appropriate value indicators were selected andepf the operating statistics of the reporting tomarrive at indications of value.
Specifically, we relied upon the application of dloinvested Capital based valuation multiples facheguideline company. In applying the
Income and Market Approaches, premiums and dissouate determined and applied to estimate thevédires of the reporting unit. To arrive
at the indicated value of equity under each apgroae then assigned a relative weighting to thaltieg values from each approach to
determine whether the carrying value of the repgrtinit exceeds its fair value, thus requiring $tep of the impairment test.

We conduct the impairment test annually on Noven30¢h for each fiscal year for which goodwill issdwated for impairment. We are
also aware of the requirement to evaluate goodailimpairment at other times should circumstararése. To date, we have concluded tha
fair value of the reporting unit significantly exaded the carrying value and therefore, step twbefmpairment test has never been perfori

Although there are inherent uncertainties in tisisegsment process, the estimates and assumptiarsev@ee consistent with our internal
planning. If these estimates or their related aggiams change in the future, we may be requira@¢ord an impairment charge on all or a
portion of our goodwill and intangible assets. Rartnore, we cannot predict the occurrence of futapairment-triggering events nor the
impact such events might have on our reported asdees. Future events could cause us to conchateérhpairment indicators exist and that
goodwill or other intangible assets associated withacquired businesses are impaired. Any regpitippairment loss could have an adverse
impact on our results of operations.

Stock-based Compensatidie have equity incentive plans under which we tgreated incentive stock options, restricted stauksu
and non-qualified stock options.

Our employee stock-based compensation cost is &stihat the grant date based on the fair-valukeoftvard and is recognized as an
expense ratably over the requisite service periddeoaward. Determining the appropriate fair-vatuedel and calculating the fair value of
stock-based awards at the grant date requiresdsmasile judgment, including estimating stock priokatility, expected option life and
forfeiture rates. We develop our estimates basduigiarical data. If factors change and we emplidfgient assumptions in future periods, the
compensation expense that we record may diffeifgigntly from what we have recorded in the currpatiod. A small change in the estims
used may have a relatively large change in thenastid valuation. We use the Black-Scholes pricioglehto value stock option awards. We
recognize compensation expense using the strafghamortization method.

Our non-employee stock-based compensation awaeds@asured at either the fair value of the conatier received or the fair value of
the equity instruments issued, whichever is molialsly measurable. If the fair value of the equitgtruments issued is used, it is measured at
each reporting date using the stock price and otteasurement assumptions as of the earlier di€iyiate at which a commitment for
performance by the counterparty to earn the edu#tyuments is reached, or (ii) the date at whighdounterparty’s performance is completed.

Registered Common Stock Warramige account for registered common stock warrantsyant to the authoritative guidance on
accounting for derivative financial instrumentsemdd to, and potentially settled in, a company’si@tock, on the understanding that in
compliance with applicable securities laws, thasteged warrants require the issuance of registegedrities upon exercise and do not
sufficiently preclude an implied right to net casitlement. We classify registered warrants orctmsolidated balance sheet as a current
liability, which is revalued at each balance shise subsequent to the initial issuance. Determittie appropriate fair-value model and
calculating the fair value of registered warraetguires considerable judgment including estimasitogk price volatility and expected warrant
life. We develop our estimates based on histode#. A small change in the estimates used may haskatively large change in the estimated
valuation. We use the Black-Scholes pricing modelalue the registered warrants. Changes in therfaiket value of the warrants are
reflected in the consolidated statement of opematas “Change in fair value of common stock wagént
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding recent accounting pronounag@mes contained in Note 3 to the Consolidated hdfed Statements, included
elsewhere in this report.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 201

and the results of these two periods are useckididtussion thereafter.

Increase/
Increase/ (Decrease
December 31, December 31, (Decrease)
2011 2010 $ %

Revenues:
License fee and milestone rever $ 567,85¢ $ 527,22. $ 40,63 8%
Grants and miscellaneous revet 9,227,40. 5,617,48. 3,609,91! 64
Total revenues 9,795,25 6,144,70! 3,650,55: 59
Operating expenses
Research and developmt 20,032,00 13,256,60 6,775,39! 51
General and administrati\ 11,988,79 12,108,26 (119,469 Q)
Gain on sale of asse (587,000 — (587,000 (100)
Total operating expense:! 31,433,79 25,364,86 6,068,93| 24
Loss from operations (21,638,54) (19,220,16) (2,418,37) (13
Interest and other income, r 34,28¢ 147,40¢ (113,12) (77)
Change in fair value of common stock warre 8,690,65! 2,403,92. 6,286,73 262
Loss on investment in affiliated enti (2,390,49) (969,91 (1,420,58) (14€)
Net loss (15,304,09) (17,638,74) 2,334,65! 13
Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes 51,15( 24,95( 26,20( 10E
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $(15,252,94) $(17,613,79) $ 2,360,85 13%
Revenu

Revenue primarily consists of license fees andstulge revenue, grants and government contracts.

Our total revenue increased $3.7 million or 59%tfar year ended December 31, 2011, as comparbé teear ended December 31, 2
due to increases in grants and miscellaneous revenu

The $41,000 increase in license fee and milestewenue for the year ended December 31, 2011 asazechfp 2010 was primarily due
to higher revenues recognized from the VGX Int'lrégment entered into in March 2010 and various lemiidense agreements.

The $3.6 million increase in grants and miscellarse@venue for the year ended December 31, 20¢drapared to 2010, was primarily
due to higher revenues recognized from our contritbtthe NIAID of $7.8 million for the year end&kcember 31, 2011 as compared to $4.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2010. TihwID contract, which was modified in September 20fds an initial term of five years
with two one-year options (period of performanc&é&ptember 30, 2008September 29, 2015 including the two options). dimeent approve
funding of the contract for the five years is $281llion with option years six and seven value&at3 million and $1.0 million, respectively,
for a total potential value of $25.3 million, andliviund research and development for HIV DNA-bas@tcines delivered via our proprietary
electroporation

59



Table of Contents

system. These increases were also attributabligb@hrevenue recognized under our PATH Malariaciee Initiative (“MVI”) contract of
$740,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011rapaed to $303,000 for the same period in 2010.HPATan international nonprofit
organization funded by private donors. We havesaarch program and agreement with the PATH MVielwate in a preclinical feasibility
study our SynCoft DNA vaccine development platfoortarget antigens fromlasmodiunspecies and deliver them intradermally using the
CELLECTRAZ® electroporation device. The initial agmeent with MVI was for $685,000 and was complete&ébruary 2010. In September
2010 we entered into an amended agreement with PATutther this study in non-human primates. Theeaded agreement had a total value
of $804,000 and was completed in August 2011. Meeall increase in grants and miscellaneous reveragealso due to higher revenue
recognized from our subcontract with Drexel Uniitgref $491,000 for the year ended December 311281compared to $18,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2010 and higher revenues remaffiom our subcontract with the University of Reylvania of $124,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2011 as compared to $14,0@Rgrear ended December 31, 2010. These increasesartially offset by no revenue
recognized in 2011 related to the grant awarde@ctober 2010 under The Patient Protection and Affble Care Act of 2010 (“PPACA”) for
$733,000. This grant was related to three of ogjggts, including the Phase Il clinical trial of X&3100, a therapeutic vaccine for cervical
dysplasia and cancer as well as development psdjecSynCor? universal flu and dengue vaccines.ARACA provided small and mid-
sized biotech, pharmaceutical and medical deviogpamies with up to a 50% tax credit for investmeamtgualified therapeutic discoveries for
tax years 2009 and 2010, or a grant for the sanmiantax-free. In addition, there was no revenwegeized from the Department of Defense
(“U.S. Army”) grant during the year ended Decem®&r2011 when compared to $373,000 recognized10.Z2Dhe U.S. Army grant, which
commenced in 2008, had a total value of $933,0@0xs completed in May 2010. This project fundestagch and development of DNA-
based vaccines delivered via our proprietary edpctration system and focused on identifying DNAoiae candidates with the potential to
provide rapid, robust immunity to protect againstWwarfare and bioterror attacks.

Research and Development Exper

The $6.8 million increase in research and developiragpenses for the year ended December 31, 20ddngsared to 2010 was primatr
due to $4.7 million in higher clinical trial costecluding the initiation of the HPV Phase Il andllienza Phase | study, $1.1 million in higher
compensation and related expenses due to increaggidyee headcount, higher outside service expafrB800,000 for various on going
research efforts, higher employee stock-based cosapen of $191,000 due to an increase in totaboptgranted during the year, higher
facilities and IT expense of $168,000, higher eggehinventory of $148,000 for the increased purehas devices to support on-going clinical
trials, as well as higher travel and transportaéigpenses of $145,000. These increases were pedifset by a $399,000 decrease in
consulting expense related to our US Army grant@hdr services, among other variances.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include busitegelopment expenses and the amortization afditiee assets. The $119,000
decrease in general and administrative expensekdgrear ended December 31, 2011 as compared jee#dr ended December 31, 2010 was
primarily due to a decrease in compensation aradaglexpenses, accounting and audit expensesladoaitside services of $836,000,
$325,000, and $248,000, respectively. These dexsemsre partially offset by higher severance expensigher employee stock-based
compensation due to an increase in total optioastgd during the year and severance related sfmancexpenses, as well as higher
consulting expenses related to corporate managesmerinvestor relations of $620,000, $252,000 at®iL$00, respectively, among other
variances.

Stock-based Compensation

Employee stock-based compensation cost is meaatited grant date, based on the fair value of werdreduced by estimated
forfeitures, and is recognized as expense oveeriy@oyee’s requisite service period.
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Total employee compensation cost for our stockgfanthe years ended December 31, 2011 and 204®& W& million and $898,000, of
which $472,000 and $281,000 was included in reseand development expenses and $1.1 million and,$6@ was included in general and
administrative expenses, respectively. At Decerfie011, there was $981,000 of total unrecognimedpensation cost related to unvested
stock options, which we expect to recognize oweemhted-average period of 1.7 years, as compar8828,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2010 expected to be recognized oweighted-average period of 1.7 years. Total staased compensation for options granted
to non-employees for the years ended December@1, @nd 2010 was $33,000 and $277,000, respectively

Interest and Other Income, r

The $113,000 decrease in interest and other incoatefor the year ended December 31, 2011 as aqauipa 2010, was primarily due to
no realized gains recognized on foreign currenagdation in 2011 and a lower interest rate eaamedur accounts.

Change in fair value of common stock warrants

The change in fair value of common stock warraotdte years ended December 31, 2011 and 20108as#llion and $2.4 million,
respectively. The increase is primarily due tordaluation of registered common stock warranisedsy us in July 2009 and January 2011.
We revalue warrants at each balance sheet daaér teafue. If unexercised, the warrants will expatesarious dates between August 2012 and
December 2016.

Loss on investment in affiliated ent
The loss is a result of the change in the fair mvialue of the investment in VGX Int’l for the yeended December 31, 2011.

Income Taxe

Since inception, we have incurred operating lossesaccordingly have not recorded a provisionriopine taxes for any of the periods
presented. As of December 31, 2011, we had nettipgross carry forwards for federal, CaliforniedaPennsylvania income tax purposes of
approximately $87.9 million, $27.9 million and $49nillion, respectively, net of the net operatingdes that will expire due to IRC
Section 382 limitations. We also had federal antif@aia research and development tax credits grapimately $880,000 and $1.7 million,
respectively, net of the federal research and dgveént credits that will expire due to IRC Sect3®8 limitations. If not utilized, the net
operating losses and credits will begin to expir@®12. Utilization of net operating losses andlitseare subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to ownership change limitations pdad by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as agtnd
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2010 anél 200

and the results of these two periods are useckidligtussion thereafter.

Increase/
Increase/ (Decrease
December 31, December 31, (Decrease)
2010 2009 %
Revenues:
License fee and milestone rever $ 527,22. $ 4,929,30 $(4,402,08) (89)%
Revenue under collaborative research and develapmen
arrangement — 125,99¢ (125,99¢) (200)
Grants and miscellaneous revel 5,617,48. 4,064,801 1,552,67 38
Total revenues 6,144,70! 9,120,111 (2,975,400 (33
Operating expenses
Research and developmt 13,256,60 9,408,45 3,848,14 41
General and administrati 12,108,26 13,669,40 (1,561,14) (112)
Total operating expense:! 25,364,86 23,077,86 2,287,00. 10
Loss from operations (19,220,16) (13,957,75) (5,262,40) (38)
Other income/(expense), r 2,476,81 (1,258,84) 3,735,66- 297
Interest income, ne 74,514 2,29: 72,22: 3,15(C
Loss on investment in affiliated enti (969,919 (9,244,61) 8,274,70! 90
Net loss (17,638,74) (24,458,92) 6,820,17i 28
Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes 24,95( 47,43¢ (22,489 (47)
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, la. $(17,613,79) $(24,411,48) $ 6,797,68! 28%

Revenue

Our revenue consists of license fees, milestonenpays, and amounts received from collaborativearebeand development

arrangements and grants.

Our total revenue decreased $3.0 million or 33%Heryear ended December 31, 2010, as comparée iear ended December 31, 2
due to decreases in license fees and revenue fsbaborative research and development arrangenoéistst by an increase in grants and

miscellaneous revenue.

The $4.4 million decrease in license fees and moilespayments for the year ended December 31, 20tbmpared to 2009 was
primarily due to no revenues recognized in 2010eumide Wyeth collaboration and licensing agreemer2009 we accelerated and recognized
$4.1 million of deferred revenue due to the camtielh of the Wyeth agreement in July 2009. The elzse was also attributable to less revenue
recognized from other smaller license agreementssd decreases were partially offset by revenwegnéized in 2010 from the VGX Intl

Collaboration and License Agreement.

The $126,000 decrease in revenue under collaberegsearch and development arrangements duringtireended December 31, 2010
as compared to 2009 was due to no revenues reeabuimer our research and collaboration agreemigmterck, as we have provided the
majority of the required device development for imstheir clinical trials. We believe that developnt activities will be limited until trial

results are obtained.

The $1.6 million increase in grant and miscellarse@yenue for the year ended December 31, 2016ragared to 2009, was primarily
due to higher revenues recognized from our contvitbtthe NIAID of $4.1 million for the year endé&kcember 31, 2010 as compared to $3.0
million for 2009. The NIAID contract, which was mifidd in September 2010, has an initial term o&fivears with two one-year options

(period of
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performance is September 30, 2008 — Septembel02%, iAcluding the two options). The current appobfunding of the contract for the five
years is $24.6 million with option years six angesevalued at $1.3 million and $1.0 million, respesly, for a total potential value of $26
million, and will fund research and developmentkd¥ DNA-based vaccines delivered via our propnigtelectroporation system. The
increase is also attributed to the $733,000 gramtrded in October 2010 under The Patient ProteetimhAffordable Care Act of 2010
(“PPACA"). The grant was related to three of ounjpcts, including the Phase Il clinical trial of W&3100, a therapeutic vaccine for cervical
dysplasia and cancer as well as development psdjecSynCor? universal flu and dengue vaccines.ARACA provides small and milzec
biotech, pharmaceutical and medical device companith up to a 50% tax credit for investments imlified therapeutic discoveries for tax
years 2009 and 2010, or a grant for the same antax-free. These increases were partially offset by tesenue recognized under our PATH
Malaria Vaccine Initiative (“MVI1”) contract and fro the Department of Defense (“U.S. Army”) grant. TRAis an international nonprofit
organization funded by private donors. We havesaarch program and agreement with the PATH MViMaleate in a preclinical feasibility
study our SynCoft DNA vaccine development platfoortarget antigens fromlasmodiunspecies and deliver them intradermally using the
CELLECTRA® electroporation device. The initial agment with MVI was for $685,000 and was complete&débruary 2010. In September
2010 we entered into an amended agreement with PATutther this study in non-human primates. Theeaded agreement has a total value
of $804,000 and is expected to be completed by 8u2011. The U.S. Army grant had a total value383000 and was completed in May
2010. This project funded research and developafeDNA-based vaccines delivered via our proprietary edgctration system and focusec
identifying DNA vaccine candidates with the potahtd provide rapid, robust immunity to protect mgabio-warfare and bioterror attacks.

Research and Development Exper

The $3.8 million increase in research and develoyiragpenses for the year ended December 31, 20dénazared to 2009, was
primarily due to higher costs related to work perfed for the NIAID contract, higher outside sergi@nd contract labor expenses related to
research and development projects, higher outsigmeering professional services related to CELLRBP development, higher clinical trial
costs and higher personnel costs due to greatdogegpheadcount on average throughout the yearirnthease was partially offset by a
decrease in expenses incurred by our Norwegiaridiakiss as these entities ceased operations it 288Qvell as lower stock based
compensation expense.

Our research and development activities reflectefiarts to advance our products through the vargtages of product development.
expenditures that will be necessary to executadeuelopment plans are subject to numerous uncgéesjnvhich may affect our research and
development expenditures and capital resources Ewarlier results are positive, we may obtaiffedent results in later stages of
development, which could impact our developmeneexiitures for a particular product. Although wergpa considerable amount of time
planning our development activities, we may be megito alter our plan based on new circumstancevents. Any deviation from our plan
may require us to incur additional expenditureaarelerate or delay the timing of our developmeetsling.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include busidegelopment expenses and the amortization afgitike assets. The $1.6 million
decrease in general and administrative expensdbdgrear ended December 31, 2010 as compared t@8r ended December 31, 2009, was
primarily due to lower legal and related fees asged with the Merger and other corporate mattgpan closing of the Merger in 2009, we
incurred costs such as Merger related compenstatikey employees, higher accounting, audit andataa fees, higher insurance costs, and
higher employee stock based compensation due tacttederated vesting of all Inovio stock optionseTecrease was also attributable to a
decrease in expenses incurred by our Norwegiaridiahiss as these entities ceased operations if. Zfese decreases were partially offse
an increase in recurring operating expenses inefuttie amortization of intangible assets acquinetthé Merger due to a full year operating as
a combined company in 2010 when compared to agpgear in 2009.
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Stock-based Compensation.

Stock-based compensation cost is measured ataheé date, based on the fair value of the awardoediby estimated forfeitures, and is
recognized as expense over the employee’s reqemitéce period. Total compensation cost for ooclsplans for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $898,000 and $1li8mof which $281,000 and $595,000 was incluétetesearch and development
expenses and $617,000 and $1.2 million was inclidgéneral and administrative expenses, respégtidé December 31, 2010, there was
$928,000 of total unrecognized compensation cektted to unvested stock options, which we exgenttognize over a weighted-average
period of 1.7 years, as compared to $1.4 milliarifie year ended December 31, 2009 expected tedogmnized over a weighted-average
period of 2.5 years. Total stock-based compensd#tioaptions granted to non-employees for the yeaded December 31, 2010 and 2009 was
$277,000 and $339,000, respectively.

Other Income/(Expense), net

We recorded other income/(expense), net, for tiaesyended December 31, 2010 and 2009 of $2.5 mélia $(1.3 million),
respectively. The increase in other income (expemss, is primarily due to the revaluation of tgred common stock warrants issued by
October 2006, August 2007 and July 2009. We revideavarrants at each balance sheet date to fisie Vi unexercised, the warrants will
expire at various dates between October 2011 dgd0a4.

Interest Income, ne

Interest income/(expense), net, for the years efsmgmber 31, 2010 and 2009 was $75,000 and $2@8fkgctively. The increase in
interest income/(expense), net, for the year efmbmber 31, 2010 as compared to the year endeshiber 31, 2009, was primarily due to a
decrease in interest expense related to the capleetiebt obtained in connection with the Mergeiickihwas converted to common stock in
August 2009, offset by lower interest income eartieel to a lower cash and investments balance.

Gain (Loss) on investment in affiliated entity
Gain (loss) is a result of the change in the farket value of the investment in VGX Int’l as of é@enber 31, 2010.

Income Taxe

Since inception, we have incurred operating lossesaccordingly have not recorded a provisionriopine taxes for any of the periods
presented. As of December 31, 2010, we had nettipgross carry forwards for federal, CaliforniedaPennsylvania income tax purposes of
approximately $71.6 million, $24.7 million and $8%nillion, respectively, net of the net operatingdes that will expire due to IRC
Section 382 limitations. We also had federal antif@aia research and development tax credits grapimately $550,000 and $1.6 million,
respectively, net of the federal research and dgveént credits that will expire due to IRC Sect3®8 limitations. If not utilized, the net
operating losses and credits will begin to expir@@11. Utilization of net operating losses andlitseare subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to ownership change limitations pdad by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as agtnd

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, our primary uses of cash have beefinance research and development activities inntydlinical trial activities in the
oncology, DNA vaccines and other immunotherapy asdaur business. Since inception, we have satisiur cash requirements principally
from proceeds from the sale of equity securities.
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Working Capital and Liquidity

As of December 31, 2011 we had working capital20.9 million, as compared to $16.4 million as ofcBmber 31, 2010. The increast
working capital during the year ended Decembe2B81,1 was primarily due to the January 2011 and Déee 2011 financings. In December
2011, we completed an underwritten public offeniaigting to the sale and issuance of 7,699,712 tmitertain institutional investors,
consisting of 7,699,712 shares of common stockveartants to purchase an aggregate of up to 5,7Z4d8itional shares of common stock.
These units include the partial exercise of theemwdter's overallotment option of 962,465 addi@bunits at the public offering price. The
units consist of one share of common stock and 6 Zwarrant to purchase one share of common s&dckpurchase price of $0.5195 per
unit. The warrants have a term of five years anéxaaicise price of $0.65 per share. We may calleants if the closing bid price of our
common stock has been at least $1.30 over 20 gratiiys and certain other conditions are met. Weived net proceeds from the transaction
of approximately $3.7 million, after deducting tinederwriters discounts and other offering expenses payabléannary 2011, we entered il
investor purchase agreements with investors rejatinthe issuance and sale of (a) 21,130,400 sbé&esnmon stock, and (b) warrants to
purchase a total of 10,565,200 shares of commaik stith an exercise price of $1.40 per share, foaggregate purchase price of
approximately $24.3 million. The shares of commimtls and warrants were sold in units, consistingre# share of common stock and a
warrant to purchase 0.50 of a share of common stick purchase price of $1.15 per unit. We recknet proceeds from the transaction of
approximately $23.0 million, after deducting thaq#ment agent’s fee and offering expenses paylhig increase in working capital was
partially offset by the $2.0 million and $3.2 milli valuation of the registered common stock wasr&sued in connection with the December
2011 and January 2011 financings, respectively,ateclassified as a current liability on the aditated balance sheet, as well as due to
expenditures related to our research and developaotinities and various general and administragixpenses related to legal, consultants,
accounting and audit, and corporate development.

Net cash used in operating activities was $19.8aniand $11.9 million for the years ended Decen83gr2011 and 2010, respectively.
The increase was primarily the result of the insesbspending on clinical, engineering and othexareh and development activities to support
our programs.

Net cash (used in) / provided by investing aceativas $(10.9 million) and $11.4 million for theay® ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively. The fluctuation was primariig result of timing differences in short-term inveent purchases, sales and maturities.

Net cash provided by/ (used in) financing actigitieas $28.0 million and $(9.7 million) for the ye@nded December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The fluctuation was primarily duehe proceeds from our January 2011 and Decembdrfatdncings and At-The-Market
Equity Distribution Agreement as well as repaymafmur line of credit during 2010.

We initiated an At-Thevarket Equity Distribution Agreement in August 2040d raised $3.7 million net of expenses, as oebder 31
2011.

Prior to July 1, 2010, we held Auction Rate Se@si{"ARS"), which were municipal debt obligationgth an underlying long-term
maturity. Due to conditions in the global creditrkets these securities were not liquid as of Deaarith, 2009. In December 2008, we, via
wholly-owned subsidiary Genetronics, which held ARS, accepted an offer of ARS Rights from UBS feximitted us to require UBS to
purchase our ARS at par value at any time duriegptiriod of June 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012J@n 1, 2010, we exercised the ARS
Rights, and we sold the remaining ARS at par value.

In conjunction with the acceptance of the ARS Righte also amended our existing loan agreementWB® Bank USA, increasing the
existing credit line up to $12.1 million, with t#&RS pledged as collateral. We fully drew down oa lihe of credit in December 2008. On
July 1, 2010, upon exercise of our ARS Rights lithe of credit was paid in full and terminated.
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As of December 31, 2011, we had an accumulateditlefi$210.1 million. We have operated at a lasses 1994, and we expect to
continue to operate at a loss for some time. Theuatof the accumulated deficit will continue tariease, as it will be expensive to continue
research and development efforts. If these aaivitire successful and if we receive approval fl@DA to market our DNA vaccine
products, then we will need to raise additionalding to market and sell the approved vaccine prizdaicd equipment. We cannot predict the
outcome of the above matters at this time. We eatuating potential collaborations as an additiomay to fund operations. We will continue
to rely on outside sources of financing to meetaapital needs into the third quarter of 2013.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatitive or are reasonably likely to have a cumwefuture effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenexpenses, and results of operations, liquiditpjtahexpenditures or capital resources.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2011, we did not have any athegerial long-term debt or other known contractldigations, except for the
operating leases for our facilities, which expme2D13 through 2017, and operating leases for cgpiéhich expire in 2012 through 2014.

We are contractually obligated to make the follayvaperating lease payments as of December 31, 2011:

More than
Less than
Total 1 year 1 -3 years 3 —5years 5 years
Operating lease obligations $1,397,001 $413,00( $545,00( $357,00( $82,00(

In the normal course of business, we are a parwariety of agreements pursuant to which we neaghiigated to indemnify the other
party. It is not possible to predict the maximuntgmdial amount of future payments under these tgbegreements due to the conditional
nature of our obligations and the unique facts@raimstances involved in each particular agreemdistorically, payments made by us un
these types of agreements have not had a mat#eéet en our business, consolidated results of apars or financial condition.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magaot our consolidated financial position, resuftemerations or cash flows due to
adverse changes in financial and commodity markeép and rates. We are exposed to market riskgpifiyrin the area of changes in United
States interest rates and conditions in the credikets, and the recent fluctuations in interesgtsrand availability of funding in the credit
markets primarily impact the performance of oureistiiments. We do not have any material foreign oggrer other derivative financial
instruments. Under our current policies, we douss interest rate derivative instruments to maexgesure to interest rate changes. We
attempt to increase the safety and preservati@uoinvested principal funds by limiting defaulskj market risk and reinvestment risk. We
mitigate default risk by investing in investmenade securities.

Fair Value measurements

We account for our common stock warrants pursuatite authoritative guidance on accounting fondgive financial instruments
indexed to, and potentially settled in, a compaimyis stock, on the understanding that in compliamitle applicable securities laws, the
registered warrants require the issuance of
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registered securities upon exercise and do noicgrifly preclude an implied right to net cashlsetient. We classify registered warrants or
consolidated balance sheet as a current liabiiay is revalued at each balance sheet date sulsgdqube initial issuance.

The investment in affiliated entity represents ownership interest in the Korean based company, W&X We report this investment
fair value on the consolidated balance sheet usiaglosing price of VGX Int'I's shares of commaonek as listed on the Korean Stock
Exchange.

As of December 31, 2010, we no longer hold tradiecurities. Previously, we classified all of ouréatment securities consisting of A
issued primarily by municipalities as trading sées and reported them on the consolidated balaheet at market value.

In December 2008, we, via our wholly-owned subsidi@enetronics, which held the ARS, accepted agraf ARS Rights from our
investment advisor, UBS Financial Services, Insulasidiary of UBS AG, or UBS. The ARS Rights pdted us to require UBS to purchase
our ARS at par value at any time during the pedbdune 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012. On July0l,02we exercised the ARS Rights, and we
sold the remaining ARS held by us at par value.

Foreign Currency Risk

We have operated primarily in the United Statesrandt transactions during the year ended Decenmhe2(.1, have been made in
United States dollars. Accordingly, we have not hag material exposure to foreign currency ratettlations, with the exception of the
valuation of our equity investment in VGX Int'l wdfi is denominated in South Korean Won. We do ne¢ fzy foreign currency hedging
instruments in place.

Certain transactions related to us are denominaiethrily in foreign currencies, including Eurog;jtidh Pounds, Canadian Dollars,
South Korean Won and Singapore Dollars. As a resultfinancial results could be affected by fasteuch as changes in foreign currency
exchange rates or weak economic conditions indoreiarkets where we conduct business, includingntipact of the existing crisis in the
global financial markets in such countries anditijggact on both the United States dollar and thecdhébreign currencies.

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsdjpeculative purposes. We do not engage in exchagdedging or hold or issue
foreign exchange contracts for trading purposestadtly, we do not expect the impact of fluctuasion the relative fair value of other
currencies to be material in 2012.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this Item 8 is incorgi@d by reference to our Consolidated Financiak8tants and the Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm beigim at page F-1 of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2011, we carried out an evaoatvith the participation of our Chief Executivéfi©er and Chief Financial Officer,
of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls pratedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) undeExuhange Act). Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chié&fancial Officer concluded that our disclosure colstand procedures were effective as of
the end of the period
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covered by this report in recording, processingy®iarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, infotiorarequired to be disclosed in reports
we file or submit under the Exchange Act and oscldisure controls and procedures were also effettiensure that information we disclose
in the reports we file or submit under the ExchaAgeis accumulated and communicated to our managérmcluding our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow tinyetlecisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Managemer's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinancRéporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchangeoh 1934. Our internal control over financial oefing is a process designed under the
supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Ghieancial Officer to provide reasonable assuraegarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of our financialestagnts for external purposes in accordance withedr$tates generally accepted accounting
principles.

As of December 31, 2011, management, with theqpatiion of the Chief Executive Officer and Chiéf&ncial Officer, assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting based on the criteria for effectiveeimial control over financial reporting
established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framekybissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgatinzes (“COSO”) of the Treadway
Commission. Based on the assessment, managemenitetd that we maintained effective internal colntver financial reporting as of
December 31, 2011.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogin

There have not been any changes in our internatalaver financial reporting (as defined in Ruli3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) that occurred during the fourth geraof our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 lthee materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our inteFgantrol over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Puldtmounting Firrr

The independent registered public accounting flrat iudited the consolidated financial statemératdre included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K has issued an audit reporheretfectiveness of our internal control over ficiahreporting as of December 31, 2011.
The report appears below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'srivdkecontrol over financial reporting as of DecemBg, 2011, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiof the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Ismmanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, ¢
for its assessment of the effectiveness of interaatrol over financial reporting included in thecampanying ManagemestAnnual Report ¢
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on the compargternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightq&@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigfenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe©tsr audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancesdlieve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablezassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thagi€ithin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@éawith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasaabsurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfainauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the Company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢t@isstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maiméa, in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2011, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Inovio Pharmacésiticer. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, andeflaged consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flowsetich of the three years in the period ended DeeeBil, 2011 of Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our report dated Mar¢l2Q52 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 15, 2012
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item 10 is herétgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of B0t 1 fiscal year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is heréigorporated by reference from our definitive pretgitement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 20t 1 fiscal year.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is herétgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 20t 1 fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Director independence and other information reqguing this Iltem 13 is hereby incorporated by refeesftom our definitive proxy
statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14thiw 120 days after the end of our 2011 fiscalryea

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is herétgorporated by reference from our definitive prastgtement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 20t 1 fiscal year.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statemen
Consolidated financial statements required to leel tiereunder are indexed on Page F-1 hereof.

2.  Financial Statement Schedu

Schedules not listed herein have been omitted Iseddwe information required to be set forth theigimot applicable or is included in the
Financial Statements or notes thereto.
3. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of thisnaral report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3.1(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of theisegn’s Registratior
Statement on Form-3 (File No. 33-108752) filed on September 12, 20C
(b) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetificate of Incorporation as filed with the DelamgeSecretary of State
September 10, 2004 (incorporated by reference tobix3.1 of the registrant’s Form 8-K current refiled September 16,
2004).
(c) Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Redt@rtificate of Incorporation as filed with the |Bware Secretary of
State on March 31, 2005 (incorporated by refer@gadexhibit 3.1 of the registrant’s Form 8-K curreaport filed on April 4,
2005).
(d) Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Redt@ertificate of Incorporation as filed with the |Bware Secretary of

State on May 14, 2010 (incorporated by referendextubit 3.1 of the registrant’s on Form 10-Q gedst report for the quarter
ended March 31, 2010 filed on May 17, 20!

3.2(a) Certificate of Designations, Rights and PrefererafeSeries C Convertible Preferred Stock of regist(incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the registr's Registration Statement on Fori-3 filed on June 21, 2004

(b) Certificate of Decrease of Shares of Series C Cativel Convertible Preferred Stock of registrantgirporated by reference
Exhibit 3.4 of the registra’s Registration Statement on Fori-3 filed on June 21, 2004
3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Inovio Pharmacdatitriec. dated August 10, 2011 (incorporated bgnexfice to Exhibit 3.2
to the registrar's Form &K current report filed on August 12, 201
4.12 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated asputeSiber 15, 2006 by and between the registraneacid of the

purchasers listed on Schedule 1 to the SecuritieshBse Agreement (Exhibit 10.23 herein) (incorfeatdy reference to
Exhibit 4.3 of the registra’s Form K current report filed on September 20, 20(

4.13 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Septeitihe?2006 by and among registrant and certain toveindicated on
schedule thereto (incorporated by reference tolkixh0.5 of the registrant’s Form 10-Q quarterlgag for the quarter ended
September 30, 2010 filed on November 9, 20
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Exhibit
Number

4.14

4.16+

4.17+

4.18

4.19

10.1

10.2t

10.3t

10.4

10.5+

10.6

10.7+

10.8

10.9

10.10+

Description of Document

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant to be usethbybetween the registrant and each of the puechéisted or
Schedule 1 to the Securities Purchase and Exchisgrgement (Exhibit 10.25 herein) (incorporated &ference to Exhibit 4.2
of the registrar's Form 1i-K annual report for the year ended December 316 2i¢d on March 16, 2007

Form of Restricted Stock Award Grants under the720nnibus Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated bgnmafice to Exhibit 4.3
to the registrar’s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed on May 14, 2007

Form of Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Optiora@ts under the 2007 Omnibus Stock Incentive Pteco(porated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the regist’'s Registration Statement on For-8 filed with on May 14, 2007

Form of Common Stock Warrant issued by Inovio Plaeuiticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to BixHi.1 to the
registran’s Form &K current report filed on January 24, 201

Form of Warrant Purchase Common Stock issued hyidridharmaceuticals (incorporated by referencextuilit 4.1 to the
registran’s Form K current report filed December 1, 201

Lease Agreement by and between the registrant a8d $entry Park West LLC dated December 10, 20@®(porated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s FditaK annual report for the year ended DecembeRBQ9 filed on March 26,
2010).

License Agreement dated September 20, 2000 by etwekbn the registrant and the University of Southidla Researc
Foundation, Inc. (incorporated by reference to BEitHi0.5 of the registrant’s Form 10-Q quarterlpag for the quarter ended
September 30, 2000 filed on November 9, 20

Non-Exclusive License and Research Collaboration Agere dated as of May 21, 2004 by and among thstragt and
Merck & Co., Inc. and Genetronics, Inc., a subsidif the registrant (incorporated by referenc&xbibit 10.1 to the
registran’s Form 1-Q quarterly report for the quarter ended June 804Z4iled on August 13, 2004

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incotpadray reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the regist’'s Form &K current
report filed on August 6, 2007

Employment Agreement dated as of December 27, Béf@een Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Peter nesrporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the regist’'s Form 1K report for the year ended December 31, 2010 fiedlarch 16, 2011

Voting Trust Agreement dated June 1, 2009 by andngninovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the stockholdisted on Schedule |
thereto, Simon Benito, Tee Khiang Ng and Dr. Mor@wilins (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@he registrant’s
Form &K current report filed on June 1, 200

Employment agreement dated December 27, 2010 betimegio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Niranjan Y. 8aad (filed here
with).

Securities Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 29@&¢t among Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and thiel@sers identified o
the signature pages thereto (incorporated by neferéo Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s FornK&urrent report filed on July 3
2009).

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors adfficers of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorgied by reference
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’'s Form 10-Q quastedport for the quarterly period ended June 3092filed on August 19,
2009).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datezb@c6, 2009 by and between Inovio Pharmaceutibaisand
Dr. Avtar Dhillon (incorporated by reference to Ebih10.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K current refded on October 6,
2009).
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Exhibit
Number

10.12#

10.13%t

10.14t

10.15t

10.16%

10.17t

10.18%t

10.20t

10.21¢t

10.22

10.23t

10.24t

Description of Document

Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incentive Phaorforated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thestegn’s Form 10
quarterly report for the quarterly period ended thaB1, 2010, filed on May 17, 201(

License Agreement dated June 26, 2000 by and amaylgr College of Medicine, Valentis, Inc. and Ajgol Veterinary
Systems, Inc., as filed with the registr's Registration Statement on For-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

License Agreement dated January 25, 2001 by ankketBaylor College of Medicine and Applied Vetariy Systems, Inc.
assigned to VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amengédrst Amendment dated April 17, 2002, Second Adment dated

May 29, 2002, Third amendment dated March 5, 2602rth Amendment dated April 14, 2004 and Fifth Awxh@ent dated
February 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference talktxh0.27 as filed with the registrant’s RegisivatStatement on Form S-4
(File No. 33:-156035) on April 27, 2009

License Agreement dated November 5, 2001 by anddaet The Trustees of the University of Pennsylvani VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amentidagad August 15, 2005 (incorporated by refergadexhibit 10.29 as
filed with the registrar s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

R&D Alliance Agreement dated December 19, 2005y lzetween Ganial Immunotherapeutics, Inc. and \
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextabit 10.31 as filed with the registrant’s Rerasion Statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 21, 20@Adwamong Ronald O. Bergan, Mary Alice Bergan, \é6&
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextabit 10.32 as filed with the registrant’s Reation Statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

License Agreement dated May 9, 2007 by and betBastor University and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inccérporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.34 as filed with the regist’s registration statement on Form S-4 (File 883-156035) on April 27,
20009).

Non-Exclusive License Agreement dated September 1, B@Ghd between VGX Animal Health, Inc. and V(
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.36 as filed with the registrant’s Reation Statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

License Agreement dated September 1, 2007 by ametba VGX Animal Health, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceusc#nc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 agifidgth the registrant’s Registration Statement om#S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009

Assignment of Contingent Payments Agreement datgdl&@r 20, 2007 by and among Ronald O. Bergan, Macg Bergan,
VGX Animal Health, Inc., and VGX Pharmaceuticals;.l (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38ilasl with the
registran’s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33:-156035) on April 27, 2009

R&D Collaboration and License Agreement dated Ddoami 8, 2006 by and between VGX International, &amd VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amentidegad October 31, 2007 and as amended by Secmedidment dated
August 4, 2008 (incorporated by reference to ExHibi39 as filed with the registrant’s Registrati8tatement on Form S-4
(File No. 33:-156035) on April 27, 2009

Sales and Marketing Agreement dated February 28 B9 and between VGX International and VGX Phamuiéicals, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 agifidgth the registrant’s Registration Statement om#S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009
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Exhibit
Number

10.25+

10.26%

10.27

10.29t

10.30+

10.31+

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35%

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39+

Description of Document

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2008 by amden J. Joseph Kim, Ph.D. and VGX Pharmaceutitrads, as
amended by First Amendment of Employment Agreerdated March 31, 2008 (incorporated by referendextubit 10.43 as
filed with the registrar's Registration Statement on For-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

CELLECTRAZ® Device License Agreement dated April 2608 by and between VGX International and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.44 as filed with the registrant’s Reation Statement on Form S-
4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 2008 bgraodg VGXI, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Incc@irporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.48 as filed with the regist’'s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File 388-156035) on April 27,
2009).

Patent License Agreement dated April 27, 2007 lyylz@tween The Trustees of the University of Pervasyh and VGX
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by First Amentdatad June 12, 2008 (incorporated by referen&skibit 10.50 as filed
with the registrar s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

2001 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Pharmacel#jdac., as amended (incorporated by referen&extobit 10.62 as filet
with the registrar s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

2007 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Animal Healtit. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a683filed with the
registran’s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Memorandum of NIH Research Grant Agreement by ataiden National Institute of Allergy and InfectidDseases and
VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by refeestacExhibit 10.66 as filed with the registrant'sdg®stration Statement on
Form ¢-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued@®) Pharmaceuticals, Inc. since 2003 (incorpordtgdeference ti
Exhibit 10.67 as filed with the registr’s Registration Statement on Fori-4 (File No. 33-156035) on April 27, 2009

Form of Warrant Purchase Agreement for WarranBuehase Common Stock issued by VGX Pharmaceutloalssince
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68lad with the registrant’s Registration StatementForm S-4 (File No. 333-
156035) on April 27, 2009

License and Collaboration Agreement dated Marct2240 between Inovio Pharmaceuticals, inc. and W@#rnational, Inc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 as figth the registrant’s Form 10-Q quarterly repant the quarter ended
March 31, 2010 filed on May 17, 201!

Equity Distribution Agreement dated August 27, 2@¥dween Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Rotht@bpartners, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 as fikgth the registrars Form &K current report filed on August 27, 201

Placement Agent Agreement dated January 24, 2tWdebe Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Roth Capitatners, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 as fikgth the registrars Form &K current report filed on January 24, 201

Underwriting Agreement dated December 1, 2011 betweovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Brean Murrarr€ & Co., LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 as fikgth registrar’s Form K current report filed on December 1, 201

Employment Agreement dated December 10, 2009 beteio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Mark L. Bagaréided here
with).
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.40+ Collaborative Development and License Agreememnwéen VGX International, Inc. and Inovio Pharmacsals, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 as fildth the registrant’s Form 10-Q quarterly repant the quarter ended
September 30, 2011 filed on November 7, 20

21.1 Subsidiaries of the registral

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature pay

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuésecurities Exchange Act Rule -14(a).

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursus&ecurities Exchange Act Rule -14(a).

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adbptasuant to Section 906 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Documen

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docunhe

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documt

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenit

# The registrant hereby agrees to furnish the,staff confidential basis, a supplemental copyngf@mitted schedule upon the staff’s

request

+  Designates management contract, compensatory pamamgemen

t  We have applied with the Secretary of the Secsraigd Exchange Commission for confidential treatroérertain information pursua
to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of4l98e have filed separately with our applicatioropy of the exhibit including all
confidential portions, which may be made availdbtepublic inspection pending the Securities andt&nge Commissioa’review of th
application in accordance with Rule :-2.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduolp authorized on March 15, 2012.

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: s/ J. 0SEPHK IM
J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes anairgpp). Joseph Kim
and Peter Kies, and each of them severally, hieeotrue and lawful attorney-in-fact with powersofbstitution and resubstitution to sign in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all cigmdio do any and all things and execute anyadlndstruments that such attorney may deem
necessary or advisable under the Securities ExehAngof 1934 and any rules, regulations and resuémts of the United States Securities
Exchange Commission in connection with the Annughétt on Form 10-K and any and all amendments dieastfully for all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in peeswmhhereby ratifies and confirms all said attorrieyfact and agents, each acting alone, and
his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfdityor cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ J..0SePHK IM President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc March 15, 201:
J. Joseph Kim (Principal Executive Officer
/sl AvVTAR D HILLON Chairman of the Board of Directors March 15, 2012
Avtar Dhillon
/sl PeTERK IES Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Oféic March 15, 201:
Peter Kies and Principal Financial Office
/s/ SimoN X. B ENITO Director March 15, 201:
Simon X. Benito
/s/ MORTONC OLLINS Director March 15, 2012
Morton Collins
/s  KEITHW ELLS Director March 15, 201:
Keith Wells
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as oeBéer 31, 2011 and 2010, and
the related consolidated statements of operatgtoskholders’ equity, and cash flows for each efttiree years in the period ended
December 31, 2011. These financial statementhareesponsibility of the Company’s management. 1©sjponsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 20iL2910, and the consolidated results of its operatand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20tbnformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated findrstetiements, the Company changed its method @fuating for revenue recognition as
a result of the adoption of the amendments to k®B-Accounting Standards Codification resultingnfré.ccounting Standards Update No.
2009-13 Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) , Multiple-DelildeaRevenue Arrangementsffective January 1, 2011.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bogsnited States), Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over ficiahreporting as of December 31, 2011, based iberier established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiaha@ur report dated March 15, 2012
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 15, 2012
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2011 2010
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivale $ 17,350,11 $ 19,998,48
Shor-term investment 12,863,42 1,846,27.
Accounts receivabl 467,90¢ 32,881
Accounts receivable from affiliated ent 38,40¢ 72,14¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 746,04¢ 273,97!
Prepaid expenses and other current assets frolatafii entity 441,18¢ 653,43t
Total current assets 31,907,08 22,877,20
Restricted cas 100,05¢ —
Fixed assets, ni 295,78! 276,79
Intangible assets, n 9,310,48! 11,180,00
Goodwill 10,113,37 10,113,37
Investment in affiliated entit 9,071,51. 11,360,88
Common stock warran 100,00( —
Other asset 208,26: 259,12¢
Total assets $ 61,106,56 $ 56,067,39
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expet $ 4,318,94 $ 3,410,61
Accounts payable and accrued expenses due tatdtlientity 20,34« 1,680,94
Accrued clinical trial expens¢ 1,059,37: 178,32¢
Common stock warran 5,176,31! 370,92¢
Deferred revenu 79,50: 420,89
Deferred revenue from affiliated ent 388,54. 375,00(
Total current liabilities 11,043,02 6,436,70:
Deferred revenue, net of current port 80,45( 72,78(
Deferred revenue from affiliated entity, net of reunt portion 1,961,69. 2,336,69:
Deferred ren 80,87" 67,11:
Deferred tax liabilitie: 78,85¢ 53,18¢
Total liabilities 13,244,89 8,966,48!
Commitments and contingenci
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stoc—par value $0.001; Authorized shares: 10,000,080ed and outstanding: 26 and

at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, résglgc — —
Common stock—par value $0.001; Authorized share8;®0,000, issued and outstanding:

134,968,394 at December 31, 2011 and 105,038,1B2@mber 31, 201 134,96¢ 105,03
Additional paic-in capital 257,235,70 241,233,33
Accumulated defici (210,091,17) (194,838,22)
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 35,39: 2,85(
Total Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholder’ equity 47,314,89 46,502,99
Non-controlling interes 546,76¢ 597,91¢
Total stockholderl equity 47,861,66 47,100,91
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 61,106,56 $ 56,067,39

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues:

License fee and milestone rever

License fee and milestone revenue from affiliatetity
Revenue under collaborative research and developanemgement
Grants and miscellaneous revei

Miscellaneous revenue from affiliated ent

Total revenues

Operating expenses

Research and developmt

General and administrati\

Gain on sale of asse

Total operating expense:

Loss from operations

Other income (expense)

Interest and other income, r

Change in fair value of common stock warre

Loss on investment in affiliated enti

Net loss

Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes

Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le.

Loss per common shar—basic and diluted:
Net loss per share attributable to Inovio Pharmaceiticals, Inc. stockholders

Weighted average number of common shares outstandj—basic and diluted

For the Years ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$ 156390 $ 21391t $ 4,929,30
411,45 313,30 18,22:
— — 125,99
9,227,40. 5,549,58: 4,005,71
— 67,90 40,86
9,795,25 6,144,70 9,120,11
20,032,00 13,256,60 9,408,45
11,988,79 12,108,26 13,669,40
(587,000) — —
31,433,79 25,364,86 23,077,86
(21,638,54) (19,220,16) (13,957,75)
34,28t 147,40 30,32¢
8,690,65: 2,403,92. (1,286,88)
(2,390,49) (969,91/) (9,244,61)
(15,304,09) (17,638,74) (24,458,92)
51,15( 24,95( 47 43¢

$(15,252,94)

$(17,613,79)

$(24,411,48)

$ (0.12)

$ (0.17)

$ (0.39)

126,239,33

103,201,88

74,714,13

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred stock

Common stock

Accumulated

other Non- Total
Additional Accumulated comprehensive controlling  stockholders’
Number Number paid-in
of shares Amount of shares  Amount capital deficit income interest equity
Balance at December 31, 2008 71 — 44,023,05 $ 44,02 $171,868,91 $(152,812,94) $ 6,15¢ — $ 19,106,14
Issuance of common stock to VGX Pharmaceutical
Shareholder — — 41,492,75 41,49! 26,098,94 — — — 26,140,43
Stock options and warrants assumed in connectitn
Merger — — — — 5,137,03: — — — 5,137,03
Non-controlling interest assumed in
connection with merge — — — — — — — 670,30° 670,30
Issuance of common stock and warrants for cashofn
financing costs of $1.6 millio — — 11,111,11 11,11 28,395,24 — — — 28,406,35
Fair value of common stock warrants issued in
connection with equity financin — — — — (1,263,389 — — — (1,263,38)
Exercise of stock options for ca — — 794,04: 79t 357,94 — — — 358,74(
Cashless exercise of stock optic — — 519,49: 51¢ (519 — — — —
Conversions of preferred stock to common si (45) — 66,17¢ 66 (66) — — — —
Conversion of convertible debt to common st — — 4,600,68. 4,601 4,826,11: — — — 4,830,71!
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 138,75( 13¢ 2,157,741 — — — 2,157,87!
Comprehensive los
Net loss attributable to common stockholc — — — — — (24,411,48) — (47,439  (24,458,92)
Foreign currency translation ge — — — — — — 99,637 — 99,637
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — — — — — (24,359,28)
Balance at December 31, 2C 26 — 102,746,05 $102,74t $237,577,97 $(177,224,43) $ 105,79t $ 622,86¢ $ 61,184,94
Issuance of common stock for cash, net of financing
costs of $71,83 — — 1,994,67. 1,99t 2,312,12! — — — 2,314,12.
Exercise of stock options for ca — — 297,46: 297 168,36¢ — — — 168,66!
Stocl-based compensatic — — — — 1,174,86° — — — 1,174,86
Comprehensive los
Net loss attributable to common stockholc — — — — — (17,613,79) — (24,95()  (17,638,74)
Foreign currency translation lo — — — — — — (102,94¢) — (102,949
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — — — — — (17,741,69)
Balance at December 31, 2C 26 — 105,038,19 $105,03¢ $241,233,33 $(194,838,22) $ 2,85( $ 597,91¢ $ 47,100,91
Issuance of common stock for cash, net of financing
costs of $41,83 — — 1,028,90! 1,02¢ 1,350,64! — — — 1,351,66!
Issuance of common stock and warrants for cashgfnet
financing costs of $1.3 millio — — 21,130,40 21,13( 22,936,67 — — — 22,957,80
Fair value of common stock warrants issued in
connection with equity financin — — — — (11,727,37) — — — (11,727,37)
Issuance of common stock and warrants for cashgfnet
financing costs of $314,81 — — 7,699,71. 7,700 3,677,42! — — — 3,685,12!
Fair value of common stock warrants issued in
connection with equity financin — — — — (1,905,679 — — — (1,905,67))
Exercise of stock options and warrants for ¢ — — 71,18¢ 71 15,85¢ — — — 15,93(
Stoclk-based compensatic — — — — 1,654,82. — — — 1,654,82:
Comprehensive los
Net loss attributable to common stockholc — — — — — (15,252,94) — (51,15()  (15,304,09)
Unrealized gain on she-term investment — — — — — — 35,80¢ — 35,80¢
Foreign currency translation lo — — — — — — (3,269 — (3,269
Total comprehensive lo: — — — — — — — — (15,271,55)
Balance at December 31, 2C 26 — 134,968,39 $134,96¢ $257,235,70 $(210,091,17) $ 35,39¢ $ 546,76¢ $ 47,861,66

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior
Amortization of intangible asse
Change in value of common stock warre
Change in value of sheterm investmen—auction rate securitie
Change in value of auction rate security ric
Gain on lon-term investment
Stocl-based compensatic
Interest converted into common stc
Interest expense accrued on line of cr

Interest income accrued on sl-term investmen-certificates of depos

Reserve for inventory purchased from related pa
Recognition/(amortization) of deferred tax liabdi
Deferred ren
Impairment of lon-term investment
Loss on disposal of fixed ass:
Loss on investment in affiliated ent
Gain on sale of asse
Gain from lon¢term investment in affiliated enti
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Accounts receivable from affiliated ent
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets frolnataffi entity
Restricted cas
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Accounts payable and accrued expenses due tastlientity
Deferred revenu
Deferred revenue from affiliated ent
Net cash used in operating activitie
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investmer
Maturities of investment
Sales of investmer-auction rate securitie
Purchases of capital ass
Sale of capital asse
Additional investment in affiliated entit
Net cash provided by acquisitit
Proceeds from sale of intangible as:
Acquired intangible assets and other as
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activitie
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warnagit®f issuance cos

Proceeds from stock option and warrant exerc
Repayment of line of cred

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casveé&nts

(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

For the Years ended December 31,

2011

2010

2009

$(15,304,09)

$(17,638,74)

$(24,458,92)

142,19 194,624 237,22
1,869,51 1,913,91; 1,439,75!
(8,690,65)) (2,403,92) 1,286,88.

= (3,152,47)) —
— 3,145,15! (1,228,05))
= = 1,136,33i
1,654,82: 1,174,86 2,157,87"
= = 430,71}
— 61,15: 166,17t
6,271 (6,279) =
— — 177,96
25,67¢ 53,18¢ (887,25()
13,76 55,77¢ (131,02()
= 25,00( =
— 21,18: 26,40¢
2,390,49 969,91+ 9,244,61.
(587,00() — —
= = (5,50%)
(435,02) 226,32( 288,15!
33,74: (13,299 1,103,92!
(472,079 35,89( 242,321
212,25 (553,45() —
(100,059 = =
50,86¢ 21,41¢ (18,400
1,789,37, (156,079) (1,043,83)
(1,660,60) 1,235,85 428,35!
(333,72)) 140,75’ (4,673,91)
(361,459 2,711,69. —
(19,755,71) (11,937,52) (14,080,19)
(18,193,61) (8,000,001) —
7,206,001 6,160,001 —
— 13,550,00 —
(161,18) (181,649 (48,369)
— 32,50( —
(101,129 — —
— — 1,611,281
350,00 — —
— (124,98() (116,56
(10,899,92) 11,435,87 1,446,34!
27,994,60 2,314,12. 28,406,35
15,93( 168,66t 358,74(
— (12,175,91) (160,84))
28,010,53 (9,693,12) 28,604,25
(3,269 (102,94¢) 210,52t
(2,648,37) (10,297,72) 16,180,93
19,998,48 30,296,21 14,115,28
$ 17,350,11  $ 19,99848  $ 30,296,21

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. The Company

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company” or ‘W) is engaged in the discovery, development, delivery of a new generation of
vaccines, called DNA vaccines, focused on canaetdrdectious diseases. The Company’s Syn€on tdebp@nables the design of
“universal” DNA-based vaccines capable of providangss-protection against new, unmatched straipathfogens such as influenza. The
Company'’s electroporation DNA delivery technologes brief, controlled electrical pulses to increzedilar DNA vaccine uptake. Initial
human data has shown this method can safely andisantly increase gene expression and immuneoresgs. The Company’s clinical
programs include human papillomavirus (“HPV”)/cealicancer (therapeutic), avian influenza (prewetiprostate cancer (therapeutic),
leukemia (therapeutic), hepatitis C virus (“HCVHcahuman immunodeficiency virus (“HIV") vaccineshd Company is advancing preclinical
research for a universal seasonal/pandemic influgazcine and other product candidates. The Compaaytners and collaborators include
University of Pennsylvania, Drexel University, Natal Microbiology Laboratory of the Public Healtlyéncy of Canada, Program for
Appropriate Technology in Health/Malaria Vaccindiative (“PATH” or “MVI"), National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases
(“NIAID™), Merck, ChronTech, University of Southangn, United States Military HIV Research Progradd$MHRP”), U.S. Army Medical
Research Institute of Infectious Diseases (“USAMR]| HIV Vaccines Trial Network (“HVTN") and Depantent of Homeland Security
(“DHS").

On May 14, 2010, the Company amended its Certdioatincorporation to change its name from “InoBiomedical Corporation” to
“Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.”

2. VGX Pharmaceuticals Business Acquisition

On June 1, 2009 (the “Acquisition Date”) the Compaampleted the acquisition of VGX Pharmaceutickids, (“VGX”), a privately-
held company, pursuant to the terms of an Amendddestated Agreement and Plan of Merger datedrblaeeb, 2008, as further amended
on March 31, 2009 (the “Merger Agreement”) by antbag Inovio, Inovio’s wholly-owned subsidiary InovAcquisition, LLC and VGX (the
“Merger”).

Upon the closing of the Merger, based on an exahaatip of 0.9812 (the “Merger Exchange Ratio”)] am terms and conditions as set
forth in the Merger Agreement,

» all of the issued and outstanding shares of comstmek of VGX were canceled and converted into ijetito receive shares
common stock of Inovic

« all outstanding options to purchase shares of V@Xron stock became exercisable for shares of I’'s common stock
» all outstanding warrants to purchase shares of ¥@Xmon stock became exercisable for shares ofd’s common stock, ar
» all outstanding convertible debt of VGX became dabtvertible into Inovi’s common stock on existing tern
As of the Acquisition Date, an aggregate of 41,4592 ,shares of Inovio’s common stock were issugtigdormer stockholders of VGX,
and an additional 18,794,187 shares of Inovio’smam stock were reserved for issuance upon exestigee assumed options and warrants
and conversion of the principal of and maximumries¢ payable on the VGX convertible debt. Immedyafialowing the Acquisition Date, the

continuing holders of Inovio securities owned apipmately 51.59% of Inovio’s issued and outstandinghmon stock and the former holders
of VGX securities owned approximately 48.41% ofuinds issued and outstanding common stock.
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Upon the closing of the Merger, Inovio Acquisitidtl,C succeeded to all of VGX's business, properéied assets and assumed its
obligations (other than the outstanding optionsaadants to purchase shares of VGX common stoakitacame exercisable to purchase
shares of Inovio common stock), changed its namé&3® Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and remains a wholly-edisubsidiary of the Company,
utilizing a single, integrated management team Wwitvio.

Prior to the date of the Merger Agreement, Inozisodle relationship with VGX was as a party tacariising agreement with VGX, ente
into in the ordinary course of business, and asl@eh of 25,000 shares of VGX common stock acquineglation to such agreement. The
shares of VGX common stock held by Inovio were e#lad upon closing of the Merger.

After a review of relevant factors and in accordandth the guidance regarding business combingtioesio was determined to be the
accounting acquirer. The Merger was accounteddorgthe purchase method of accounting for busicessinations under U.S. GAAP.
Accordingly, the historical consolidated financsghtements of Inovio were carried forward at théstorical cost and the purchase price
allocated to VGX'’s identifiable assets and lia@ktwas based on their estimated fair values aAtiygiisition Date.

The final determination of the purchase price atmn was based on the fair values of major clagbassets acquired, including
identifiable intangibles and the fair value of ligkes assumed as of the Acquisition Date. Theesscpurchase price of the acquired entity over
the fair value of assets and liabilities was rednggh by the Company as goodwill on the accompangorsolidated balance sheet.

As a result of the Merger, Inovio acquired VGX'svdped technology, which consists of VGX's CELLERA @ technology and GHR
technology.

The purchase price allocation for acquisitions nexguextensive use of accounting estimates andijedds to allocate the purchase price
to the identifiable tangible and intangible assetguired, including in-process research and dewedmp, and liabilities assumed based on their
respective fair values. Additionally, the Companystdetermine whether an acquired entity is coms@tleo be a business or a set of net assets
because a portion of the purchase price can onllbeated to goodwill in a business combination.

Management estimated the fair value of the VGX tped technology using reasonable assumptions lmasaitorical experience. The
valuation methodology used to estimate the valub®technologies was the excess earnings mettnisl miethod reflects the present value of
the operating cash flows generated by the techiedagfter taking into account the cost to realieerevenue, and an appropriate discount rate
to reflect the time value and risk associated withassets. First, yearly revenues for each teoggalere forecasted for a projected period of
time of 10 years. Related cost of sales and opgratkpenses were then deducted from the reveraenstiNext, in order to value the
technology, the value and required rate of retarrother assets that contribute to the generafidineorevenue earned by that particular
technology asset were determined. The requiredn®gtn these other assets (the other asset cidss#ified were: net working capital, fixed
assets, and assembled workforce) were “chargegbtoather deducted from) the future net operaitimgme to determine the returns
specifically earned by the technology. Then, aalist rate was applied that considered the reasemadplectation of the risk profile of the
proprietary technology in order to bring the futimeome to a present value. In the case of CELLEEPRechnology, a discount rate of 45%
was used for the core technology and 60% for tHestoine and royalty; for the GHRH technology, a 48i%ount rate was utilized.

There was no purchase price amount allocated toir@chin-process research and development.

The total purchase price of the acquisition isneated as follows:

Value of Inovio shares issu $26,156,18
Value of vested warrants and options assu 5,137,03:
$31,293,22
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The fair value of the Inovio shares used in deteimg the purchase price was $0.63 per share bas#tealosing price of Inovio

common stock on June 1, 2009.

The purchase price has been allocated to each wlagw of identifiable assets acquired and liaédiassumed based on their fair values

as of June 1, 2009. The allocation to identifisddsets and liabilities is summarized below:

Fair Value
Identifiable assets acquirt $25,012,94
Intangible assets (developed technolc 8,441,58.
Goodwill 6,212,65!
Assumed liabilities (7,703,64)
Assumed noncontrolling intere (670,30)
Total $31,293,22

The excess of the purchase price over the fairevafunet assets acquired resulted in goodwill gragimately $6.2 million.

As of the Acquisition Date, the Company’s ownershily GX Animal Health (“VGX AH") was 88% and the peentage of non-
controlling ownership interest was 12%. The estéddair value utilized was based on the last ranifithancing by VGX AH in late 2007, in
which that entity issued shares of its common stockthird party. There had been no subsequeanding rounds up to the acquisition date.
The Company updated the valuation model to reftantent assumptions and due to the fact that thadebeen no additional milestone events,
such as additional marketing approval, signifidar@nsing agreements, material adverse eventsrge lsales contracts that would have
materially changed any of the key assumptions usétk last valuation of VGX AH.

The Company'’s investment in an affiliated entitgnesents the Company’s ownership interest in VGXrhrational, Inc. (“VGX Int'")
and is measured at fair value. The fair marketevalithe Company’s interest in VGX Int'l was detémed using the closing price of VGX
Int’I's shares of common stock as listed on thedéor Stock Exchange as of June 1, 2009.

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortitan combines the results of operations of Inovid  GX assuming the Merger was
consummated on January 1, 2008. The pro formatsestd not necessarily indicative of what wouldéhagcurred if the Merger had been in
effect for the periods presented. In addition, tasynot intended to be a projection of future lts;and do not reflect any synergies that might

be achieved from combined operations.

The Company incurred approximately $2.2 millioragguisition related costs related to our acquisitbVGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Year Ended
December 31,
2009
Revenue $11,182,06
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $(29,835,18)
Net loss per common she $ (0.32)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentatio

Inovio incurred a net loss of $15.3 million for thear ended December 31, 2011. Inovio had workapital of $20.9 million and an
accumulated deficit of $210.1 million as of DecemB®g, 2011. The Comparg/ability to continue its operations is dependguruits ability tc
obtain additional capital in the future and achipvefitable operations. The Company expects toinaatto rely on outside sources of financ
to meet its capital needs and the Company may remleeve positive cash flow. These consolidatearfoial statements do not
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include any adjustments to the specific amountscdasskifications of assets and liabilities, whiclgint be necessary should Inovio be unable to
continue in business. Inovio’s consolidated finahstatements as of and for the year ended DeceBih@011 have been prepared on a going
concern basis, which contemplates the realizati@ssets and the settlement of liabilities and cé@ments in the normal course of business
the foreseeable future. The Company has evaluatexbguent events after the balance sheet dateggthtba date it issued these financial
statements.

Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiectade the accounts of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, &mcl its domestic and foreign
subsidiaries. The Company consolidates GenetromicsyYGX and its subsidiary VGX AH and recordsanrcontrolling interest for the
percentage of VGX AH it does not own. As of Decemii, 2011 and 2010, the Company had an ownerstepeist in VGX AH of 91% and
88%, respectively. All intercompany accounts aadigactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢‘FASB”) issued authoritative guidance thatuiegs companies to perform a
gualitative analysis to determine whether a vaeahlerest in another entity represents a contiglinancial interest in a variable interest
entity. A controlling financial interest in a vabie interest entity is characterized by having hibghpower to direct the most significant
activities of the entity and the obligation to atislmsses or the right to receive benefits of thigty This guidance also requires on-going
reassessments of variable interests based on chanfgets and circumstances. This guidance beedfeetive for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2009. The Company adopted the prawdsid the guidance in the first quarter of 2010 detbrmined that none of the entit
with which the Company currently conducts busirgss collaborations are variable interest entiesept VGXI (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of VGX Int'l). The Company determined that VGX Ihi$ the primary beneficiary to consolidate VGXI.

Reorganizatior

In July 2011, the Company completed liquidatiotit®fnactive wholly-owned subsidiary Inovio AsiaePt td. (“IAPL") and there was no
impact on the Company’s financial position.

In April 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors il@mented a reduction in force which impacted ouridmian operations. In
connection with this decision, operations previgysrformed in Norway ceased as of July 31, 2088,ae continuing in the United States
of December 31, 2009, both of our wholly-owned Negian subsidiaries, Inovio AS and Inovio Tec AS] baen dissolved.

Foreign Currencie!

The Company translates the financial statemenits ofbn-United States operations using the endeoibd exchange rates for assets and
liabilities and the average exchange rates for eapbrting period for results of operations. Nehgand losses resulting from the translatio
foreign financial statements and the effect of @xaje rates on intercompany receivables and payab&ekng-term investment nature are
included in accumulated other comprehensive incasna@ component of consolidated stockholders’ equittgse adjustments will affect net
loss upon the sale or liquidation of the underlyimgestment. Through December 31, 2011 there haea ho material net foreign currency
exchange gains or losses.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateménticcordance with United States generally aeceatcounting principles requires us
to make estimates and judgments that affect therregh amounts of assets, liabilities, revenuesexpenses, and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Inovio basesstimates on historical experience and on variisr assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the
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circumstances, the results of which form the bfmsisnaking judgments about the carrying valuesssiets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results mdgifom these estimates under different assumgtasrconditions. On an ongoing basis, the
Company reviews its estimates to ensure that thetsmates appropriately reflect changes in thenassi or as new information becomes
available.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjea thompany to concentrations of credit risk, congigharily of cash and cash
equivalents, and short-term investments. The Companits its exposure to credit loss by placingd&sh and investments with high credit
quality financial institutions. Additionally, thedinpany has established guidelines regarding diiGason of its investments and their
maturities which are designed to maintain princgrad maximize liquidity. The Company had contragith customers which represented m
than 10% of total revenues for all of the yearsentéed as discussed in Note 8.

Fair value of Financial Instrumen

The Company’s financial instruments consist priatlipof cash equivalents, short-term investmemgestment in affiliated entity and
common stock warrants. The carrying amounts of egglivalents approximate the related fair valuestdithe short-term maturities of these
instruments. Investments consist of available-de-securities that are reported at fair value withrelated unrealized gains and losses
included in accumulated other comprehensive incam®mponent of consolidated stockholders’ eqdibe Company’s investment in
affiliated entity is accounted for at fair value amecurring basis, with changes in fair value réed on the consolidated statements of
operations within gain/(loss) from investment ifil@ted entity. The estimated fair value of theramon stock warrants is determined by using
the Black-Scholes pricing model as of Decembei2811, as discussed in Note 6.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are considered by the Compang kighly liquid investments purchased with origingdturities of three months or le
from the date of purchase. Cash and cash equigdleitide money market accounts at December 311, 26d 2010.

Restricted Cas

Restricted cash consists of a certificate of depuigh a term of 90 days which has been pledgecbiateral under a line of credit with a
financial institution. The certificate of deposdsbeen classified as held-to-maturity and is atealfor at amortized cost which approximates
fair value. The certificate of deposit and accrirgdrest will automatically renew at each matudgte until termination of the line of credit
agreement.

Investment:

The Company defines investments as income yiels@ugrities that can be readily converted into chslestments include certificates of
deposit, mutual funds, and municipal bonds at Déxeer81, 2011 and certificates of deposit at Decer@he2010.

Accounts Receivab

Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced ansoamd do not bear interest. Inovio performs ongoieglit evaluations of our
customers’ financial condition. Credit is extendedustomers as deemed necessary and generallydbesjuire collateral. Management
believes that the risk of loss is significantly uedd due to the quality and financial position of customers. No allowance for doubtful
accounts was deemed necessary at December 31a2622010.
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Fixed Asset

Property and equipment are stated at cost and daf#eé using the straight-line method over thenestied useful life of the assets,
generally three to five years. Leasehold improvemare amortized over the shorter of the remaitengp of the related leases or the estimated
economic useful lives of the improvements. Repaird maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Long-Lived Assets

All long-lived assets are reviewed for impairmentalue when changes in circumstances dictate dhgsen undiscounted future
operating cash flows, and appropriate losses awgrezed and reflected in current earnings, tcetttent the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its estimated fair value determined byfleeof appraisals, discounted cash flow analysesroparable fair values of similar assets.
The Company has not recognized any losses on leed-assets through December 31, 2011.

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition owst the fair value of the net assets of acquitesinesses. Intangible assets are
amortized over their estimated useful lives randiogn 5 to 18 years. Acquired intangible assetscarginuously being developed for the
future economic viability contemplated at the tiofeacquisition. The Company is concurrently conthgepre-clinical, Phase |, and Phase |
trials using the acquired intangibles, and hasredtato certain significant licensing agreementsuse of these acquired intangibles.

Historically the Company has recorded patents st @od amortized these costs using the straigatrtiathod over the expected useful
lives of the patents or 17 years, whichever is.|IBagent cost consists of the consideration paigdtents and related legal costs. Effective
June 1, 2009, in connection with the acquisitioV&fX, all new patent costs are being expensedastiad. Patent cost currently capitalized
will continue to be amortized over the expectee if the patent. The effect of this change was itened to prior periods. License costs are
recorded based on the fair value of consideratad and amortized using the straight-line methoer akie shorter of the expected useful life of
the underlying patents or the term of the relateehise agreement. As of December 31, 2011, the @oyfpintangible assets resulting from
acquisition of VGX and Inovio AS, and additionaldngibles including previously capitalized patemsts and license costs, net of accumulated
amortization, totaled $9.3 million.

The determination of the value of such intangilsisets requires management to make estimates amd&ms that affect the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The@my assesses potential impairments to intangisdets when there is evidence that
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdlrying amount of an asset may not be recové@tesl Company’s judgments regarding the
existence of impairment indicators and future déshs related to intangible assets are based oratipeal performance of our acquired
businesses, market conditions and other factoimg&irment is indicated, the Company will reduige tarrying value of the intangible asset to
fair value. While current and historical operatangd cash flow losses are potential indicators @faimment, the Company believes the future
cash flows to be received from its intangible as86ll exceed the intangible assets’ carrying vaared accordingly, the Company has not
recognized any impairment losses through Decembge2@®L1.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite bvare not amortized but instead are measured foairment annually, or when events
indicate that impairment exists. The Company’s aoting policy with respect to reviewing goodwillrfanpairment is a two step process. The
first step of the impairment test compares thevfaiue of our reporting unit with its carrying velincluding allocated goodwill. If the carrying
value of the Company’s reporting unit exceedsdts\alue, then the second step of the impairnesitis performed to measure the impairment
loss, if any. The Company tests goodwill for impaént at the entity level, which is considered aarting unit. The Company’s estimate of
fair value is determined using both the Discour@egh Flow method of the Income Approach and thel@mie Public Company method of-
Market Approach. The Discounted Cash Flow methdichases future cash flows of our business for sader
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discrete period and then discounts them to theisgmt value. The Guideline Public Company methadpedes value indicators (“multiples”)
from the operating data of the selected publidgéd guideline companies. After these multiplessvesaluated, appropriate value indicators
were selected and applied to the operating stisfithe reporting unit to arrive at indicatiorfsralue. Specifically, the Company relied upon
the application of Total Invested Capital basediaabn multiples for each guideline company. Inlgio the Income and Market Approaches,
premiums and discounts were determined and apfdiedtimate the fair values of the reporting uhit.arrive at the indicated value of equity
under each approach, the Company then assignéatiagaveighting to the resulting values from eagproach to determine whether the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its ¥alue, thus requiring step two of the impairmesst.

The Company conducts the impairment test annualljlavember 30th for each fiscal year for which geilids evaluated for
impairment. The Company is also aware of the reguént to evaluate goodwill for impairment at ottieres should circumstances arise. To
date, the Company has concluded that the fair vafitiee reporting unit significantly exceeded tlaerging value and therefore, step two of the
impairment test has never been performed.

Although there are inherent uncertainties in tisisegsment process, the estimates and assumpgo@smfipany is using are consistent
with its internal planning. If these estimatestwit related assumptions change in the futureCtirapany may be required to record an
impairment charge on all or a portion of our godtlamd intangible assets. Furthermore, the Compamynot predict the occurrence of future
impairment triggering events nor the impact suoknés might have on its reported asset values. E@vents could cause the Company to
conclude that impairment indicators exist and tfeaddwill or other intangible assets associated uétlacquired businesses are impaired. Any
resulting impairment loss could have an adverseaatpn the Company’s results of operations. See Wotfor further discussion of the
Company’s goodwill and intangible assets.

Income Taxe

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets ariitiéafor temporary differences between the ficahreporting basis and the tax bi
of the Company’s assets and liabilities along wigh operating loss and tax credit carryovers. Thm@any records a valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets to reduce theamgfiicg value to an amount that it believes is nlikedy than not to be realized. When the
Company establishes or reduces the valuation afioevagainst its deferred tax assets, its provigipincome taxes will increase or decrease,
respectively, in the period such determination &lm

Valuation allowances against the Company’s defefagdissets were $44.8 million and $37.1 millioDatember 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Changes in the valuation allowanségn they are recognized in the provision for inedaxes, are included as a component of
the estimated annual effective tax rate.

Revenue Recognitic
Grant revenue

Inovio receives non-refundable grants under avkdlgbvernment programs. Government grants towardeiat expenditures are
recorded as revenue when there is reasonable assutat we have complied with all conditions neaegto receive the grants, collectability
is reasonably assured, and as the expendituréscareed.

License fee and milestone revenue

Inovio has adopted a strategy of @eveloping or licensing our gene delivery technglay specific genes or specific medical indicasic
Accordingly, the Company has entered into collateeaesearch and development agreements and ¢eised funding for pre-clinical
research and clinical trials. Prior to the adoptibthe Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (§8%) Accounting Standards Update
(“*ASU")
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No. 200¢-13, Revenue Recognition (Topic 60B)ultiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangementee Company recorded payments under these
agreements, which are noefundable, as revenue as the related researchdipes were incurred pursuant to the terms oftireements ar
provided collectability was reasonably assured.

For new collaborative agreements or material madlifons of existing collaborative agreements edtére after December 31, 2010,
Inovio follows the provisions of ASU No. 2009-18. drder to account for the multiple-element arrangets, we identify the deliverables
included within the agreement and evaluate whidivel@bles represent units of accounting. Analyzimg arrangement to identify deliverables
requires the use of judgment, and each deliverablgbe an obligation to deliver services, a righiaense to use an asset, or another
performance obligation. A delivered item is conséka separate unit of accounting when the delivéesn has value to the collaborator on a
standalone basis based on the consideration oékxéant facts and circumstances for each arrangeme

Arrangement consideration is allocated at the itioapf the agreement to all identified units o€aanting based on their relative selling
price. The relative selling price for each delil®esis determined using vendor specific objectivielence (“VSOE”), of selling price or third-
party evidence of selling price if VSOE does nasexf neither VSOE nor third-party evidence oflisg price exists, we use our best estimate
of the selling price for the deliverable. The amofallocable arrangement consideration is limi@émounts that are fixed or determinable.
The consideration received is allocated amongeparste units of accounting, and the applicablermeg recognition criteria are applied to
each of the separate units. Changes in the altotafithe sales price between delivered and uneleld/elements can impact revenue
recognition but do not change the total revenuegeized under any agreement.

Upfront license fee payments are recognized uptivetig of the license if facts and circumstancesgate that the license has standalone
value from the undelivered items, the relativeisglprice allocation of the license is equal teerceeds the upfront license fee, persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, our price tatfiaborator is fixed or determinable, and cobdydlity is reasonably assured. Upfront license
fee payments are deferred if facts and circumstaditate that the license does not have standakne. The determination of the length of
the period over which to defer revenue is subggidgment and estimation and can have an impattt@amount of revenue recognized in a
given period.

Prior to the adoption of ASU No. 2010-17, Reveneedgjnition (Topic 605)Milestone Method of Revenue Recognitithilestone
Method”), Inovio recognized non-refundable milegtgrayments upon the achievement of specified roitest upon which the Company had
earned the milestone payment, provided the milespayment was substantive in nature and the aghievieof the milestone was not
reasonably assured at the inception of the agreteffilee Company deferred payments for milestone tsviliat were reasonably assured and
recognized them ratably over the minimum remaimiagod of our performance obligations. Paymentsridestones that were not reasonably
assured were treated as the culmination of a siepeaanings process and were recognized as reveamrethe milestones were achieved.

Effective January 1, 2011, Inovio adopted on apectve basis the Milestone Method of ASU No. 2Q¥%0-Under the Milestone
Method, the Company will recognize consideratiaat ih contingent upon the achievement of a milestorits entirety as revenue in the per
in which the milestone is achieved only if the reitene is substantive in its entirety. A milestameansidered substantive when it meets all of
the following criteria:

1. The consideration is commensurate with eitheretfitity’s performance to achieve the milestontherenhancement of the value of
the delivered item(s) as a result of a specificonte resulting from the ent’s performance to achieve the milestc

The consideration relates solely to past perforraaanc
The consideration is reasonable relative to athefdeliverables and payment terms within the giearent
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A milestone is defined as an event (i) that caly el achieved based in whole or in part on eitherentity’s performance or on the
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromeh#ty’s performance, (ii) for which there is stdottive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement is entered into that the event wikhét@eved and (iii) that would result in additiopalyments being due to the Company.

Research and Development Exper

Since Inovio’s inception, virtually all of the Comapy’s activities have consisted of research aneldewment efforts related to developing
electroporation technologies and DNA vaccines. Beteand development expenses consist of expemaasead in performing research and
development activities including salaries and besidhcilities and other overhead expenses, dirtitals, contract services and other outside
expenses. Research and development expenses egecctmoperations as they are incurred. Inovidesgs and accrues clinical trials expense
based on work performed, which relies on estimatéstal costs incurred based on patient enrollmempletion of studies and other events.

Net Loss Per Shai

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividimgntst loss for the year by the weighted averagebeammf common shares outstanding
during the year. Diluted loss per share is caledah accordance with the treasury stock methodraftects the potential dilution that would
occur if securities or other contracts to issue imam stock were exercised or converted to commarks®ince the effect of the assumed

exercise of common stock options and other corbleriecurities was anti-dilutive for all periodegented, basic and diluted loss per share are
the same.

The following table summarizes potential commorrstahat were excluded from diluted net loss pareskalculation because of their
anti-dilutive effect:

As of As of As of
December 31, December 31, December 31,

Common Stock Equivalents 2011 2010 2009
Options to purchase common st 14,302,80 12,649,96 13,142,03
Warrants to purchase common st 21,743,84 7,771,13. 14,161,36
Convertible preferred stoc 38,23 38,23 38,23
Total 36,084,88 20,459,33 27,341,63

Leases

Leases are classified as either capital or operétimses. Leases which transfer substantiallyf dfieobenefits and risks incidental to the
ownership of assets are accounted for as if theeam acquisition of an asset and incurrence obéigation at the inception of the lease. All
other leases are accounted for as operating ldase$o’s Blue Bell, PA headquarters and San DiegA,facility leases, which have escalating
payments, are both expensed on a straight-line loasir the term of the lease. These leases repthseprimary expense and commitment as
indicated in Note 14 “Commitments” below. Otherdesa exist for office machinery, such as copiergrein lease expense is recorded as
incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense fehale-based awards made to employees, directatgican-employees. Inovio
estimates the fair value of stock options gransidgithe Black-Scholes option pricing model. Thad&tScholes option pricing model was
developed for use in estimating the fair valuerafiéd options, which have no vesting restrictiams$ are fully transferable. In addition, option
valuation models require the input of highly subijgzassumptions, including the expected stockepvimlatility and expected option life. Ino
measures the fair value of employee and directardsvat the date of grant. For non-employee aw#rdsio measures the fair value at each
reporting period. All option grants are amortized
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over the requisite service period of the awarda straight-line basis. Expected volatility is basechistorical volatility. The expected life of
options granted is based on historical expectedTihe risk-free interest rate is based on theddrBtates Treasury yield in effect at the time of
grant with maturities appropriate for the expederdh of the stock option. The forfeiture rate isdd@d on historical data and Inovio records
stockbased compensation expense only for those awaatianh expected to vest. The dividend yield is hasethe fact that no dividends he
been paid on common stock historically, and noeecarrently expected to be paid.

Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model forleyges and directors are presented below:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Risk-free interest rat 0.35%- 1.89% 1.09%- 2.65% 1.37%-1.88%
Expected volatility 132%- 134% 134% 96%— 132%
Expected life in year 4 4 4
Dividend yield — — —
Forfeiture rate 11% 11% 11%

Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model fore&mployees are presented below:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 0.91%- 3.47% 1.89%- 3.84% 2.73%-3.80%
Expected volatility 96%-119% 71%-120% 104%- 124%
Expected life in year 6-10 7-10 7-10

Dividend yield — — —

Comprehensive Loss

Components of comprehensive loss are reporteckiodhsolidated financial statements in the pemoghich they are recognized. The
components include net loss attributable to comstookholders, unrealized gains and losses on imegs and foreign currency translation
adjustments. The components of comprehensive tess@icated on the consolidated statements okhtdders’ equity.

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

We describe below recent pronouncements that mas &aignificant effect on our financial statemekit&® do not discuss recent
pronouncements that are not anticipated to havmpact on or are unrelated to our financial cowditiresults of operations, or related
disclosures.

Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, No. 2011-04r-May 2011, the FASB issued an Accounting Standipdate, “Fair Value
Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Comfrair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirésrierl).S. GAAP and
International Financial Reporting Standards”, dR8: This update amends Accounting Standards Caddit Topic 820, “Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure.” ASU 2011-04 clariffesapplication of certain existing fair value m@&snent guidance and expands the
disclosures for fair value measurements that amnated using significant unobservable (Level Jjuts. ASU 2011-04 is effective for annual
and interim reporting periods beginning on or alRecember 15, 2011, which means that it will beetff’e for our fiscal quarter beginning
January 1, 2012. The new guidance is to be adgputepectively and early adoption is not permitié do not believe that adoption of ASU
2011-04 will have a significant impact on our ficgl position, results of operations or cash flows.

Accounting Standard Update No. 2011-05June 2011, the FASB issued an Accounting Stahdadate, “Presentation of
Comprehensive Income.” ASU 2011-05 eliminates thioo to report other comprehensive income anddtaponents in the statement of
changes in stockholders’ equity and requires aityentpresent the total of comprehensive incorhe,domponents of net income and the
components of other
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comprehensive income either in a single continwgatement or in two separate but consecutive satenThis pronouncement is effective
fiscal years, and interim periods within those gebeginning after December 15, 2011. We beliegeattoption of ASU 2011-05 concerns
presentation and disclosure only and will not harémpact on our consolidated financial positiomesults of operations.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-+#Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted the FASBgsed authoritative guidance for
research and development milestone recognition.r@vised guidance is not required and does noesenit the only acceptable method of
revenue recognition. Milestones, as defined peréehised guidance, are (1) events that can onché&ved in whole or in part on either the
entity’s performance or on the occurrence of a i§igemutcome resulting in the entity’s performar(@ for which there is substantive
uncertainty at the date the arrangement is entatedhat the event will be achieved and (3) thatid result in additional payments being due
to us. We evaluate events under this guidanceedhtteption of an arrangement to determine theeni® of milestones and if they are
substantive. The adoption of the revised guidareenot had a material impact on our results ofatpers as it is consistent with our historical
practice of milestone revenue recognition.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-33In October 2009, the FASB issued an Accountingi@&ad Update which replaces the
concept of allocating revenue consideration amodegtterables in a multiple-element revenue arramg@ according to fair value with an
allocation based on selling price. The amendedaguid also establishes a hierarchy for determitiagelling price of revenue deliverables
sold in multiple element revenue arrangements.sBfleng price used for each deliverable will bedshen vendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOR") if available, third-party evidence if VSOE not available, or management’s estimate oflament’s stand-alone selling price if
neither VSOE nor third-party evidence is availalilee amendments in this update also require anaitm of selling price amongst
deliverables be performed based upon each delilegsatelative selling price to total revenue comsation, rather than on the residual method
previously permitted. The updated guidance is &ffedor the first annual reporting period begirgnion or after June 15, 2010, and may be
applied retrospectively for all periods presentegrospectively to arrangements entered into oenedly modified after the adoption date. We
prospectively adopted the updated guidance on 3uAu2011 and will apply the amended guidanceet@nue arrangements containing
multiple deliverables that are entered into or igantly modified on or after January 1, 2011. Waw allocate revenue consideration,
excluding contingent consideration, based on tlaive selling prices of the separate units of actimg contained within an arrangement
containing multiple deliverables. Selling prices determined using fair value, when available,wrestimate of selling price when fair value
is not available for a given unit of accounting. we did not enter into any new collaborations otarially modify any existing collaborations,
adoption of this guidance had no impact on ourltesi operations for the year ended December 8112

Reclassificatior
Certain reclassifications have been made to thor pear consolidated financial statements to conftr the current year presentation.

4. Collaborative Agreements

The Company continues its strategy of establishisgarch collaborations and licensing platformsotmplement its substantial internal
research capabilities. These arrangements oftéudi@aipfront payments and royalty or profit shaagmpents, contingent upon the occurrence
of certain future events linked to the succeshiefasset in development, as well as expense resatm@nts or payments to the third party.

The Company has entered into various Collaborddereeclopment and License Agreement with VGX Int’ldiscussed in Note 19. In
May 2004 we announced a licensing arrangementMiick for the development of Merck’s DNA cancer anfiéctious disease vaccines.
Under these Agreements, the Company may receiuesfeivent based payments upon approval of an igedéisihal new drug application
(IND) and/or initiation of
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clinical trials and future net sales. These futewrent based payments do not meet the criteriantfestone in accordance with the authoritative
guidance as they are solely based on the perforenafnttie collaborators.

5. Investments

Investments consist of certificates of deposit,ualfunds, and municipal bonds at December 31, 20tilcertificates of deposit at
December 31, 2010. The Company classifies all invests as available-for-sale, as the sale of sugsiments may be required prior to
maturity to implement management strategies. Tiregstments are carried at fair value, with thesatized gains and losses reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive indortiee consolidated statements of stockholdemiteantil realized. A decline in the
market value of any investment below cost thaei®dnined to be other-thaamporary will result in a revaluation of its camy amount to fai
value. The impairment is charged to earnings anevacost basis for the investment is establishedsih impairment charges were recorded
during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Realized gains and losses from the sale of invedsni any, are determined on a specific iderdificn basis. Realized gains and losses
and declines in value judged to be other-than-tearyoif any, on available-for-sale investmentsiauded as a component of interest and
other income, net, in the consolidated statemdmperations. Net realized gains and losses duhagears ended December 31, 2011 and
2010 were immaterial. Premiums and discounts akt@rad or accreted over the life of the relategesiment as an adjustment to yield using
the straight-line method and are included in irdeasd other income, net, in the consolidated statés of operations. Interest on investments
classified as available-for-sale are included teriest and other income, net, in the consolidateéments of operations.

The following is a summary of investments as of &aber 31, 2011 and 2010:

As of December 31, 2011

Gross Unrealizec Gross Unrealizec
Contractual
Maturity (in years) Cost Gains Losses Fair Market Value
Mutual funds Less than $ 6,000,001 $ 37,11t $ — $ 6,037,11!
Certificates of depos Less than 5,771,00! — (2,696 5,768,30-
Municipal bonds Less than 1,056,61. 1,387 — 1,058,00:
Total $12,827,61 $ 38,50: $ (2,696 $ 12,863,422
As of December 31, 201
Gross Unrealizec Gross Unrealizec
Contractual
Maturity (in years) Cost Gains Losses Fair Market Value
Certificates of deposit Less than $ 1,846,27. $ — $ — $ 1,846,27.
Total investment $ 1,846,27. $ — $ — $ 1,846,27.

6. Fair Value Measurements

The guidance regarding fair value measurementdledias a three-tier fair value hierarchy whictogtizes the inputs used in measuring
fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, definatlservable inputs such as quoted prices in actawgets; Level 2, defined as inputs other
than quoted prices in active markets that are eithiectly or indirectly observable; and Level &fided as unobservable inputs in which little
or no market data exists, therefore requiring aiyeto develop its own assumptions.

Assets and liabilities are classified based oridivest level of input that is significant to theérfaalue measurements. The Company
reviews the fair value hierarchy classificationaoquarterly basis. Changes in the
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ability to observe valuation inputs may result ireaelassification of levels for certain securitigighin the fair value hierarchy. The Company
did not have any transfer of assets and liabilitietsveen Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the failue hierarchy during the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010.

The following table presents the Company’s asseddiabilities that are measured at fair value oraurring basis as of December 31,
2011:

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2011

Using Quoted Price Using Significant Using Significant
Other Unobservable
in Active Markets Unobservable
for Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Money market fund $16,330,88 $ 16,330,88 $ — $ —
Mutual funds 6,037,11! — 6,037,11! —
Certificates of depos 5,768,30- — 5,768,30- —
Municipal bonds 1,058,00: — 1,058,00: —
Investment in affiliated entit 9,071,51. 9,071,51. — —
Common stock warran 100,00( — — 100,00(
Total Assets $38,365,81 $ 25,402,39 $ 12,863,42 $ 100,00(
Liabilities:
Common stock warran $ 5,176,31! $ — $ — $ 5,176,31!
Total Liabilities $ 5,176,31! $ — $ — $ 5,176,31!

The following table presents the Company’s asseddiabilities that are measured at fair value oraurring basis as of December 31,
2010:

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2010

Using Quoted Price Using Significant Using Significant
Other Unobservable
in Active Markets Unobservable
for Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Money market fund $16,852,60 $ 16,852,60 $ — $ —
Certificates of depos 1,846,27. — 1,846,27. —
Investment in affiliated entit 11,360,88 11,360,88 — —
Total Assets $30,059,76 $ 28,213,49 $ 1,846,27. $ —
Liabilities:
Common stock warran $ 370,92¢ $ — $ — $  370,92¢
Total Liabilities $ 370,92t $ — $ — $  370,92¢

Level 1 assets include money market funds helchbyQompany that are valued at quoted market prasesiell as the Company’s
investment in VGX Int'l, for which the fair valus based on the market value of 8,220,775 commaesiom December 31, 2011, listed on the
Korean Stock Exchange. Due to the volatility of VGX| common stock, we have elected to accounbiarinvestment at fair value on a
recurring basis which will better reflect the vaioa of our investment.

Level 2 assets at December 31, 2011 include méuundsk, certificates of deposit and municipal bohdkl by the Company that are
initially valued at the transaction price and supsmtly valued, at the end of each
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reporting period, typically utilizing market obsahble data. We obtain the fair value of our Levak2ets from a professional pricing service,
which may use quoted market prices for identical@mparable instruments, or inputs other than gupties that are observable either
directly or indirectly. Our professional pricingrsee gathers quoted market prices and observaplgs for all of mutual funds, certificates of
deposit and municipal bonds from a variety of indudata providers. The valuation techniques usetdédasure the fair value of our Level 2
financial instruments were derived from non-bindingrket consensus prices that are corroborated$greable market data, quoted market
prices for similar instruments, or pricing modealgls as discounted cash flow techniques. We valitiet@uoted market prices provided by our
primary pricing service by comparing their assesgméthe fair values of our investment portfolialénce against the fair values of our
investment portfolio balance obtained from an iretetent source, which may include our investmentagars.

Level 3 assets at December 31, 2011 include a niareaeived by the Company to purchase 1,000,086shof common stock of
OncoSec Medical Incorporated (“OncoSec”), in cotiogcwith the September 2011 amendment to the A3gathase Agreement between the
Company and OncoSec. The warrant has a contrddtuaf five years with an exercise price of $1 26 share.

In September 2011, the Company recorded a long-asget of $237,000 associated with the warrantwedéo purchase common stock
of OncoSec at $1.20 per share. The Company vaheed/arrant as of the issuance date using the BBabkles pricing model and recorded a
$237,000 gain on sale of asset within the consmiiatatement of operations. Inputs used in tr@rn@rimodel include estimates of OncoSec
stock price volatility, expected warrant life anskrfree interest rate. The Company develops tisneses based on publicly available historical
data. The Company reassesses the fair value efdhrant at each reporting date. As a result ofdloadculations, the Company recorded a
decrease in fair value of $137,000 for the yeaedrdecember 31, 2011. The decrease in fair valteflected in the Company’s consolidated
statement of operations as a component of chanigérimalue of common stock warrants.

The following table presents a summary of changdair value of the Company’s total Level 3 finasdcssets for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Year Ended
December 31 Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010
Balance at beginning of year $ — $ 13,542,68
Common stock warrant recorded at fair value up@uisition 237,00( —
Decrease in fair value included in change in falue of common stock warrar (137,000 —
Sale of auction rate securiti — (13,550,00)
Change in value of auction rate securi — 3,152,47!
Change in value of auction rate security ric — (3,145,15)
Balance at end of ye: $ 100,00( $ —
Realized gain included in interest and other incomet $ — $ 7,31¢

Level 3 liabilities held as of December 31, 201hsist of common stock warrant liabilities assodatéth warrants to purchase the
Company’s common stock issued in July 2009, Jan2@tyl and December 2011. If unexercised, the werraitl expire at various dates
between July 2014 and December 2016.

As of December 31, 2011 the Company recorded arfillibn common stock warrant liability. The Compareassesses the fair value of
the common stock warrants at each reporting ddieing a Black-Scholes pricing model. Inputs usedhe pricing model include estimates of
stock price volatility, expected warrant life angkrfree interest rate. The Company develops its estisriaased on historical data. As a rest
these calculations, the Company recorded a deciedaie value of $8.8 million for the year endeéd@mber 31,

F-20



Table of Contents

2011. The decrease in fair value is reflected m@ompany’s consolidated statement of operatiomscsnponent of change in fair value of
common stock warrants.

The following table presents the changes in fameaf the Company total Level 3 financial liabilities for the yeagaded December 3
2011 and 2010:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
Balance at beginning of ye $ 370,92¢ $ 2,774,85
Record fair value of warrants issued in JanuarylZ@tancing 11,727,37 —
Record fair value of warrants issued in DecembérlZthancing 1,905,67! —
Decrease in fair value included in change in falue of common stock warrar (8,827,65) (2,403,92)
Balance at end of ye: $ 5,176,311 $ 370,92t

7. Line of Credit

On August 26, 2008, the Company received notice fdBS Bank USA (“UBS”) that the Comparsyapplication had been approved fi
$5.0 million uncommitted demand revolving line oédit (“Line of Credit”) secured by ARS held by tB®mpany in an account with UBS
Financial Services, Inc. (the “Collateral Accountd provide additional working capital. On Decemb®, 2008, the Company amended its
existing loan agreement with UBS Bank USA, incragghe existing credit line up to $12.1 million tivithe ARS pledged as collateral. The
Company fully drew down on the line of credit ondember 23, 2008. Advances under the Line of Ceexditued interest at LIBOR plus 1.0
(the “Spread Over LIBOR”). The loan was treate@ ds0 net cost loan”, as it accrued interest a@ta equal to the average rate of interest paid
to the Company on the pledged ARS, and the nateisteost to the Company was zero. During the geded December 31, 2010, the
Company sold all of the ARS held at par value dmadline of credit was paid off in full and termigdt

8. Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk

% of Total % of Total % of Total

Customer 2011 Revenue 2010 Revenue 2009 Revenue
NIAID $7,801,97! 80% $4,064,31! 66% $2,985,59! 33%
United States Government grant—Patient

Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010

(“PPACA") — — 733,43¢ 12 — —
VGX Int’| (affiliated entity) 411,45¢ 4 381,20t 6 59,08 1
U.S. Army gran — — 373,31t 6 466,18: 5
PATH/MVI 740,26¢ 8 303,41° 5 439,89 5
Wyeth — — 75,00( 1 4,496,15: 49
Merck — — — — 125,99¢ 1
Drexel University 491,05¢ 5 — — — —
University of Pennsylvani 124,43 1 — — — —
All other 226,06 2 214,01( 4 547,20¢ 6
Total Revenus $9,795,25 10C% $6,144,70! 10C% $9,120,11. 10C%

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 201208, the Company recognized revenue from varicesse fees and milestone
payments, collaborative research and developmereatents, grants and government contracts. As oéber 31, 2011, $294,000 or 64%
and $121,000 or 26% of accounts receivable was
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attributed to Drexel University and PATH MVI, regpigely. As of December 31, 2010, no customersasgnted a significant percentage of
accounts receivable.

There is minimal credit risk with these customeaisddl upon collection history, their size and finanoondition. Accordingly, the
Company does not consider it necessary to recoedeave for uncollectible accounts receivable.

9. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010 carfisist following:

Accumulated
Depreciation

and Net Book
Cost Amortization Value

As of December 31, 201
Machinery, equipment and office furnitt $1,791,07. $(1,603,83) $187,23
Leasehold improvemen 448,66¢ (340,119 108,54¢
$2,239,73! $(1,943,95) $295,78!

As of December 31, 201
Machinery, equipment and office furnit. $1,685,48 $(1,485,57i) $199,91:
Leasehold improvemen 393,06:¢ (316,18() 76,88
$2,078,55. $(1,801,75) $276,79!

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenmbhe&(d 1, 2010 and 2009 was $142,000, $195,000 2Bd,&00, respectively. The
Company determined that the carrying value of thesg-lived assets was not impaired for the perjpgdsented.

10. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The following sets forth the goodwill and intangitdssets by major asset class:

Useful December 31, 201 December 31, 201/
Life Accumulated Net Book Accumulated Net Book
(Yrs) Gross Amortization Value Gross Amortization Value
Non-Amortizing:
Goodwill(a) $10,113,37 % — $10,113,37 $10,113,37 $ — $10,113,37
Amortizing:
Patents 8-17 5,802,52i (4,526,48) 1,276,04! 5,802,52i (4,151,95) 1,650,57
Licenses 8-17 1,323,76: (1,018,12) 305,63¢ 1,323,76: (989,37 334,38
CELLECTRA® (b) 5-11 8,106,27! (3,124,68)  4,981,59! 8,106,271  (1,915,12)  6,191,14
GHRH(b) 11 335,31 (81,849 253,46t 335,31 (50,166 285,14¢
Other(c) 18 4,050,00! (1,556,25)  2,493,75 4,050,000  (1,331,25)  2,718,75
Total intangible asse 19,617,87 (10,307,38) 9,310,48! 19,617,87 (8,437,87) 11,180,00
Total goodwill and intangibl
asset: $29,731,24  $(10,307,38) $19,423,85 $29,731,24  $(8,437,87) $21,293,37

(@) Goodwill was recorded from the Inovio AS acquisitio January 2005 and from the acquisition of V@Xiune 2009 for $3.9 million a
$6.2 million, respectively
(b) CELLECTRA®and GHRH are developed technologies which wererdecbfrom the acquisition of VG)
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(c) Otherintangible assets represent the fair vallaeqbiired contracts and intellectual property ftbwn Inovio AS acquisitior

Aggregate amortization expense on intangible asga$s$1.9 million, $1.9 million and $1.4 millionrfthe years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Amortizationemge related to intangible assets at December031, fdr each of the next five fiscal years
and beyond is expected to be incurred as follows:

2012 $1,821,00!
2013 1,770,001
2014 943,00(
2015 870,00(
2016 816,00(
Thereaftel 3,090,00!

$9,310,00!

In accordance with the guidance regarding goodtii#, Company has completed its annual impairmeniated fair value analysis for
goodwill held throughout the year. The Company emtsl the impairment test annually on Novembeth 3There was no impairment or
impairment indicator present and no loss was resmbrhiring the years ended December 31, 2011, 20d @@09, respectively.

11. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses at Decerhp2@B1 and 2010 consist of the following:

As of As of
December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Trade accounts payable $1,140,29i $ 703,19¢
Accrued compensatic 1,516,30 1,508,431
Accrued severance expent 494,28 —
Accrued subcontract expens 687,71! 429,64.
Accrued accounting and audit fe 119,22! 163,90
Accrued R&D program cos — 301,26¢
Other accrued expens 361,11. 304,16:
$4,318,94. $3,410,61

12. Deferred Revenue

The Company defers revenue recognition of cashptscigom licensing and other agreements and rezegrthem ratably over the
minimum remaining period of our performance obligas. The combined current and long-term deferesgmue balance of $2.5 million and
$3.2 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,eefpely, consists primarily of cash received froor collaboration and license agreement
with VGX Int'l as well as cash receipts from varglicensing and other agreements.
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13. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stocl

Outstanding

as of

December 31,

Authorized Issued 2011 2010

Series A Preferred Stock, par $0.001 — —
1,00( 817

Series B Preferred Stock, par $0.001 — —
1,00( 75C

Series C Preferred Stock, par $0.( 1,091 1,091 26 26

Series D Preferred Stock, par $0.001 — —
1,966,29 1,966,29:

The following is a summary of changes in the nundfeyutstanding shares of our preferred stockHerytears ended December 31, 2009,
2010 and 2011:

Series C Series C
Shares Outstanding as of January 1, 2009 71 —
Preferred Shares convert (45) —
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, : 26 —
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, : 26 —
Shares Outstanding as of December 31, : 26 —

No shares of the Company’s preferred stock wergexded during the years ended December 31, 2012@b@. During the year ended
December 31, 2009, 45 shares of the Company’ssS€riereferred Stock were converted into 66,176eshafrthe Company’s common stock.

The shares of the Company’s outstanding Seriee@iPed Stock have the following pertinent rightsl privileges, as set forth in the
Companys Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporadiuth its Certificates of Designations, Rights anefétences related to the varic
series of preferred stock.

Rights on Liquidatior

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary ligatébn, dissolution or winding up of the Companyliguidation event”), before any
distribution of assets of the Company shall be ntad® set apart for the holders of common stdog&,Holders of Series C Preferred Stock, pari
passu, are entitled to receive payment of suchsasfthe Company in an amount equal to $10,00Gpare of such series of preferred stock,
plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends therebether or not earned or declared).

If the assets of the Company available for distidruto stockholders exceed the aggregate amouhedfquidation preferences payable
with respect to all shares of each series of prefiestock then outstanding, then, after the paymkstich preferences is made or irrevocabl
aside, the holders of the Company’s common stoeleatitled to receive a pro rata portion of sucetsbased on the aggregate number of
shares of common stock held by each such holderholders of the Company’s outstanding preferredksshall participate in such a
distribution on a pro-rata basis, computed basethemumber of shares of common stock which woeltidld by such preferred holders if
immediately prior to the liquidation event all bfetoutstanding shares of the preferred stock had benverted into shares of common stock at
the then current conversion value applicable th eacies.

A Change of Control of the Company (as definechin€ertificates of Designations, Rights and Prefegs) is not a liquidation event
triggering the preferences described above, amgisad addressed by separate terms in the Seflestificates of Designations, Rights, and
Preferences.
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Although the liquidation preferences are in exagdshe par value of $0.001 per share of the Comisapseferred stock, these preferen
are equal to or less than the stated value of shales based on their original purchase price.

Voting Rights

The holders of all series of the Company’s preféstck outstanding have full voting rights and pesvequal to the voting rights and
powers of holders of the Company’s common stockamedentitled to notice of any stockholders’ magiimaccordance with the Company’s
Bylaws. Holders of the Company'’s preferred stoaketitled to vote on any matter upon which holdéthe Company’s common stock have
the right to vote, including, without limitatiorhe right to vote for the election of directors ttigge with the holders of common stock as one
class.

Conversion Rights

The Series C Preferred Stock each provide the holdguch shares an optional conversion right andige a mandatory conversion uj
certain triggering events.

Right to ConverfThe holder of any share or shares of Series C Peef&tock has the right at any time, at such hddmption, to convert
all or any lesser portion of such holder’s shafat® Preferred Stock into such number of fullydoand non-assessable shares of Common
Stock as is determined by dividing (i) the aggredaguidation Preference applicable to the particskries of preferred shares, plus accrued
and unpaid dividends thereon by (ii) the applicabtsmversion Value (as defined in the relevant se@ertificate of Designations, Rights and
Preferences) then in effect for such series ofgprefl shares. The Company is not obligated to igeydractional shares or scrip representing
fractional shares upon such conversion and insgkall pay the holder an amount in cash equal th faction multiplied by the current mart
price per share of the Company’s common stock.

Mandatory Conversioithe Company has the option upon thirty (30) dayar pyritten notice, to convert all of the outstamglishares of
the Series C Preferred Stock into such numberllyf faid and non-assessable shares of common aiskdetermined by dividing (i) the
aggregate Liquidation Preference of the sharekeofdlevant series of preferred stock to be comdgrtus accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon by (ii) the applicable Conversion ValuedaBned in the relevant series’ Certificate of Deations, Rights and Preferences) then in
effect, if at any time after twelve months followithe Original Issue Date of each such seriesefepred stock all of the following triggering
events occur:

(i) The registration statement covering all of ¢irares of common stock into which the particulaieseof preferred stock is
convertible is effective (or all of the shares oframon stock into which the preferred stock is cotibbke may be sold without restriction
pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act @31@s amended);

(i) the Daily Market Price (as defined in the appble Certificates of Designations, Rights andétences) of the common stock
crosses a specified pricing threshold for twentthefthirty consecutive trading days prior to tlatedthe Company provides notice of
conversion to the holders; and

(i) the average daily trading volume (subjectattjustment for stock dividends, subdivisions anahlgimations) of the common
stock for at least twenty of the thirty consecutiraeling days prior to the date the Company praviaatice of conversion to the holders
exceeds 25,000 shares.

As of December 31, 2011, our outstanding shardiseoEeries C Preferred Stock were convertible 38@33 shares of our common st
at a conversion price of $6.80 per share, andpécable Daily Market Price of the common stock tidgggering mandatory conversion
equaled $18.00 per share.

F-25



Table of Contents

Convertible Subordinated Promissory Notes

On June 1, 2009, the Company consummated the tttoss.contemplated by the Merger Agreement. VG &a aggregate of
$4,400,000 in principal amount of convertible sulated promissory notes, and an aggregate of 8868n accrued and unpaid interest on
such notes, as of June 30, 2009. Pursuant to thgevi&greement the notes were convertible at thimgestockholders’ option into our
common stock; the notes also automatically conddrtes the Company’s common stock in the event ti@tCompany’s common stock traded
at or above $2.10 per share for five consecutaging days. The conversion price of the notes wWa35$per share. As of August 4, 2009, the
Company’s common stock had traded at or above $#i8hare for five consecutive trading days, &aednotes were automatically converted
into 4,600,681 shares of Inovio’s common stock.

Common Stock

In December 2011, the Company completed an undgewnpublic offering relating to the sale and isseof 7,699,712 units to certain
institutional investors, consisting of 7,699,712rgs of common stock and warrants to purchase gregate of up to 5,774,784 additional
shares of common stock. These units, which werehased for $0.5195 per unit, include the partiareise of the underwriter's overallotment
option of 962,465 additional units at the publitedihg price. The units consist of one share of wmmn stock and 0.75 of a warrant to purchase
one share of common stock. The warrants have adéfive years and an exercise price of $0.65 pares The Company may call the warr:
if the closing bid price of the common stock hasrbat least $1.30 over 20 trading days and ceothier conditions are met. The Company
received net proceeds from the transaction of apmetely $3.7 million, after deducting the undeneris discounts and other offering
expenses payable by the Company. The Company vileeggistered warrants issued in connection thithDecember 2011 financing as of
the issuance date using the Black Scholes priciodetnand recorded a current liability on the coitlsted balance sheet of $1.9 million. The
warrants were subsequently revalued as of DeceBihe?011 and the company recorded the increasgrindlue of $58,000 to “change in fair
value of common stock warrants” on the consolidatatement of operations for the year ended DeceBihe2011. As of December 31, 2011,
none of these warrants had been exercised.

In January 2011, the Company entered into invgeiacchase agreements with investors relating tésteance and sale of (a) 21,130,400
shares of common stock, and (b) warrants to puechdstal of 10,565,200 shares of common stock aritlexercise price of $1.40 per share,
for an aggregate purchase price of approximatedy3aillion. The shares of common stock and wasamre sold in units at $1.15, consist
of one share of common stock and a warrant to @sel.50 of a share of common stock. The Warraws & five-year term from the date of
issuance and are first exercisable commencing®i80th day after the date of issuance. The Compeayycall the warrants if the closing bid
price of the common stock has been at least $2:8020 trading days and certain other conditioesnagt. The Company received net proci
from the transaction of approximately $23.0 milliafter deducting the placement agent’s fee aretioff expenses payable by the Company.
The Company valued the registered warrants issuedrinection with the January 2011 financing athefissuance date using the Black
Scholes pricing model and recorded a current ligdmh the consolidated balance sheet of $11.7anillThe warrants were subsequently
revalued as of December 31, 2011 to $3.2 milliow, tne Company recorded the decrease in fair &l #8.6 million to “change in fair value
of common stock warrants” on the consolidated stat# of operations for the year ended Decembe2@1]. As of December 31, 2011, none
of these warrants had been exercised.

In August 2010, the Company entered into an At-Maket Equity Distribution Agreement (the “ ATM Agement”) with an outside
placement agent (the “Placement Agent”), under fvktie Company may, from time to time, offer and isglcommon stock having aggregate
sales proceeds of up to $25.0 million through dhoPlacement Agent, for resale. Sales of the Goryip common stock through the
Placement Agent, if any, will be made by meansrdirary brokerstransactions on the NYSE Amex or otherwise at mapkiees prevailing
the time of sale or as otherwise agreed upon b tmpany and the Placement Agent. The PlacemenitAge
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will use commercially reasonable efforts to sedl @ompany’s common stock from time to time, baggahunstructions from the Company.
The Company will pay the Placement Agent a commiigsdr allow a discount, as the case may be, ih ease equal to 3.0% of the gross sales
proceeds of any common stock sold through the Riane Agent under the ATM Agreement. The Companyeugised to reimburse the
Placement Agent for certain expenses incurred éstim connection with the transactions contemplatethe ATM Agreement, up to an
aggregate of $30,000, plus up to an additional&5ber calendar quarter related to ongoing maimesadue diligence expenses and other
expenses associated therewith.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coyngald 1,028,905 shares of common stock under fid Agreement at a weightt
average price of $1.35 per share with net proceettee Company of $1.4 million. During the year eddecember 31, 2010, the Company
sold 1,994,672 shares of common stock under the Afkéement at a weighted average price of $1.2&Ipare with net proceeds to the
Company of $2.3 million. As of December 31, 20tk Company has sold a total of 3,023,577 sharegsrofmon stock under the ATM
Agreement. The sales were made at a weighted average of $1.25 per share with net proceeds t&€itrapany of $3.7 million, after
deducting commissions and other fees.

In July 2009, the Company entered into a securiisshase agreement with certain institutional $twes relating to the sale and issuance
of (a) 11,111,110 shares of common stock and (lb)amts to purchase a total of 2,777,776 sharesmofiwon stock with an exercise price of
$3.50 per share, for an aggregate purchase priappbximately $30 million. The warrants issuediegin August 2010, unexercised. The
shares of common stock and warrants were soldits,wonsisting of one share of common stock an@uaant to purchase 0.25 of a share of
common stock, at a purchase price of $2.70 per Th& Company received net proceeds from the tctioseof approximately $28.4 million,
after deducting offering expenses.

Upon the closing of the Merger in June 2009, anmeggte of 41,492,757 shares of the Company’s constomk were issued to the
former stockholders of VGX, and an additional 18,2187 shares of the Company’s common stock weesved for issuance upon exercise of
the assumed options and warrants and conversitire gfrincipal of and maximum interest payable e\ X convertible debt. In August
2009 the VGX convertible debt was automaticallyweted into 4,600,681 shares of the Company’s comstack. VGX warrants assumed
were ten-year warrants to purchase an aggregdt®»38,406 shares of the Company’s common stockavitxercise price ranging from $0.05
to $1.28 per share, exercisable at various dabes March 24, 2013 through April 28, 2016. As of Beber 31, 2011, warrants to purchase
2,876 shares of the Company’s common stock weneiseel at a price of $0.05 per share.

In August 2007, the Company entered into an agraemi¢h an outside consulting advisor pursuant kocl the Company issued
230,000 registered shares of common stock andteegiswarrants to purchase 150,000 shares of consinok, as payment of a non-
refundable retainer in connection with the engagerotits services. The warrants issued have arceseeprice of $3.00 per share, and are
exercisable through August 3, 2012. As of Decen3fie?011, none of these warrants have been exércise

The Company accounts for registered common stockawts issued in August 2007, July 2009, Januaiyl 20hd December 2011 under
the authoritative guidance on accounting for deivesfinancial instruments indexed to, and potdiytisettled in, a company’s own stock, on
the understanding that in compliance with applieaadcurities laws, the registered warrants reqo@éssuance of registered securities upon
exercise and do not sufficiently preclude an intblight to net cash settlement. The Company ciassiégistered warrants on the consolidated
balance sheet as a current liability which is regédlat each balance sheet date subsequent tattakissuance. Determining the appropriate
fair-value model and calculating the fair value@jistered warrants requires considerable judgnireeitiding estimating stock price volatility
and expected warrant life. The Company developssitisnates based on historical data. A small changee estimates used may have a
relatively large change in the estimated valuatidre Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing madehlue the registered warrants. Changes
in the fair market value of the warrants are reéélddn the consolidated statement of operatiorf€hange in fair value of common stock
warrants.”
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Warrants

The following table summarizes the warrants outiitammas of December 31, 2011 and 2010:

As of December 31, 2011

As of December 31, 2010

Exercise Expiration Number of Common Stock Number of Common Stock
Issued in Connection With: Price Date Warrants Warrant Liability Warrants Warrant Liability
December 2011 financing $ 0.6t December 6, 201 5774,78. $ 1,963,42 — $ —
January 2011 financin $ 14 January 27,201  10,565,20 3,169,56! — —
July 2009 financing $ 3.3¢ July 1, 201¢ 333,33¢ 43,33 333,33 266,66t
Warrants assumed in June 2009 March 24, 2013-

Merger $0.05-1.2¢ April 28, 2016 4,920,53 — 4,923,401 —
October 2006 financin $ 2.87 October 13, 201 — — 2,364,39. 14,26(
August 2007 consulting servic $ 3.0C August 3, 201: 150,00( — 150,00( 90,00(
Total 21,743,84 $ 5,176,31 7,771,13. $ 370,92¢

In October 2011, warrants expired to purchase 23®4shares of our common stock issued in conneetith our October 2006
registered offering with foreign investors.

In December 2010, warrants expired to purchase23%a shares of our common stock issued in cororeetith our December 2005
private placement.

In September 2010, warrants expired to purchas@@BGhares of our common stock, which were isguednnection with a license
agreement with the University of South Florida Resk Foundation, Inc. (USF).

In December 2009, a warrant expired to purchagg080shares of our common stock, which was issuednmection with the leasing of
our corporate headquarters.

In May 2009, warrants expired to purchase 713,8@8es of our common stock, which were issued imeotion with our Series C
Preferred Stock offering.

Stock Options

The Company has one active stock and cash-baseutive plan, the Amended and Restated 2007 Ommitmesitive Plan (thelhcentive
Plan), pursuant to which the Company has granted stodkrupaind restricted stock awards to executive efficdirectors and employees. -
Incentive Plan was adopted on March 31, 2007, agorbdy the stockholders on May 4, 2007, approvethbystockholders as amended on
May 2, 2008, and approved by the stockholders anded and restated on August 25, 2009 and MayQli). Dn May 14, 2010 the
stockholders approved to increase the aggregatéerof shares available for grant under the Ingerféilan by 2,000,000 and to provide that
the aggregate number of shares available for gnaaer the Incentive Plan will be increased on Janliaf each year beginning in 2011 by a
number of shares equal to the lesser of (1) 2,83508 (2) such lesser number of shares as maytbeniaed by the Board. At December 31,
2011, the Incentive Plan reserves 7,805,331 sludireesmmon stock for issuance as or upon exercigecehtive awards granted and to be
granted at future dates. At December 31, 2011Ctrmpany had 2,271,790 shares of
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common stock available for future grant under theehtive Plan, and 240,000 shares of vested riestrétock and options to purchase
4,978,328 shares of common stock outstanding uheédncentive Plan. The awards granted and availmolfuture grant under the Incentive
Plan generally vest over three years and have &max contractual term of ten years. The IncentilsRerminates by its terms on March 31,
2017.

The Incentive Plan supersedes all of the Compamggious stock option plans, which include the Adesh2000 Stock Option Plan and
the VGX Equity Compensation Plan, under which tleen@any had options to purchase 1,643,933 and B&33hares of common stock
outstanding at December 31, 2011, respectively.t&éhms and conditions of the options outstandindeuthese plans remain unchanged.

Total compensation cost for our stock plans recgghin the consolidated statement of operationthioyears ended December 31, 2!
2010 and 2009 was $1.6 million, $898,000, and #iilon, respectively, of which $472,000, $281,08d $595,000 was included in research
and development expenses and $1.1 million, $617a@0051.2 million was included in general and adstiative expenses, respectively.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, there was $981,00%828,000 of total unrecognized compensation cespectively, related to
unvested stock options, which is expected to begrized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 yaadsl.7 years, respectively.

The fair value of options granted to non-employaethe measurement dates were estimated usingdbk-Bcholes pricing model. Total
stock-based compensation for options granted teemoployees for the years ended December 31, 2@10, 2nd 2009 was $33,000, $277,000
and $339,000, respectively. As of December 31, 20112010, 2,036,902 and 4,404,200 non-employeersptemained outstanding,
respectively.

The following table summarizes total stock optionsstanding at December 31, 2011:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average
Remaining Weighted

Options Contractual Life Average Options Weighted-Average

Exercise Price Qutstanding (in Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$0.00- $1.00 1,674,85I 4.3 $ 0.3¢€ 1,528,901 $ 0.3t
$1.01- $2.00 11,166,18 5.8 $ 1.32 9,282,711 $ 1.34
$2.01- $4.00 1,173,02. 4.1 $ 3.02 1,173,02 $ 3.0z
$4.01- $6.00 238,74¢ 2.2 $ 4.87 238,74¢ $ 4.87
$6.01- $6.12 50,00( 2.2 $ 6.12 50,00( $ 6.12
14,302,80 55 $ 1.42 12,273,39 $ 1.4¢€

At December 31, 2011, the aggregate intrinsic vafugptions outstanding was $294,000, the aggregaiasic value of options
exercisable was $294,000, and the weighted aveemgaining contractual term of options exercisalbéds &.0 years.

At December 31, 2010, the aggregate intrinsic vafugptions outstanding was $1.3 million, the aggte intrinsic value of options
exercisable was $1.3 million, and the weighted ageremaining contractual term of options exerdésalas 5.7 years.
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Stock option activity under our stock option plaves as follows:

Number of Weighted-Average
Shares Exercise Price

Balance, December 31, 20 4,616,71. $ 2.42
Stock options assumed in Merg¢ 9,082,68 1.04
Granted 1,902,00! 1.52
Exercisec (1,428,47) 0.57
Cancellec (1,030,88) 2.5¢
Balance, December 31, 20 13,142,03 1.54
Granted 442 ,50( 1.12
Exercisec (297,467 0.57
Cancellec (637,109 2.7
Balance, December 31, 20 12,649,96 1.4¢
Granted 2,068,75! 1.1C
Exercisec (68,309 0.2z
Cancellec (347,600 2.2t
Balance, December 31, 20 14,302,80 $ 1.4z

The weighted average exercise price was $2.0$&100,000 options which expired during the yealeerDecember 31, 2011, $15.28
for the 4,250 options which expired during the yermded December 31, 2010 and $15.00 for the 8,@86ns which expired during the year
ended December 31, 2009.

The weighted average grant date fair value peresivas $0.90, $0.93 and $1.21 for options granteithglthe years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Company received $16,000, $169,000 and $35%00®ceeds from the exercise of stock optionsnduthe years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively aglgeegate intrinsic value of options exercised $6&%000, $193,000 and $1.6 million
during the years ended December 31, 2011, 201Q@0@, respectively.

The Company has no non-vested restricted sharefszecember 31, 2011 and 2010.

VGX Animal Health (“VGX AH”) has adopted a 2007 etyuincentive plan for the issuance of options tapéoyees and consultants.
There were no options granted under the plan duhiegears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Weee145,000 options granted during
the year ended December 31, 2009 with a weightethge exercise price of $0.75. At December 31, 20ite were 1,800,167 options
outstanding, 1,758,500 options exercisable andBB39%ptions available for future grants under tla@ pThere were no options exercised or
cancelled during the years ended December 31, 20110 and 2009.

14. Commitments

The Company'’s corporate headquarters is locaté@&t Sentry Parkway West in Blue Bell, Pennsylva@iar corporate office in Blue
Bell leased space for approximately 6,442 squaedid the lease expires on April 30, 2016. Thedewas amended in February 2012 to
extend the lease term for an additional year aockase the leased space by approximately 2,319estpet. The lease will now run through
June 30, 2017 for a total of approximately 8,76dasq feet. The annual rent under the new leasestesas $122,000 and $126,000 for the first
and second year, respectively, and will be $175f60¢he third year, $180,000 for the fourth ye%¥84,000 for the fifth year, $188,000 for the
sixth year and $193,000 for the seventh year. Attid of the lease
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term, the Company has the option of renewing #asé for an additional three-year lease term ahanal rate equal to the fair market rental
value of the property, as defined in the leaseeageat.

The corporate office in San Diego is located at9#18orrento Valley Road in San Diego, CalifornihisTiease was amended in
December 2010 to include approximately 13,000 sgifesat and runs through August 31, 2013. The amemdélbased on the new lease terms
was $221,000 in the first year and will be $255,00the second year and $184,000 for the partied trear. At the end of the lease term, the
Company has the option of renewing this leaseticadditional five-year lease term at an annual egteal to the fair market rental value of the
property, as defined in the lease agreement.

During 2010 the Company consolidated operationgipusly performed in The Woodlands, Texas to itseBBell and San Diego
locations. As a result, in November 2010 the Comgpgeansferred its facility lease in The Woodlan@iexas to a whollyswned subsidiary of it
affiliated entity, VGX Int'l. The Company has norfaer obligations under the lease.

Rent expense was $430,000, $607,000, and $59%0@0f years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and g&)8ectively. This amount is
net of sublease income of $0, 269,000 and $346/@8Pgectively. Future minimum lease payments undercancelable operating leases as of
December 31, 2011 are as follows:

2012 $ 413,00(
2013 365,00(
2014 180,00(
2015 183,00(
2016 174,00(
Thereaftel 82,00(
Total $1,397,00!

In the normal course of business, the Companyparty to a variety of agreements pursuant to whiely may be obligated to indemnify
the other party. It is not possible to predict ti@ximum potential amount of future payments untlesé¢ types of agreements due to the
conditional nature of our obligations and the uridgcts and circumstances involved in each pagicagreement. Historically, payments made
by us under these types of agreements have nat haderial effect on our business, consolidatealt®esf operations or financial condition.

15. Investment in Affiliated Entity

The Company'’s investment in an affiliated entitgnesents the Company’s 16.1% and 19.7% ownerstepeist in the Korean based
company, VGX Int'l, as of December 31, 2011 and®@Q0#&spectively. This investment is measured atfdue on a recurring basis. The fair
market value of the Company’s interest in VGX Intds determined using the closing price of VGXllstshares of common stock as listed on
the Korean Stock Exchange as of December 31, 204 2@10.

16. Income Taxes

In accordance with the guidance pursuant to acamyfr income taxes, a deferred tax asset orlitgh$ determined based on the
difference between the financial statement andgesis of assets and liabilities as measured bgriheted tax rates which will be in effect w
these differences reverse. The Company provideduation allowance against net deferred tax assgess, based upon the available evide
it is more likely than not that the deferred tagetswill be realized.
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The components of the (benefit) provision for ineotaxes are presented in the following table:

As of
December 31
2011
Current:
Federal $ —
State 1,00(
Foreign —
$ 1,00C
Deferred:
Federal $ 19,00(
State 7,00(
Foreign —
$ 26,00(
$ 27,00(

As of
December 31
2010

$ (4,000
22,00

$ 18,00(

$ 36,00(
17,00(

$ 53,00(
$ 71,00(

As of
December 31
2009

$ (30,000

$ (30,000
$ —

(887,000
$ (887,000
$ (917,000

The reconciliation of income taxes attributabl@p®rations computed at the statutory tax ratesdome tax expense (recovery), using a

35% statutory tax rate, is:

Year Ended
December 31,
2011
Income (benefit) taxes at statutory rates $(5,352,00I)
State income tax, net of federal ben (1,378,00i)
Change in valuation allowan: 7,679,00!
IRC Section 382/383 limitatio 918,00(
Fair value warran (3,090,001
Stock compensatic (147,000
Change in state tax ra 125,00(
Other 1,272,001
$  27,00(

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2010 2009
$ (6,154,00) $(8,859,00)

(1,189,00)) (1,287,000
(13,877,00) 6,134,001
20,758,00 —

(841,000 450,00(

343,00( 470,00(
998,00( —

33,00( 2,175,001

$ 71,00( $ (917,000

The income tax expense (recovery) has been recasiadeduction to general and administrative esg®ras its effect is immaterial.

Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets and liabilities as of December 31, 2012810 are shown below:

Deferred tax asset
Capitalized research exper
Net operating loss carry forwar
Research and development and other tax cr
Other

Valuation allowanct
Total deferred tax asse

Deferred tax liabilities
Acquired intangible:
Investment in affiliated entit
Net deferred tax liabilitie
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As of
December 31,
2011

$ 4,089,001
34,899,00
1,073,001
6,557,00!
46,618,00
(44,784,00)
$ 1,834,00

$ (2,094,001
181,00(
$ (79,000

As of
December 31,
2010

$ 4,856,001
28,423,00
1,582,001
5,704,00!
40,565,00
(37,116,00)
$ 3,449,00

$ (2,634,000
(868,001)
$ (53,000
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We have established a valuation allowance forefitided tax assets including those for net opagdtias (“NOL”) and tax credit
carryforwards. Such a valuation allowance is reedrathen it is more likely than not that the defénax assets will not be realized. The
Company maintains a deferred tax liability relatedoodwill that is not netted against the defeteedassets, as reversal of the taxable
temporary difference cannot serve as a sourcecofie for realization of the deferred tax assetsabge the deferred tax liability will not
reverse until the asset is sold or written down wuenpairment.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had federdifd@nia and Pennsylvania tax net operating l@ssycforwards of approximately
$87.9 million, $27.9 million and $49.1 million, yEsctively, net of the net operating losses thalteyipire due to IRC Section 382 limitations.
The federal net operating loss carry forwards belyjin to expire in 2012 unless previously utiliz€éde California net operating loss carry
forwards will begin to expire in 2012 and the Pesvenia net operating loss carry forwards will bretp expire in 2021.

In addition, we had federal and state researclkredit carryforwards of approximately $880,000 &id7 million, respectively, net of the
federal research and development credits thatewgire due to IRC Section 383 limitations. The fadléax credit carryforwards will begin to
expire in 2012. The California research tax cred@sot expire.

Utilization of the NOL and tax credit carryforwarddl be subject to a substantial annual limitatiomder Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, and similar state provisitugsto ownership change limitations that have aeclpreviously or that could occur in the
future. These ownership changes will limit the amtaaf NOL and tax credit carryforwards and othefeded tax assets that can be utilized to
offset future taxable income and tax, respectiviel\general, an ownership change, as defined btide882, results from transactions
increasing ownership of certain stock holders diipigroups in the stock of the corporation by mttv@n 50 percentage points over a three-
year period

The Company is in the process of updating the 8&e&82/383 study for the Company and VGX, both biclv experienced ownership
changes under Section 382 as a result of the Mergéune 1, 2009. Based upon the preliminary residithe study, it is estimated that
approximately $32.1 million of tax benefits relatedNOL and tax credit carryforwards will expireused. Accordingly, the related NOL and
R&D credit carryforwards have been removed fronedefd tax assets accompanied by a correspondingtied of the valuation allowance.
Upon completion of the study, deferred tax assdtging to NOL and R&D credit carryforwards for tiempany and VGX may need to be
adjusted with a corresponding adjustment to theatadn allowance. Due to the existence of the wadnallowance, limitations created by
current and future ownership changes, if any, edlé our operations in the United States willinghact our effective tax rate. Any additional
ownership changes, may further limit the abilityug®e the net operating losses and credits carrgover

The following table summarizes the activity relatesdur unrecognized tax benefits:

Year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Balance at beginning of the year $ 629,00( $629,00( $ —
Increases related to current year tax posit 158,00( — —
Increases related to prior year tax positi 1,042,001 — $629,00(
Balance at end of the ye $1,829,00! $629,00( $629,00(

The amount of unrecognized tax benefit that, ibggized and realized would affect the effectiverate is $1.5 million as of
December 31, 2011. The Company has not recordethtergst and penalties on the unrecognized tatips as the Company has continued
to generate net operating losses after accountintné unrecognized tax benefits. The Company doeanticipate that the total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly incsesor decrease within twelve months of the repgdiate.
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The Company and its subsidiaries are subject ttedrdtates federal income tax as well as incoméntenultiple state and foreign
jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Companydslonger subject to United States federal incoemeskaminations for years before 20
state and local income tax examinations before 280d foreign income tax examinations before 2008vever, to the extent allowed by law,
the tax authorities may have the right to examiner periods where net operating losses were gésekiend carried forward, and make
adjustments up to the amount of the net operatisg tarryforward amount. The Company is not culremtder Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS"), state or local tax examination.

17. 401(k) Plan

In 1995, the Company’s United States subsidianptatba 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the “Plan”) cong substantially all of its
employees. The defined contribution plan allowsdhw®loyees to contribute a percentage of their @msation each year. The Company
currently matches 50% of its employees’ contribusgioup to 6% of their annual compensation. The Gomis contributions are recorded as
expense in the accompanying consolidated staternépfserations and totaled $134,000, $103,000 ddd0®O0 for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

18. Segment Information

The Company’s business operates in one segmerd basa the Company’s organizational structuremhg in which the operations are
managed and evaluated and the lack of availalufiseparate financial results. During the yearsedrdecember 31, 2011 and 2010, all
revenues were attributable to the United StatesinDuhe year ended December 31, 2009, revenugarope and the United States totaled
$57,000 and $9.1 million, respectively. In the tbuguarter of 2009, the Company’s wholly-owned Negian subsidiaries, Inovio AS and
Inovio Tec AS were dissolved and operations transteto the United States. Prior to the dissolutibthese subsidiaries, the Company
operated in one business segment in the UnitedsStaitd Europe. Revenues are attributable to thgrggloical area based on the location o
customer. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 all-loregl assets totaling $19.4 million and $21.3 oill respectively, exist within the United
States.

19. Related Party Transactions
VGX International Inc.
The Company conducts transactions with its afélieentity, VGX Int’l.

In July 2011 the Company purchased an additionaJaDD shares of VGX Int'l at a price of approximai®0.71 per share in connection
with a common stock rights offering. The rightsesfiig, however, reduced the Company’s ownershipgregage to approximately 16.1%.

On October 7, 2011, the Company entered into aaBothtive Development and License Agreement (ttgrédment”) with VGX Int'l.
Under the Agreement, the Company and VGX Int'| wdldevelop the Company’s SynC®n therapeutic vasciar hepatitis B and C
infections (the “Products”). Under the terms of &greement, VGX Int’l will receive marketing rightsr the Products in Asia, excluding
Japan, and in return will fully fund IND-enablingdiinitial Phase | and Il clinical studies with pest to the Products. The Company will
receive from VGX Int’l payments based on the ackiment of clinical milestones and royalties basedalas of the Products in the licensed
territories, retaining all commercial rights to tAeoducts in all other territories.

On March 24, 2010, the Company entered into a Goiketion and License Agreement (the “VGX Int'| Agraent”) with VGX Int'l.
Under the VGX Int'l Agreement, the Company grantaX Int'l an exclusive license to Inovio’s SynCén niversal influenza vaccine
delivered with electroporation to be developedértain countries in Asia (the “Product”). As coresigtion for the license granted to VGX Int’
the Company received payment of $3.0 million, atiltireceive research support, annual license maariee fees and royalties on net
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Product sales. The Company recorded the $3.0 miémdeferred revenue from affiliated entity, anlinecognize it as revenue over the eight
year expected period of the Comp’s performance obligation. In addition, contingepbn achievement of clinical and regulatory milests
the Company will receive development payments tveterm of the VGX Int'l Agreement. The VGX Infigreement also provides Inovio
with exclusive rights to supply devices for cliniead commercial purposes (including single usepmments) to VGX Int'l for use in the
Product. The term of the VGX Int’l Agreement comroed upon execution and will extend on a countrgdiyntry basis until the last to expire
of all Royalty Periods for the territory (as suehn is defined in the VGX Int'l Agreement) for aRyoduct in that country, unless the VGX
Int'l Agreement is terminated earlier in accordamdth its provisions as a result of breach, by naliagreement, or by VGX Int’I's right to
terminate without cause upon prior written notice.

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 arf] #89Company recognized revenue from VGX Int'$df.1,000, $381,000 and
$59,000, respectively, which consisted of licendees, device lease and other fees. Operating sgperlated to VGX Intfor the years ende
December 31, 2011 and 2010 include $5.3 million$®d million, respectively, related to biologicamufacturing. Operating expenses related
to VGX Int’l for the year ended December 31, 2008lude $1.7 million related to biologics manufagigras well as $56,000 for regulatory
and technical support and other consulting servieesived. At December 31, 2011 and 2010 we haataounts receivable balance of $20,000
and $72,000, respectively, from VGX Int'l and itsbsidiaries.

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 200g,dimpany received sublease income from VGX Int'$282,000 and $126,000,
respectively, for the facility in The Woodlands, ;Thich offset the Company’s lease expense. In Nder 2010, this facility lease was
transferred to a wholly-owned subsidiary of VGX'lint

In June 2011, Bryan Kim, a member of VGX Int'I's &d of Directors and former President and Chiefdaxige Officer of VGX Intl,
terminated his employment with the Company as Wiesident of Asian Operations. In September 2000ng Park, a member of VGX Int’
Board of Directors, terminated his employment vtfta Company as General Counsel. Mr. Park curreetlyes as President and Chief
Executive Officer of VGX Int’l.

In August 2010, Dr. J. Joseph Kim, the Company’'©CEesigned from his position on the VGX Int'| Bdaof Directors. Dr. Kim
previously served as Chief Executive Officer of V@X!I prior to the Company’s acquisition of VGX Rimaceuticals, Inc. in June 2009.

OncoSec Medical Incorporated

On March 24, 2011, the Company completed the dadertain assets related to certain non-DNA vact@éeénology and intellectual
property relating to selective electrochemical tumolation (“SECTA”) to OncoSec Medical Incorpomter OncoSec, pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement dated March 14, 2011 by andcekeetiihe Company and OncoSec.

The President and Chief Executive Officer of Onaneviously served as the Company’s Vice PresideRinance and Operations.
Additionally, the Company’s Chairman, Dr. Avtar b, is also the non-executive Chairman of OncoSec

At December 31, 2011 the Company had an accoucésvable balance of $18,000 from OncoSec.

The Company has received payment of $350,000 frocoSec as of December 31, 2011 and will receivadalitional $2.7 million in
scheduled payments over a period of two years flentlosing date and a royalty on any potentialroential product sales related to the
SECTA technology if and when a product is approwm receivable has been recorded for the $2.7anilliue from OncoSec as collection of
the funds is not reasonably assured.

F-35



Table of Contents

On September 28, 2011 the Company signed an amaggeement with OncoSec extending the term ofélcersd payment owed to the
Company in exchange for a warrant to purchase 10000shares of common stock of OncoSec. The wareapived was a five-year warrant
with an exercise price of $1.20 per share. (See Rdor further discussion.)

Pursuant to a cross-license agreement dated Marc2021, the Company obtained a fully pajl-exclusive, worldwide license to cert
of the SECTA technology patents in the field of g@n nucleic acids, outside of those encoding éptx delivered by electroporation. The
Company also granted to OncoSec a non-exclusivedwigle license to certain non-SECTA technologyepé in the SECTA field for the
following consideration:

(a) a fee for any sublicense of the Company'’s teldyy;
(b) a royalty on net sales of any business develepth the Company’s technology; and
(c) repayment by OncoSec for any amount the Compags to a licensor of our technology that is adiresult of the license.

20. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informatin

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Supplemental schedule of financing activiti
Interest paic $ — $ 61,15. $ 166,17¢
Supplemental schedule of r-cash activities
Issuance of common stock and stock options and
warrants assumed in connection with acquisition of

VGX Pharmaceuticals, Ini $ — $ — $31,293,22
Conversion of long-term debt and accrued inteest t

common stock $ — $ — $ 4,830,71!
Conversions of preferred stock to common st $ — $ — $ 66

21. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the quarterly resolt®perations of the Company for the years endeceinber 31, 2011 and 2010
(unaudited):

Quarter Ended Quarter Ended Quarter Ended Quarter Ended
December 31, September 30 June 30, March 31,
2011 2011 2011 2011
Consolidated Statement of Operatior
Revenue:
License fee and milestone rever $ 132,93¢ $ 183,13¢ $ 131,66 $ 120,11¢
Grants and miscellaneous reveli 1,499,73. 2,454 ,42. 2,288,09! 2,985,14
Total revenues 1,632,66! 2,637,56. 2,419,76. 3,105,26!
Operating Expenses:
Research and developmt 4,158,40! 6,987,82. 4,463,97! 4,421,79!
General and administrati\ 3,253,99 2,323,18: 3,092,38I 3,319,23.
Gain on sale of asse — (337,000 — (250,000
Total operating expense: 7,412,39 8,974,01. 7,556,36- 7,491,03.
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Loss from operations

Interest and other income, r

Change in fair value of common stock warre
(Loss)/gain on investment in affiliated ent

Net loss

Net loss attributable to n-controlling interes

Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, lic.
Loss per common shi—basic and dilutec

Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, lic.
stockholders

Weighted average number of common shares—basic and

diluted

Consolidated Statement of Operatior

Revenue:

License fee and milestone rever

Grants and miscellaneous revel

Total revenues

Operating Expenses:

Research and developm:

General and administrati\

Total operating expense:!

Loss from operations

Interest and other income, r

Change in fair value of common stock warre
(Loss)/gain on investment in affiliated ent

Net loss

Net loss/(gain) attributable to n-controlling interes
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le.
Loss per common sh«—basic and dilutec

Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, lic.
stockholders

Weighted average number of common shares—basic
diluted

Quarter Ended
December 31,
2011

(5,779,72)
18,89:
1,113,07!
__ (840,439
$ (5,488,18)
11,94¢

$ (5,476,24)

$ (0.0

129,382,30

Quarter Ended
December 31,
2010

$ 145,84
2,214,07:
2,359,91.

4,491,71!
3,148,51
7,640,23

(5,280,31)
122,400
139,12¢

(1,290,64)

$ (6,309,42)

15,90¢

$ (6,293,52)
$ 0.06)

104,302,17
F-37

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

September 30, June 30,
2011 2011
(6,336,45) (5,136,60)
5,73¢ 7,79¢
346,95¢ 4,898,75!
1,427,17 (2,607,22)
$ (4,556,58) $ (2,837,27)
14,64¢ 15,117
$ (4,541,93) $ (2,822,15)
$ (0.09) $ (0.02)
127,256,90 127,256,36
Quarter Ended Quarter Ended
September 30, June 30,
2010 2010
$ 133,08( $ 174,69:
1,143,46. 960,16¢
1,276,54. 1,134,85!
2,951,06 3,083,22!
2,881,99 3,027,59.
5,833,06. 6,110,82.
(4,556,51)) (4,975,96)
(1,097) 19,90"
538,57: 669,86t
2,604,31 (3,327,75))
$ (1,414,73) $ (7,613,94)
4,58t (2,490)
$ (1,410,14) $ (7,616,43)
$ (0.01) $ (0.07)
102,928,09 102,811,41

Quarter Ended
March 31,
2011

(4,385,76)
1,85¢
2,331,86:
(370,01)

$ (2,422,05)
9,441

$ (2,412,61)

$ (0.02)

120,922,57

Quarter Ended
March 31,
2010

$ 73,61(
1,299,77
1,373,38!

2,730,59!
3,050,15:
5,780,75:

(4,407,36)
6,19¢

1,056, 35
1,044,17.

$ (2,300,63)
6,95(

$ (2,293,68)

$ (0.02)

102,757,08



Exhibit 10.7
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the “ Agreem&ntdated as of December 27, 2010 is made by atwidem Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
Delaware corporation having offices at 1787 SeRtiykway West, Bldg 18, Suite 400, Blue Bell PA 1®4{the “ Company), and
Dr. Niranjan Sardesai, having residence at 480 &@lICircle, Blue Bell PA 19422 (“ Executive

RECITALS

WHEREAS , the Company desires to employ Executive and te lttze benefit of his skills and services, and Exge desires to accept
employment with the Company, on the terms and ¢mmdi set forth herein; and

WHEREAS , as a condition to his employment by the Comp&xgcutive agrees to execute and shall be bountebtetms and
conditions of the Proprietary Information, Invemti@and Non-Compete Agreement (the “ NGompete Agreemeri} attached hereto &xhibit
A , and the Confidentiality Agreement and NDisclosure(the “Confidentiality Agreement”), attached heragExhibit B.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual promises, ternagenants and conditions set forth herein and if\ible-Compete
Agreement, and the performance of each, the pdréie=to, intending legally to be bound, hereby agiefollows:

1. Employment; Term

a. The Company hereby agrees to employ Executi@eair Vice-President, Research and DevelopmadtEaecutive hereby agrees to
accept such employment with the Company in accaelarith the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

b. The “ TernT' of this Agreement shall commence on the datedfgtbe “* Commencement Datpand shall continue in effect until
terminated as provided in Section 7 below.

2. Position and Duties

a. The Company agrees to employ Executive througtheuTerm as Senior Vice-President, Research aveélBpment of the Company
with such responsibilities, duties and authorityesassigned to him by the Chief Executive Offifethe Company or his designee.

b. Executive shall faithfully devote his full busss/working time, attention and energy to the rssirand affairs of the Company and the
performance of his duties hereunder and to usenasde efforts to perform such responsibilitieshiailly and efficiently.

c. Without limiting the generality of the foregoipgragraph, during the Term, upon prior writtensznt of the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, Executive shall be permitted teesen other Boards of Directors, professional a@ssiotis and otherwise be involved with
any family business or trust to the extent thathareasonable judgment of the Chief Executivec®ff such other business pursuits and
activity do not materially (i) interfere with Exetive’s ability to discharge Executive’s duties aedponsibilities to the Company, whether or
not such activity is pursued for gain, profit ohet pecuniary advantage, or (ii) cause Executivedlate any provision of the Non-Compete
Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreeme



3. Compensation

a. Executive shall be entitled to receive as corsgion for his employment a base annual salaryrateaof $235,000 per annum (the “
Base Salary), which shall be paid to Executive by the Companyany of its affiliates in accordance with thenmany’s standard payroll
practices, as in effect from time to time.

b. Increases in the Base Salary shall be reviewmadadly by the Company’s Board of Directors (thBdard”) or its Compensation
Committee during the Term, and any such increadiébevat the Board's or Compensation Committe@le sliscretion and will otherwise be
consistent with the Company’s annual policies amdiget for payroll increases.

4. Bonus.

During the Term, Executive shall be eligible toae an incentive cash bonus up to the amountdo#sen the criteria, and payable at
such times, as may be determined by the Board @dmpensation Committee. The amount shall berdéted by the Board or Compensation
Committee, in its sole and absolute discretionciisihall be binding and final, and shall be paid ome-time lump sum payment (less payroll
taxes). To the extent that such cash bonus is tietermined in light of financial performance dgyim specified fiscal period and the
Agreement commences on a date after the startchffsscal period, any cash bonus payable in regpfesiich fiscal period’s results may be
prorated. In addition, if the period of Executiveimployment hereunder expires before the end istalfperiod, and if Executive is eligible to
receive a cash bonus at such time (such eligibkiyng subject to the restrictions set forth intec7 below), any cash bonus payable in
respect of such fiscal period’s results may begteat. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all annualisss shall be paid within two and one-half
months after the close of each year.

5. Benefits; Stock Options

In addition to the salary and cash bonus refelweabbve, Executive shall be entitled during thenT&y participate in such employee
benefits plans or programs of the Company, and beaintitled to such other fringe benefits, asfem time to time adopted by the Board and
made available by the Company generally to emplopé&xecutive’s position, tenure, salary, and othalifications. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, Executive shall bgiblie for such awards and benefits, if any, under€ompany’s employee benefits plans or
programs as shall be granted to Executive in thediecretion of the Board or its Compensation Catte® and as shall be provided pursua
the terms of the plans or programs. Executive askeuiges and agrees that the Company does not deardne adoption or continuance of any
particular employee benefits plan or program oepftinge benefits during the Term, and participatby Executive in any such plan or
program shall be subject to the rules and regulatapplicable thereto.
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6. Expenses

The Company will reimburse Executive, in accordanith the practices in effect from time to time father officers or staff personnel of
the Company, for all reasonable and necessary éasend traveling expenses and other disbursementsed by Executive for or on behalf
of the Company in the performance of Executive'8etuhereunder, upon presentation by Executiveedompany of appropriate vouchers
and supporting documentation.

7. Termination
Executive’s employment by the Company pursuantthésesubject to termination as follows:

a. Death or Disability Executive’s employment shall be deemed to tertaiaatomatically on the date of Executive’s deatid the
Company may by written notice to Executive terménBkecutive’s employment on account of his TotaldDbility effective as of the date of
such notice. For purposes hereof, Executive sleatldemed to experience a “ Total Disabilitif Executive is considered totally disabled un
any group disability plan maintained by the Compang in effect at that time, or in the absencengfsuch plan, Executive shall be deemed to
experience a Total Disability if he shall have beeable to perform his duties hereunder on a fmlktbasis for 90 consecutive days or longer,
or for shorter periods aggregating 120 days in368day period. In the event of any dispute under 8astion 7(a), Executive shall submit 1
physical examination by a licensed physician miyusdtisfactory to the Company and Executive, thet of such examination to be paid by
Company, and the determination of such physiciatl ble determinative. In the case of a Total Dilighiuntil the Company shall have
terminated Executive’s employment hereunder in ataooce with the foregoing, Executive shall be &ito receive compensation provided
for herein notwithstanding any such Total Disapilin the event of the termination of Executivefsm@oyment on account of his death or Total
Disability, neither Executive nor his personal egantative will have any rights or claims agaihst€ompany under this Agreement except as
follows:

(i) Executive (or his estate or representativeggsicable) shall be paid (A) any unpaid portiorhisf Base Salary computed on a
rata basis through the date of his termination(@)dny unreimbursed expenses;

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaidhts shall be as determined under any incentivepeaisation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsran or program of the Company in which Exégeiis then participating at the time of
his termination; and

(iii) in the case of Executive’s Total Disabilitnly, (A) the Company shall continue Executive’s meatibenefits coverage existing
at the time of his termination for as long as peasifile under the Company’s health benefits poligies to exceed 60 days) and the Company
further agrees to pay ExecutiggCOBRA premiums for six months thereafter, witbhrspremiums to provide for coverage at the samel ke
subject to the same terms and conditions (includirihout limitation, any applicable co-pay obligats of Executive, but excluding any
applicable tax consequences for Executive) asfacefor Executive at the time of termination, dBJ Executive shall further receive a lump-
sum payment, within 30 days after the effectiveeddttermination, equal to the aggregate amoufixetutive’s Base Salary as in effect
immediately prior to such termination that wouldgag/able over a period of six months following #ifective date of such termination.
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b. Involuntary Termination for Causén the event the Company terminates Executiveipleyment for Cause (as such term is defined
below), such termination shall be effective immésliaupon notice thereof, in which case Executivi vave no rights or claims against the
Company under this Agreement except as follows:

(i) Executive shall be paid (A) any unpaid portimrhis Base Salary computed on a pro rata basisi¢fir the date of his termination
and (B) any unreimbursed expenses; and

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaidhts shall be as determined under any incentivepeaisation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsrglan and program of the Company in which Exteeuis then participating at the time
of his termination.

“ Cause” shall mean: (1) conviction of Executive of any felo(2) participation by Executive in any fraudamt of dishonesty against t
Company; (3) material violation by Executive ofgiy contract between the Company and Executiv@i) @ny statutory, contractual or
common law duty of Executive to the Company; (4)duct of Executive that, based upon a good faithraasonable factual investigation and
determination by the Board, demonstrates Execuigedss unfitness to serve; or (5) the continuektfulwefusal or failure by Executive to
perform any material duties reasonably requestethédyBoard or the Chief Executive Officer.

c. Involuntary Termination Without Caus@he Company may terminate Executive’'s employmeathier than on account of death, Total
Disability or for Cause, on 30 days’ prior writtentice, in which case Executive will have no rigbitslaims against the Company under this
Agreement except as follows:

(i) Executive (or his estate or representativeg@dicable) shall be paid (A) any unpaid portiorhsf Base Salary computed on a
rata basis through the date of his termination,(@)dny unreimbursed expenses;

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaigis shall be as determined under any incentivepeasation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsran and program of the Company in which Exeeuis then participating at the time
of his termination;

(iii) Executive shall receive severance paymenthiéform of monthly payments of Executive’s Bas¢a8 (as in effect
immediately prior to such termination) for a permfdwelve months following the effective date otk termination; and
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(iv) The Company shall pay Executive’s COBRA premgufor twelve months thereafter, with such premitongrovide for
coverage at substantially the same level and sutgjghe same terms and conditions (including, authimitation, any applicable co-pay
obligations of Executive, but excluding any apphieatax consequences for Executive) as in effacEf@cutive at the time of termination.

d. Voluntary Termination For Good Reasdixecutive may terminate his employment for gogason (“ Termination For Good Reason
") by providing 30 days’ prior written notice tog¢tCompany of a breach constituting Good Reasorghwibtice shall be provided within 45
days after the initial existence of the breach, famther provided that such breach is not cureallimaterial respects to the reasonable
satisfaction of Executive within 30 days after sactice. In the event of Termination for Good Regdtxecutive shall be entitled to receive
payments and other rights provided in Section écgof. For purposes of this Agreement, terminafiborf Good Reasoi shall mean
voluntary termination by Executive of his employmeiith the Company based on one of the followingrés:

(i) the material diminution in Executiveposition, title, responsibilities or authorityifin those in effect at the Commencement C
provided, however, that a material diminution sinall be deemed to have occurred upon a changentrbtof the Company solely by virtue of
the Company’s having been acquired and made partafjer organization;

(i) a relocation of Executive’s principal execudivffices more than fifty miles from its locationtbe Commencement Date; or
(iii) the breach by the Company of any of its mileobligations under this Agreement;

e. Other Voluntary TerminationExecutive may otherwise terminate his employmmtitout Good Reason upon 30 days’ prior written
notice to the Company, in which case Executiveh{srestate or representative, as applicable) bbegtlaid (A) any unpaid portion of his Base
Salary on a pro rata basis through the date dfettmeination, and (B) any unreimbursed expenses.

f. Section 409A The Base Salary continuation set forth in Sestioifa), (c) and (d) hereof shall be intended tsfyeeither (i) the safe
harbor set forth in the regulations issued undetiGe 409A (as defined below) of the Internal RaxeCode of 1986, as amended (the “Cdde”
(Treas. Regs. 1.409A-1(n)(2)(ii)), or (ii) be tredtas a Short-term Deferral as that term is defurgter Section 409A (Treas. Regs. 1.409A-1
(b)(4)). To the extent that such continuation pagte@xceed the applicable safe harbor amount aotioonstitute a Short-term Deferral, the
excess amount shall be treated as deferred contjzengader Section 409A and as such shall be payainsuant to the following schedule:
such excess amount shall be paid via standard lpayperiodic installments in accordance with thempany’s usual practice for its senior
executives.

Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreementhe contrary, in the event that Executive is a t#ged employee” as defined in
Section 409A, any continuation payment, continuabenefits or other amounts payable under this é&gent that would be subject to the
special rule regarding payments to “specified elygds” under Section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code shetlbe paid before the expiration of a
period of six months following the date of Execeta/termination of employment or before the dat&xécutive’s death, if earlier.
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g. Forfeiture of Rights In the event that, subsequent to the terminaifdixecutive’s employment hereunder, Executive tinea any of
the provisions of the Non-Compete Agreement oriGbefidentiality Agreement in any material respaditpayments and benefits to which
Executive may otherwise have been entitled to @msto this Section 7 hereof shall immediately feate and be forfeited.

h. Release Executive shall not be entitled to any compesatinder this Section 7 unless Executive executdglalivers to the
Company a Separation of Employment Agreement amefaéRelease (the “ Reled3en form and substance satisfactory to the Congpag
which Executive releases the Company from any abibgs and liabilities of any type whatsoever, @tder the Company’s obligation to
provide the compensation and benefits specifigti;mSection 7. The parties hereto acknowledgettigapayments to be provided under this
Section 7 are to be provided in consideration lierRelease.

8. Remedies

In addition to other remedies provided by law onigg upon a breach by Executive of any of the cargs contained herein or in the
Non-Compete Agreement, the Company shall be entidduhtve a court of competent jurisdiction enterrgariction against Executive
enjoining Executive and prohibiting any further&ch of the covenants contained herein. Executika@eledges that a breach or threatened
breach by Executive of the provisions of this Agneat will cause irreparable damage to the Compacgiise Executive’s services to be
performed hereunder are of a unique, special atrdaxlinary character. Thus, the Company shallib#led to injunctive relief without the
necessity of proving actual damages and the Comslaaily not be required to post a bond or otherréigdn support of such injunctive relief.

9. Arbitration.

Any claim, dispute or controversy arising out ofroconnection with Executive’s employment by thengpany, his separation from the
Company, this Agreement, or any breach thereof| bharbitrated by the parties before a sole réathitrator (who shall have substantial
experience in the pharmaceutical and life scieimsstry) conducted in accordance with the Natidtales for the Resolution of Employment
Disputes of the American Arbitration Associatioehin effect. The claims subject to mandatory aasbiitn under the terms of this agreement
include, but are not limited to, claims that haeetv or could be asserted under: (a) Title VII ef @ivil Rights act of 1964, as amended, 42
U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.; (b) the Consolidated OnsnBudget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA), as aded, 26 U.S.C. § 4980B; (c) the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, asearded, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq., including the OMerkers Benefit Protection Act;

(d) the Employee Retirement Income Security Act®74, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.; (€ithieRights Act of 1866, as amended,
42 U.S.C. § 1981 et seq.; (f) the Fair Labor Staasldct, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.; (g) the Amerioaitl Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101
seq.; (h) the Civil Rights Act of 1991, Public La®2 166 (105 Stat. 1071); (i) any other federaltesor local law, constitution, regulation,
ordinance, decision or common law claim concermingployment discrimination or termination of emplagmi (j) any and all claims for
personal injury, emotional distress, libel, slandiefamation, and other physical, economic, or @nat injury; and (k) all claims for attorney’
fees and costs.



The arbitrator shall have the authority to ordecdivery sufficient for both parties to adequatebiteate any and all claim(s) and defense
(s) atissue. Such discovery shall include acaessl¢vant documents and witnesses, but shalla the authority to add to, detract from or
modify any provision hereof nor to award damagestber remedies not otherwise available under e(afucontract(s) or common law rele\
to the claim(s) and defense(s) at issue. Followliregclose of all evidence at the conclusion ofat®@tration hearing, the neutral arbitrator shall
issue a written award that reveals his or her disdéimdings and conclusions. The neutral arbdrat decision shall be final and binding.
Judgment may be entered on the arbitrator's awaashy court having jurisdiction. The direct expengany arbitration proceeding shall be
borne by the Company. Each party shall bear its attorney’s fees unless such fees are awardedressaure of damages under the applicable
contract or statute at issue. Such arbitrationl shieé place in Montgomery County, Pennsylvania kication and date mutually agreeable to
the parties. The parties hereto consent to thedigtion of the state and federal courts locatetiénCommonwealth of Pennsylvania with
respect to any action arising under this Agreenmgatwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shalkhtitled to seek injunctive or other
equitable relief, as contemplated by Section 8dfefeom any court of competent jurisdiction, wititdhe need to resort to arbitration.

10. Assignment; Binding Nature

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inurédlienefit of the parties and their respective esgars, heirs (in the case of Execut
and permitted assigns. No rights or obligationthefCompany under this Agreement may be assignedmsferred by the Company except
that such rights or obligations may be assignedamsferred to the successor of the Company dugiess if the assignee or transferee
assumes all of the liabilities, obligations andiekibf the Company, as contained in this Agreeneititer contractually or as a matter of law. If
any such successor of the Company or its busiress ribt agree to so assume such liabilities, diiggand duties, Executive may
immediately resign, which shall be deemed a Tertiuindor Good Reason under the provisions of tigse&ment. No rights or obligations of
Executive under this Agreement may be assignechosferred by Executive other than Executive’stdgh compensation and benefits, which
may be transferred only by will or operation of |axcept as otherwise specifically provided or géed hereunder.

11. Notice.

Any notice which a party is required or may desirgive pursuant to this Agreement shall be givewiiting by personal delivery, by
facsimile transmission, by registered or certifiredil, return receipt requested, postage prepaiby @avernight courier, at the following
addresses:



If to the Company:

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
1787 Sentry Parkway West
Building 18, Suite 400

Blue Bell, PA 19422

Attention: Chief Executive Officer

If to Executive:

Dr. Niranjan Sardesai
480 Mallard Circle
Blue Bell PA 19422

Any notice personally delivered shall be deemeeéitesd when given, or if given by facsimile or ovigiit courier shall be deemed
received on the next business day and any notidedrghall be deemed received on the third busidagshereafter.

12. Entire Agreement

This Agreement and the Non-Compete Agreement (ExA)oand the Confidentiality Agreement (Exhibit Bpnstitute the complete
agreements and understandings between the Compdrxacutive concerning Executive’s employmenttiey Company, and supersede any
and all previous agreements or understandings coimgesuch employment, whether written or oralwessn Executive and the Company.

13. Modification.

This Agreement may not be waived, amended or nestliffithout the express written consent of the pagginst whom enforcement of
such Agreement is sought.

14. Waiver.

Except as set forth herein, no delay or omissioextrcise any right, power or remedy accruing tp@arty shall impair any such right,
power or remedy or shall be construed to be a waif’er an acquiescence to any breach hereof. Neawhy either party of any breach by the
other party of any condition or provision containedhis Agreement to be performed by such othetyghall be deemed a waiver of a similar
or dissimilar condition or provision at the sameany prior or subsequent time. Any waiver mustrbeiiting and signed by Executive and the
Chief Executive Officer or other duly authorizedicdr of the Company.

17. Section 409A

It is intended that this Agreement be drafted ashdiaistered in compliance with section 409A of @ede, including, but not limited to,
any future amendments to Code section 409A, ancbtrer Internal Revenue Service or other governalealings or interpretations
(collectively, “ Section 409A) issued pursuant to Section 409A so as not to suBjexcutive to payment of interest or any additldaa unde!
Section 409A. The parties intend for any paymentieu this Agreement to either satisfy the requineimief Section 409A or to be exempt fr
the application of Section 409A, and this Agreensrall be construed and interpreted accordinglyuitherance thereof, if payment or
provision of any amount or benefit hereunder thatubject to Section 409A at the time specifie@imewould subject such amount or benef
any additional tax under Section 409A, the payneemrovision of such amount or benefit shall betposed to the earliest commencement
date on which the payment or provision of such amou benefit could be made without incurring saddlitional tax. In addition, to the extent
that any Internal Revenue Service guidance issnddnSection 409A would result in Executive beingjsct to the payment of interest or any
additional tax under Section 409A, the parties agie the extent reasonably possible, to amendiiiiieement in order to avoid the imposition
of any such interest or additional tax under Secie9A, which amendment shall have the minimum enta effect necessary to the Execu
and shall not result in any additional cost to@wmpany, unless it agrees otherwise to incur sosh and shall be reasonably determined in
good faith by the Company and Executive.



18. Invalidity of Any Provision

If any portion of this Agreement is held invalidiobperative, the other portions of this Agreenmsrll be deemed valid and operative
and, so far as is reasonable and permitted byathedffect shall be given to the intent manifedigdhe portion held invalid or inoperative.

19. Applicable Law

This Agreement shall be governed by and constmieddordance with the laws of the CommonwealthesfrBylvania, without regard to
the principles of conflict of laws thereof.

20. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed simultaneously yonamber of counterparts, each of which shall bentkrd an original but all of
which together shall constitute one and the sameeagent.

21. Headings

The Section headings contained in this Agreemenfarreference purposes only and will not affecamy way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.

22. Binding Effect

The provisions of this Agreement will be bindingomp and will inure to the benefit of, the respeetheirs, legal representatives and
successors of the parties thereto.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Employment Agreement as of the date firstterr above.
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INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ J. Joseph Kir

Name: J. Joseph Kim, Ph.
Title: President and CE

Date: 12/16/1(
EXECUTIVE

/s/ Niranjan Sardes

Name: Niranjan Sardesai, Ph.

Date: 12/16/1(



Exhibit 10.39
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the “ Agreemé&ntdated as of December 10, 2009, is made by ahdden Inovio Biomedical
Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the * Compgngnd Dr. Mark Bagarazzi (“* Executivg.

RECITALS

WHEREAS , the Company desires to employ Executive and te lttze benefit of his skills and services, and Exge desires to accept
employment with the Company, on the terms and ¢mmdi set forth herein; and

WHEREAS , as a condition to his employment by the Comp&xgcutive agrees to execute and shall be bountebtetms and
conditions of the Non-Disclosure, Assignment ofdntions, Non-Solicitation and Non-Compete Agreentthe “ NonCompete Agreemeri}
attached hereto as Exhibit.A

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual promises, ternagenants and conditions set forth herein and if\ible-Compete
Agreement, and the performance of each, the pdréie=to, intending legally to be bound, hereby agiefollows:

1. Employment; Tern.

a. The Company hereby agrees to employ Executighasf Medical Officer and Senior Vice Presidemig&xecutive hereby agrees to
accept such employment with the Company in accaelarith the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

b. The “ Term’ of this Agreement shall commence on the datedfethe “ Commencement Datgand shall continue in effect until
terminated as provided in Section 7 below.

2. Position and Dutie.

a. The Company agrees to employ Executive througheuTerm as Chief Medical Officer and Senior VRresident of the Company
with such responsibilities, duties and authorityaes assigned to him by the Chief Executive Offigiethe Company or his designee.

b. Executive shall faithfully devote his full bus#s/working time, attention and energy to the lessrand affairs of the Company and the
performance of his duties hereunder and to useneade efforts to perform such responsibilitieshfiailly and efficiently.

c. Without limiting the generality of the foregoipgragraph, during the Term, upon prior writtensznt of the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, Executive shall be permitted teesen other Boards of Directors, professional assionis and otherwise be involved with
any family business or trust to the extent thathareasonable judgment of the Chief Executivec®ff such other business pursuits and
activity do not materially (i) interfere with Exetive’s ability to discharge Executive’s duties ardponsibilities to the Company, whether or
not such activity is pursued for gain, profit ohet pecuniary advantage, or (ii) violate the Catdliprovision of the Nc-Compete Agreemen



3. Compensatiol.

a. Executive shall be entitled to receive as corsgion for his employment a base annual salaryrateaof $235,000 per annum (the “
Base Salary), which shall be paid to Executive by the Companyany of its affiliates in accordance with thenmany’s standard payroll
practices, as in effect from time to time.

b. Increases in the Base Salary shall be reviewmadadly by the Company’s Board of Directors (thBdard”) or its Compensation
Committee during the Term, and any such increagébeavat the Board’s or Compensation Committe@le sliscretion and will otherwise be
consistent with the Company’s annual policies amdget for payroll increases.

4, Bonus.

During the Term, Executive shall be eligible toawe an incentive cash bonus up to the amountdo#sen the criteria, and payable at
such times, as may be determined by the Board @dtnpensation Committee and targeted at 20% oe nfdhe Base Salary. The amount
shall be determined by the Board or Compensatianr@ittee, in its sole and absolute discretion, wihsishll be binding and final, and shall be
paid in a one-time lump sum payment (less payaoks). To the extent that such cash bonus is tetegmined in light of financial
performance during a specified fiscal period arelAlgreement commences on a date after the stauobffiscal period, any cash bonus
payable in respect of such fiscal period’s resuléy be prorated. In addition, if the period of BExtdee’s employment hereunder expires before
the end of a fiscal period, and if Executive igjiélie to receive a cash bonus at such time (sugtbitity being subject to the restrictions set
forth in Section 7 below), any cash bonus payablespect of such fiscal period’s results may lmegied. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all
annual bonuses shall be paid within two and onérhahths after the close of each year.

5. Benefits; Stock Option.

In addition to the salary and cash bonus refewaabbve, Executive shall be entitled during thenTay participate in such employee
benefits plans or programs of the Company, and beaintitled to such other fringe benefits, asfem time to time adopted by the Board and
made available by the Company generally to emplopé&xecutive’s position, tenure, salary, agejtheand other qualifications. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Executisiall be eligible for such awards, if any, under Company’s employee benefits plans or
programs as shall be granted to Executive in thediecretion of the Board or its Compensation Catte®. Executive acknowledges and
agrees that the Company does not guarantee thé@uop continuance of any particular employee ffiesmplan or program or other fringe
benefits during the Term, and participation by Exee in any such plan or program shall be sulfigthe rules and regulations applicable
thereto.




6. Expense:.

The Company will reimburse Executive, in accordanith the practices in effect from time to time father officers or staff personnel of
the Company, for all reasonable and necessary éasend traveling expenses and other disbursementsed by Executive for or on behalf
of the Company in the performance of Executive'Setuhereunder, upon presentation by Executiveedompany of appropriate vouchers
and supporting documentation.

7. Termination.
Executive’s employment by the Company pursuantthésesubject to termination as follows:

a. Death or Disability Executive’s employment shall be deemed to tertaiaatomatically on the date of Executive’s deatid the
Company may by written notice to Executive terménBkecutive’s employment on account of his TotaldDbility effective as of the date of
such notice. For purposes hereof, Executive skeatldemed to experience a “ Total Disablilitff Executive is considered totally disabled un
any group disability plan maintained by the Compang in effect at that time, or in the absencengfsuch plan, Executive shall be deemed to
experience a Total Disability if he shall have beeable to perform his duties hereunder on a fmlktbasis for 90 consecutive days or longer,
or for shorter periods aggregating 120 days in2608day period. In the event of any dispute under 8dstion 7(a), Executive shall submit 1
physical examination by a licensed physician miyusdtisfactory to the Company and Executive, thet of such examination to be paid by
Company, and the determination of such physiciatl fle determinative. In the case of a Total Dighiuntil the Company shall have
terminated Executive’s employment hereunder in atanace with the foregoing, Executive shall be &dito receive compensation provided
for herein notwithstanding any such Total Disapilin the event of the termination of Executivefsm@oyment on account of his death or Total
Disability, neither Executive nor his personal esgentative will have any rights or claims agaihst€ompany under this Agreement except as
follows:

(i) Executive (or his estate or representativeg@dicable) shall be paid (A) any unpaid portiorhsf Base Salary computed on a
rata basis through the date of his termination(@)dny unreimbursed expenses;

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaidhts shall be as determined under any incentivepeaisation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsrn@an or program of the Company in which Exé@ceiis then participating at the time of
his termination; and

(iii) in the case of Executive’s Total Disabilitnly, (A) the Company shall continue Executive’s meatibenefits coverage existing
at the time of his termination for as long as psagitile under the Company’s health benefits poli@es to exceed 60 days) and the Company
further agrees to pay ExecutiggCOBRA premiums for six months thereafter, witbrspremiums to provide for coverage at the samel lenrc
subject to the same terms and conditions (includiitnout limitation, any applicable co-pay obligats of Executive, but excluding any
applicable tax consequences for Executive) asfatefor Executive at the time of termination, dBJ Executive shall further receive a lump-
sum payment, within 30 days after the effectiveeddttermination, equal to the aggregate amoulixetcutive’s Base Salary as in effect
immediately prior to such termination that wouldgsg/able over a period of six months following #ifective date of such termination.
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b. Involuntary Termination for Causén the event the Company terminates Executiveipleyment for Cause (as such term is defined
below), such termination shall be effective immésliaupon notice thereof, in which case Executivi vave no rights or claims against the
Company under this Agreement except as follows:

(i) Executive shall be paid (A) any unpaid portmfrhis Base Salary computed on a pro rata basisighr the date of his termination
and (B) any unreimbursed expenses; and

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaidhts shall be as determined under any incentivepeaisation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsrglan and program of the Company in which Exteeuis then participating at the time
of his termination.

“ Cause” shall mean: (1) conviction of Executive of any felo(2) participation by Executive in any fraudamt of dishonesty against t
Company; (3) material violation by Executive ofgiy contract between the Company and Executivéi) @ny statutory duty of Executive to
the Company; (4) conduct of Executive that, bagezhia good faith and reasonable factual investigaind determination by the Board,
demonstrates Executive’s gross unfitness to sens) the continued, willful refusal or failure fxecutive to perform any material duties
reasonably requested by the Board or the Chief lkexOfficer.

c. Involuntary Termination Without Caus@he Company may terminate Executive’s employmahier than on account of death, Total
Disability or for Cause, on 30 days’ prior writtentice, in which case Executive will have no rigbitslaims against the Company under this
Agreement except as follows:

(i) Executive (or his estate or representativeggsicable) shall be paid (A) any unpaid portiorhisf Base Salary computed on a
rata basis through the date of his termination,(@)dny unreimbursed expenses;

(i) All other of Executive’s accrued but unpaiglis shall be as determined under any incentivepeasation, stock option,
retirement, employee welfare or other employee fitsran and program of the Company in which Exieeuis then participating at the time
of his termination;

(i) Executive shall receive severance paymenthéform of monthly payments of Executive’s Bas¢a8y (as in effect
immediately prior to such termination) for a perimfdwelve months following the effective date otk termination; and
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(iv) The Company shall pay Executive’s COBRA premgufor twelve months thereafter, with such premitongrovide for
coverage at substantially the same level and sutgjghe same terms and conditions (including, authimitation, any applicable co-pay
obligations of Executive, but excluding any apphieatax consequences for Executive) as in effacEf@cutive at the time of termination.

d. Voluntary Termination For Good ReasdBxecutive may terminate his employment for gasason (* Termination For Good Reason
") by providing 30 days’ prior written notice todfCompany of a breach constituting Good Reasorchwimtice shall be provided within 45
days after the initial existence of the breach, famther provided that such breach is not cureallimaterial respects to the reasonable
satisfaction of Executive within 30 days after sactice. In the event of Termination for Good Regdtxecutive shall be entitled to receive
payments and other rights provided in Section écgof. For purposes of this Agreement, terminafiborf Good Reasoi shall mean
voluntary termination by Executive of his employresith the Company based on one of the followingres:

(i) the material diminution in Executiveposition, title, responsibilities or authorityffin those in effect at the Commencement C
provided, however, that a material diminution sinall be deemed to have occurred upon a changentrbtof the Company solely by virtue of
the Company’s having been acquired and made partafjer organization;

(i) a relocation of Executive’s principal execudivffices more than fifty miles from its locationthe Commencement Date; or

(iii) the breach by the Company of any of its mileobligations under this Agreement.

e. Other Voluntary TerminationExecutive may otherwise terminate his employmmgtitout Good Reason upon 30 days’ prior written
notice to the Company, in which case Executiveh{srestate or representative, as applicable) begbaid (A) any unpaid portion of his Base
Salary on a pro rata basis through the date dfettmeination, and (B) any unreimbursed expenses.

f. Section 409A The Base Salary continuation set forth in Sestioifa), (c) and (d) hereof shall be intended tsfyeeither (i) the safe
harbor set forth in the regulations issued undeti@® 409A (as defined below) of the Internal ReveCode of 1986, as amended (the “Cdde”
(Treas. Regs. 1.409A-1(n)(2)(ii)), or (ii) be tredtas a Short-term Deferral as that term is defimeter Section 409A (Treas. Regs. 1.409A-1
(b)(4)). To the extent that such continuation pagte@xceed the applicable safe harbor amount aotioonstitute a Short-term Deferral, the
excess amount shall be treated as deferred contmenesader Section 409A and as such shall be payalnsuant to the following schedule:
such excess amount shall be paid via standard lpayperiodic installments in accordance with thempany’s usual practice for its senior
executives.

Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreementhie contrary, in the event that Executive is a tjed employee” as defined in
Section 409A, any continuation payment, continuabienefits or other amounts payable under this égent that would be subject to the
special rule regarding payments to “specified elyg#s” under Section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code shallbe paid before the expiration of a
period of six months following the date of Execeta/termination of employment or before the dat&xécutive’s death, if earlier.
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g. Forfeiture of Rights In the event that, subsequent to the terminaifdixecutive’s employment hereunder, Executive tinea any of
the provisions of the Non-Compete Agreement in miayerial respect, all payments and benefits to wkicecutive may otherwise have been
entitled to pursuant to this Section 7 hereof sihathediately terminate and be forfeited.

h. Release Executive shall not be entitled to any compesatinder this Section 7 unless Executive executdglalivers to the
Company a Separation of Employment Agreement am@éRelease (the “ Reledden form and substance satisfactory to the Comypag
which Executive releases the Company from any abibigs and liabilities of any type whatsoever, @tder the Company’s obligation to
provide the compensation and benefits specifigti;iSection 7. The parties hereto acknowledgettigapayments to be provided under this
Section 7 are to be provided in consideration lierRelease.

8. Remedie.

In addition to other remedies provided by law onigg upon a breach by Executive of any of the c@res contained herein or in the
Non-Compete Agreement, the Company shall be entidduhtve a court of competent jurisdiction enterrgariction against Executive
enjoining Executive and prohibiting any further&ch of the covenants contained herein. Executike@eledges that a breach or threatened
breach by Executive of the provisions of this Agneat will cause irreparable damage to the Compaegiise Executive’s services to be
performed hereunder are of a unique, special atrdaxlinary character. Thus, the Company shallib#led to injunctive relief without the
necessity of proving actual damages and the Comslaaily not be required to post a bond or otherréigdn support of such injunctive relief.

9. Arbitration.

Any claim, dispute or controversy arising out ofioconnection with this Agreement, or any bredaréof, shall be arbitrated by the
parties before a sole arbitrator (who shall hayestantial experience in the pharmaceutical andstifences industry) conducted in accordance
with the National Rules for the Resolution of Emypteent Disputes of the American Arbitration Assoidatthen in effect. The arbitrator shall
have the authority to order discovery but shalllmte the authority to add to, detract from or fyodny provision hereof nor to award punit
damages to any injured party. A decision by the sobitrator shall be final and binding. Judgmeayrhe entered on the arbitrator’s award in
any court having jurisdiction. The direct expengary arbitration proceeding shall be borne byGloenpany. Each party shall bear its own
counsel fees. Such arbitration shall take pladdantgomery County, Pennsylvania. The parties heretmsent to the jurisdiction of the state
and federal courts located in the CommonwealthesfiBylvania with respect to any action arising unkis Agreement. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Company shall be entitled to se@knictive or other equitable relief, as contemplaigdection 8 hereof, from any court of
competent jurisdiction, without the need to resorrbitration.



10. Assignment; Binding Natur.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inuréneotienefit of the parties and their respective ssgars, heirs (in the case of Execut
and permitted assigns. No rights or obligationthefCompany under this Agreement may be assignedmsferred by the Company except
that such rights or obligations may be assignedamsferred to the successor of the Company dugiess if the assignee or transferee
assumes all of the liabilities, obligations andiekibf the Company, as contained in this Agreentiter contractually or as a matter of law. If
any such successor of the Company or its busiress ribt agree to so assume such liabilities, diiggand duties, Executive may
immediately resign, which shall be deemed a Tertiuindor Good Reason under the provisions of tigse&ment. No rights or obligations of
Executive under this Agreement may be assignedhosferred by Executive other than Executive’stigh compensation and benefits, which
may be transferred only by will or operation of |axcept as otherwise specifically provided or géed hereunder.

11. Notice.

Any notice which a party is required or may desirgive pursuant to this Agreement shall be givewiiting by personal delivery, by
facsimile transmission, by registered or certifiredil, return receipt requested, postage prepaiby @avernight courier, at the following
addresses:

If to the Company:

Inovio Biomedical Corporation
450 Sentry Parkway

Blue Bell, PA 19422

Attention: Chief Executive Officer

If to Executive:

Dr. Mark Bagarazzi
280 Garrison Way
Conshohocken, PA 19428

Any notice personally delivered shall be deemeeéiresd when given, or if given by facsimile or ovigiit courier shall be deemed
received on the next business day and any notidedrghall be deemed received on the third busidagshereafter.

12. Entire Agreemen.

This Agreement and the Non-Compete Agreement datestihe complete agreements and understandingeéethe Company and
Executive concerning Executive’s employment by@wenpany, and supersede any and all previous agresmeunderstandings concerning
such employment, whether written or oral, betweracdttive and the Company.
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13. Maodification.

This Agreement may not be waived, amended or nestliffithout the express written consent of the pagginst whom enforcement of
such Agreement is sought.

14. Waiver.

Except as set forth herein, no delay or omissioexercise any right, power or remedy accruing tp@arty shall impair any such right,
power or remedy or shall be construed to be a waif/er an acquiescence to any breach hereof. Neawhy either party of any breach by the
other party of any condition or provision contairiedhis Agreement to be performed by such othetypshall be deemed a waiver of a similar
or dissimilar condition or provision at the sameany prior or subsequent time. Any waiver mustrbeiiting and signed by Executive and the
Chief Executive Officer or other duly authorizedicdr of the Company.

17. Section 409A.

It is intended that this Agreement be drafted ashdiaistered in compliance with section 409A of @ede, including, but not limited to,
any future amendments to Code section 409A, ancdrer Internal Revenue Service or other governaleualings or interpretations
(collectively, “ Section 409A) issued pursuant to Section 409A so as not to suBjexcutive to payment of interest or any additldaa unde!
Section 409A. The parties intend for any paymentieu this Agreement to either satisfy the requineimief Section 409A or to be exempt fr
the application of Section 409A, and this Agreensvall be construed and interpreted accordinglyuitherance thereof, if payment or
provision of any amount or benefit hereunder thatubject to Section 409A at the time specifie@imewould subject such amount or benef
any additional tax under Section 409A, the payneemrovision of such amount or benefit shall betposed to the earliest commencement
date on which the payment or provision of such amou benefit could be made without incurring saddlitional tax. In addition, to the extent
that any Internal Revenue Service guidance issnddnSection 409A would result in Executive beinbjsct to the payment of interest or any
additional tax under Section 409A, the parties agie the extent reasonably possible, to amendiiiiieement in order to avoid the imposition
of any such interest or additional tax under Secie9A, which amendment shall have the minimum enta effect necessary to the Comp.
and Executive and be reasonably determined in ggtdby the Company and Executive.

18. Invalidity of Any Provision.

If any portion of this Agreement is held invalidiobperative, the other portions of this Agreenmsrll be deemed valid and operative
and, so far as is reasonable and permitted byathedffect shall be given to the intent manifedigdhe portion held invalid or inoperative.

19. Applicable Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and constmieddordance with the laws of the CommonwealtherfrBylvania, without regard to
the principles of conflict of laws thereof.



20. Counterpart:

This Agreement may be executed simultaneously ynnaimber of counterparts, each of which shall ented an original but all of
which together shall constitute one and the sameeagent.

21. Headings.

The Section headings contained in this Agreemenfarreference purposes only and will not affacaimy way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement.

22. Binding Effect.

The provisions of this Agreement will be bindingomp and will inure to the benefit of, the respeetheirs, legal representatives and
successors of the parties thereto.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Employment Agreement as of the date firstterr above.
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INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION

By: /s/J. Joseph Kim

Name: J. Joseph Kim, Ph.
Title: President and CE

Date: 12/10/09

EXECUTIVE

/sl Mark Bagarazzi

Mark Bagarazzi, M.D

Date: 12/10/09



Exhibit 21.1

INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiary Name(1) Jurisdiction of Organization
Genetronics, Inc Californie
VGX Pharmaceuticals, LL! Delawart
Delawart

VGX Animal Health, Inc

(1) In accordance with Instructions (ii) to Exhibit §2b the Exhibit Table in Item 601 of Regulatio-K, Registrant has omitted from t
above table one of its subsidiaries because suditednsubsidiary does not constitute a significgauitsidiary of registrant as of the end of

the year covered by this repc



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-884833-140119, 333-160123, 333-
160126 and 333-176670) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-5&8%&8100077, 333-120061, 333-136126, 333-142938,1%0769, 333-156035, 333-
161559, 333-166906 and 333-174353) of Inovio Phaeuticals, Inc. and in the related Prospectusesiofeports dated March 15, 2012, with
respect to the consolidated financial statementsafio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and the effectiveradnternal control over financial reporting
of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., included in thisndial Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decar8ie2011.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 15, 2012



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-&p(
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, J. Joseph Kim, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, In
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or amgttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtaisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf@ periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))3(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financearting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantbd report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre’'s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlgave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofmancial reporting which ai
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimahcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 15, 2012 /s/ J. DSEPHK IM

J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-&(
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Peter Kies, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or amgttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtaisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf@ periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))3(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financearting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantbd report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre’'s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlgave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofmancial reporting which ai
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimahcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal contro

Date: March 15, 2012 /s/ PeTERK IES

Peter Kies
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Inovio Pimaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K fioe year ending December 31,
2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cmsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), eachhefundersigned, in the capacities and on
the date indicated below, hereby certifies, purst@i8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuadéstion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

Date: March 15, 2012 /sl J. .OSEPHK IM
J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 15, 201 /s| PeTERK IES
Peter Kies
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




